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1.1. GROUP FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The Group’s financial performance in 2019

2019/2018 2019/2018
Continuing operations 2018 reported CER
(€ millions, post-IFRS 16) (restated) change change®
Net sales 34,645 34,329 +0.9% +4.2%
EBITDA® 2,640 2,669 -1.1% +0.6%
Trading profit 1,292 1,364 -5.3% -3.1%
Net profit (loss) from continuing operations (Group share) (384) (60) n.m. nm.
Net profit (loss) from discontinued operations (Group share) (1,048) (57) n.am. nm.
Consolidated net profit (loss) (Group share) (1,432) (117) n.am. nm.
Underlying net profit® (Group share) 212 327 -35.4% -34.9%

(1) CER: At constant exchange rates. Change in net sales is presented on an organic basis, excluding fuel and calendar effects.
(2) EBITDA = Trading profit + amortisation and depreciation expense. See Note 5 Segment information, page 81.

(3) Underlying net profit corresponds to net profit from continuing operations adjusted for the impact of other operating income and expenses and the impact
of non-recurring financial items as well as tax expense/benefits related to these adjustments and the application of IFRIC 23 rules. See section on alternative
performance indicators on page 28.

Debt and equify

(€ millions, post-IFRS 16) M
Equity (before appropriation) 8,291 11,709
Net debt™ 4,053 3,378
Net debt to EBITDA ratio 1.5x 1.3x

(1) See Note 11 Financial structure and finance costs, page 114.

Gross capital expenditure

(€ millions, continuing operations, excl. disposal plan, post-IFRS 16) M
Capital expenditure

= of which France (354) (559)
= of which Latam Retail (671) (549)
= of which E-commerce (Cdiscount) (83) (80)
TOTAL (1,107) (1,188)

Note: Figures are presented post-IFRS 16. Via Varejo, which was sold on 14 June 2019, is presented as a discontinued operation in 2018 and from 1 January to 30 June 2019,
in accordance with IFRS 5. Leader Price is presented as a discontinued operation in 2019, in accordance with IFRS 5. The 2018 financial statements have been
restated to permit meaningful comparisons with 2019.

02 CASINO GROUP



2019 UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT
Presentation of Casino Group

1.2. MILESTONES IN THE GROUP"S RISTORY

1898-1398
The foundations of Casino Group

The Group’s origins date back to 1898, when Geoffroy Guichard
created Société des Magasins du Casino and opened the first store
in Veauche, in central France. In 1901, Casino created France’s first
private label. The network quickly expanded in the Saint-Etienne
region, around Clermont-Ferrand and on the Cote dAzur. In 1939, the
Group managed 9 warehouses, 20 plants and 2,500 outlets.

From the 1950s onwards, the Group began to diversify its formats
and activities. It successively opened its first self-service store, its first
Casino supermarket and its first Géant hypermarket before creating
the Casino cafeterias.

1938-2015

Starting in the 1980s, Casino Group began strengthening its operations
in France and refocusing on its core business as a retailer in response
to an increasingly competitive environment in retailing. In 1992, it
acquired the Rallye “hypermarkets, supermarkets and cafeterias’ retail
activities. In 1997, the Group acquired a stake in Monoprix-Prisunic
and took control of the Franprix-Leader Price banners.

International expansion and deployment in E-commerce

As the year 2000 approached, Casino Group was one of France’s
leading retailers and was poised to expand its international operations.
Between 1998 and 2002, the Group acquired a number of retailers
based in Latin America, South East Asia and the Indian Ocean
region. In France, it consolidated its positioning in convenience and
discount formats.

2013-2019

In 2000, the Group acquired a stake in Cdiscount, an online retailer.

At the same time, it developed complementary businesses with the
creation of Banque Casino in 2001. In 2005, the Group’s shopping
centre properties in France were spun off through the creation and
initial public offering of the Mercialys property company.

Structuring. simplification and consolidation of Casino Group

In 2015, Casino Group changed its organisation by merging all its
businesses in Latin America and announced a plan to reduce its debt by
€4 billion. In 2016, it sold its activities in Asia (Thailand and Vietnam).

As it reorganised, Casino Group entered into a set of purchasing
alliances with Intermarché, followed by Conforama and Dia.
Subsequently, in 2018, the Group joined forces with Auchan, Metro,
the Schiever group and Dia to create a “new generation” central
purchasing agency, Horizon.

In France, the Group strengthened its positioning in buoyant formats,
categories and geographies. It concentrated particularly on premium
and convenience banners, as well as E-commerce and the development
of new value-creating businesses.

Focusing on these strategic priorities, the Group launched a vast plan
in 2018 to dispose of non-strategic assets. The objective under this
plan was increased in 2019. Concurrently, the Group implemented
aplan at the end of 2018 to close or dispose of loss-making stores.

In 2019, the Group finalised a refinancing plan for France and
completed its project to simplify the Group's structure in Latin America.
It also announced the completion of the sale of Via Varejo in Brazil.

CASINO GROUP 03
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1.3. BUSINESS AND STRATEGY

Casino Group ranks as a major food retailer in France and Latin
America. Multi-format, multi-brand and multi-channel, it had a total
of 11,172 stores at 31 December 2019. Its model is built on five pillars:
(i) a portfolio of buoyant formats in France; (ii) a leading food and
non-food E-commerce offering; (iii) the development of new growth
drivers; (iv) significant shareholding in major retailers in Latin America;
and (v) strengthening of the Group’s structure through major financial
and strategic plans.

The Group reports its results in three segments: France Retail
(Monoprix, Franprix, Casino Supermarkets and Géant Casino,
Convenience and Other), E-commerce (Cdiscount) and Latam
Retail (GPA, Exito, Disco Uruguay and Libertad food banners).

In 2019, the Group recorded consolidated net sales of €34.6 billion, up
0.9% as reported, 4.2% on an organic basis™ and 2.2% on a same-store
basis®. Underlying profit attributable to equity holders of the parent
came to €212 million for the year.

In 2019, the key macro indicators in the Group’s main markets changed as follows:

Change in household Change in the consumer

consumption price index

France +1.3% +1.3%
Brazil +1.9% +3.7%

Source: Bloomberg.

1.3.1. A portfolio of buoyant formats in France

In France, Casino Group stands out for its portfolio of buoyant
formats encompassing a mix of premium, convenience, supermarket
and hypermarket banners. At 31 December 2019, Casino Group
comprised 7,946 stores.

The food retail sector in France has for several years been undergoing
profound changes due to a shift in consumer habits and regional
trends. Consumers nowadays have new expectations with regard to the
environment, such as product traceability and animal welfare, but also
to practicality, leading to major changes in their consumption habits.
They tend now to prefer urban convenience formats. Economic and
demographic territorial trends are highly uneven from one region to
another, with major urban hubs mainly situated in the Tle-de-France,
Rhone-Alpes and Cote dAzur areas of France, where the Group has
a particularly strong presence.

(1) Excluding fuel and calendar effects.
(2) Value of Kantar P13 2019 market share, cumulative annual average.
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In this context, Casino Group is concentrating on the buoyant
premium and convenience formats while reducing its exposure to
hypermarkets and discount stores. As part of its plan initiated in late
2018 for the disposal and closure of loss-making stores (Rocade plan),
among its integrated stores the Group has sold 17 hypermarkets and
14 loss-making supermarkets, and closed 4 loss-making supermarkets.
The Group also signed an agreement in March 2020 to sell 567 Leader
Price stores and three Leader Price warehouses.

Casino Group is now the leader in urban convenience and premium
formats through its banners Monoprix, Naturalia and Franprix. It is
also a leading player in Paris, the Greater Paris region and in other
major French cities.

France Retail recorded net sales of €16,322 million in 2019 and trading
profit of €676 million, of which €622 million derived from food retailing.

The France Retail segment accounts for 47% of the Group's net sales
and 52% of its trading profit.

Casino Group has a market share of 10.8%" in its domestic market.



Breakdown of France Retail net sales (¥ by format
(at 31 December 2019)

® 28%
Hypermarkets (o/w Géant)
0 147%
2019 Urban and services
net sales: banners (Monoprix

and Supermarkets
o/w Casino Supermarkets)

25%

Convenience banners
(Franprix and Casino Proximités)

€16.32 billion

PREMIUM AND CONVENIENCE
FORMATS

= Monoprix

Monoprix is the leading omni-channel city-centre retailer. Its aim is
to increase everyone's accessibility to finer products by providing
its customers with a differentiated offering and innovative services.
It had 784 stores in France and abroad at end-2019.

The banner’s expertise in city-centre retailing is reflected in the prime
positioning of its stores in all French towns and cities. Monoprix
stores are designed to cater to an active urban clientele. They stand
out for their range of private-label products with a strong identity and
a highly on-trend, quality non-food offering.

Monoprix has developed other store formats:

e Naturalia is the leading retailer specialising in natural and
organic products in the Paris region, with 205 stores offering up to
10,000 organic items;

e Monop' is an ultra-convenience concept. Its highly practical stores
provide a varied offering that meets basic daily needs while also
providing for pleasure purchases. Monop’ operates in busy urban
areas and on motorways. Its 128 stores cater to an active and urban
clientele;

e Monop'Daily combines fast food with ultra-fresh products. With
an average selling area of 50 to 100 square metres, it offers a broad
range of snacks, ready meals, dairy products, beverages, fruit and
desserts, enabling customers to choose a different menu every day.

Monoprix has gained leading expertise in food E-commerce by
forging partnerships with key players (see section 1.3.2). Through
its partnership with Ocado, Monoprix is able to leverage disruptive
technology for next-day delivery. In addition, Monoprix is positioning
itself in express delivery of under two hours with Amazon in Paris,
the Greater Paris region and the Cote dAzur. The Monoprix store on
Amazon Prime Now comprises more than 6,000 items, including
1,500 private-label products. The initial offering has been expanded
with 2,000 new Naturalia items.

In 2019, Monoprix’s net sales reached €4,548 million, driven by growth
in organic products and double-digit growth in E-commerce.
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m Franprix

Mainly established in Paris and Ile-de-France since 1958 and
then in the heart of large French cities of the Rhone Valley and
the Mediterranean basin, Franprix is a hyper-convenience
urban banner featuring a strong culture of innovation.
At end-2019, Franprix operated a total of 877 stores, including
459 franchises, with an average retail space of 400 square metres.

In 2015, the banner was restructured in line with the “Mandarine”
concept, making the stores more friendly and practical with a wide
range of organic and fresh products. Since then, the concept has
evolved in step with the innovations tested by the banner to develop
solutions that are increasingly tailored to new consumer trends, such
as catering, healthy and responsible products (e.g, scoop-and-weigh)
and a non-food offering supported by partnerships with Hema and
Cdiscount.

In keeping with its culture of innovation, Franprix rolled out a store
concept in 2018 focused on beauty and accessories, .. le drugstore
parisien”

In 2019, Franprix’s net sales totalled €1,526 million, led by growth in
organic products and double-digit growth in E-commerce.

m Casino Supermarkets

Casino Supermarkets operate in city centres and rural areas, with a
network of 411 stores. They are concentrated in three main regions:
south eastern France, the Rhone Valley and Greater Paris.

The banner’s positioning is based on a strong commitment to
fresh produce, food professionals and a wide range of products. It
concentrates on a high level of customer service. Casino Supermarkets
have an average selling area of around 1,500 square metres and offer
mainly food products.

Innovation is also central to Casino Supermarkets’ development.
In 2018, the banner opened a unique store concept in Paris,
“Le 4 Casino’, combining physical and digital retail and a place to
relax and socialise. Casino Supermarkets are rapidly developing
omni-channel and E-commerce initiatives (Drive and click & collect,
etc.). Furthermore, the customer experience is constantly enhanced
with the roll-out of new digital solutions, particularly through the
Casino Max app, which covers the Supermarkets, Hypermarkets and
Convenience networks.

In 2019, Casino Supermarkets' net sales amounted to €3,142 million,
driven by double-digit growth in organic products.

= Convenience

The main Casino convenience store banners are Le Petit Casino, Casino
Shop, Vival and Spar. In the heart of towns and villages, these stores
take a human approach to retail. Made affordable through numerous
promotional campaigns, their selection emphasises local producers,
scoop-and-weigh services, organic produce and private-label products.
The network comprises 5,139 convenience outlets.

(1) Leader Price is no longer included in the net sales breakdown following its reclassification as a discontinued operation, in accordance with IFRS 5.
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Each banner offers a response tailored to its customers’ needs:

e Le Petit Casino is the Group’s historical convenience format. It
projects a friendly, welcoming image and offers an extensive range
offood products including high-quality fresh produce. The banner
is an integral part of local life in urban and suburban areas.

e Vival operates mainly in villages and also projects a friendly,
welcoming image. Alongside a food offering comprising mainly
Casino-brand goods, it also offers many other useful day-to-day
services (a loyalty programme, debit card payments from €1,
payments by meal voucher, home delivery, parcel collection, gas
canister collection, in-store postal service and fresh bread).

e Spar operates in seasonal, urban and suburban areas, offering a
range of convenience food products and related services for local,
tourist and international customers.

Recognised expertise in franchising is one of the key strengths of the
convenience store business model. The number of franchised stores
has now reached 4,321, mainly under the Spar and Vival banners, but
also Casino and various service station banners. The Group has also
confirmed its leadership in supplying food items to service stations.

The Convenience & Other segment™ reported net sales of
€2,547 million in 2019, while convenience retailers alone recorded
€1,317 million, led by double-digit growth in organic products.

HYPERMARKETS

m Géant hypermarkets

Géant Casino is a hypermarket banner on a human scale (average
retail space of around 6,400 square metres), known for its traditional
food sections, local fresh produce and vast organic produce range.
Having reduced its retail space, particularly for non-food items, the
banner has now set up shop-in-shops for specialised brands, thereby
providing consumers with a new service and boosting customer
traffic. The Group also disposed of 17 loss-making stores as part of
its plan for the disposal and closure of loss-making stores initiated
in late 2018 (Rocade plan).

Digital solutions continue to enhance consumers’ purchasing
experience, particularly through the Casino Max mobile app.

Géant had 109 stores at end-2019, including four affiliates in France
and six affiliates abroad.

Hypermarkets® generated net sales of €4,560 million in 2019, of which
€4,345 million from Géant.

(1) Includes cafeterias and the Indian Ocean region.
(2) Including Géant Casino and the business of the four Codim stores in Corsica.

OTHER BUSINESSES

m Real estate assets

Casino Group actively manages its property assets in France and
monetises some assets whose potential for future value creation is
considered limited. More generally, the Group is developing a less
capital-intensive, more asset-light model to give it more operational
flexibility when it tests new concepts and rolls out stores. The model
is based on holding less property and developing more franchises,
led by the appeal of its dynamic, innovative banners.

The value of its assets in France excluding Mercialys® was €1.4 billion
atthe end of 2019, including transfer duties, compared with €2.6 billion
at the end of 2018 (€1.3 billion and €2.4 billion respectively excluding
transfer duties), mainly due to disposals of real estate assets by the
Group (Monoprix store properties and hypermarkets sold to Apollo
and Fortress, Rocade plan for the disposal and closure of loss-making
stores; see section 1.3.5, Shopping centres).

In France, the vast majority of the real estate assets are held by
Immobiliere Groupe Casino, a wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of
Casino, Guichard-Perrachon.

These assets comprise:

e store properties, including hypermarkets, supermarkets, convenience
stores and restaurants, including car parks, service stations and the
adjacent buildings. These assets are held directly, or through joint
ventures or units of real estate investment vehicles (OPCI).

e other assets, including shopping centres adjacent to stores,
headquarters, warehouses, non-operating assets.

Outside France, the Group continues to develop commercial real
estate, and holds strong positions in commercial properties with more
than 981,000 square metres of gross leasing area (GLA) in shopping
centres and store property.

In Colombia, Viva Malls, a real estate fund created in partnership with
Fondo Inmobiliario Colombia (FIC), opened two major shopping
centres in 2018, Viva Envigado and Viva Tunja. Colombia has
34 shopping centres, with nearly 512,000 square metres of GLA.

(3) The valuation of the Group’s assets is based on external appraisals or updated appraisals using the customary methods (discounted cash flow, yields, etc.), with

specific assumptions for each country and each asset type.
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France 2.3 3.5
= of which store properties 13 23
= of which Mercialys® 0.9 1.0
= of which other®” 0.2 0.2
International® 0.9 L1
Total Group assets 3.2 4.6
= of which store properties 1.8 3.0
= of which Mercialys® 0.9 1.0
= of which other® 0.6 0.6

(1) The valuation of the Group’s assets is based on external appraisals or updated appraisals using the customary methods (discounted cash flow, yields, etc.),

with specific assumptions for each country and each asset type.

(2) Mercialys’ property portfolio in economic interests, including a 25.2% stake in the value of Mercialys’ property assets.
(3) For international properties, valuation is calculated as a percentage interest, and therefore on a pro rata basis in controlled joint ventures.

(4) Shopping malls, warehouses and headquarters.

= Banque Casino

Created in 2001, Banque Casino has positioned itself as a provider of
consumer finance programmes and insurance products to Cdiscount
and Géant hypermarket customers. Having developed extensive
expertise in the Group, Banque Casino is now the leader of the French
pay-later market with a 25% share and more than 100 E-commerce
merchant partners.

Banque Casino also develops innovative payment and financing
solutions, such as the 100% online mini-loan service Coup de Pouce,
the instant mini-loan Lydia and a 10-instalment payment solution
guaranteeing a reply in less than two minutes.

In 2019, Banque Casino hit the 3 million customer mark.

m Casino Restauration

Casino Restauration was historically positioned in the fast-food
segment through its chain of cafeterias (Casino cafeterias).

The Company operates in various market segments, including themed
restaurants (Villa Plancha) and events catering (St Once).

As part of its strategic plan, in 2019 Casino Group sold its corporate
catering business R2C to Compass Group as well as several
A La Bonne Heure and Coeur de Blé restaurants to the Crescendo
Restauration group.

m Indian Ocean region

In July 2019, Casino Group announced that it had entered into an
agreement with the GBH family group with a view to selling Vindémia,
its subsidiary in the Indian Ocean region, for €219 million.

Vindémia holds a strong market position in Réunion and is also present
in Madagascar, Mayotte and Mauritius. Vindémia has a multi-format
positioning with hypermarkets (Jumbo), supermarkets (Score and
Spar), discount stores (Cash), convenience stores (Supermaki, Douka
Bé and SNIE), and franchised stores (Vival).

BUSINESS RECLASSIFIED
AS A DISCONTINUED OPERATION

m Leader Price

The Group announced in 2019 that it was in discussions with Aldi for
the disposal of its Leader Price business. In March 2020, the Group
announced that it had entered into an agreement with Aldi to sell
567 stores and three warehouses.

In light of the decision made in 2019, this business is presented as
a discontinued operation in 2019, in accordance with IFRS 5. The
2018 financial statements have been restated to permit meaningful
comparisons with 2019.
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1.3.2. A'leading food and non-food E-commerce offering

Casino Group has one of the most comprehensive E-commerce
offerings among retailers in France. A pioneer in food E-commerce,
the Group has forged broad partnerships with leaders in the sector,
enabling it to provide the best home delivery solutions. Drawing on
its unique network of 7,946 stores in France, the Group is also rolling
out innovative logistics solutions. In addition, the Group is a French
leader in non-food E-commerce through its subsidiary Cdiscount.

FOOD E-COMMERCE

Through its unique store network with dense urban coverage, the
Group is able to develop a range of innovative logistics solutions for
its customers. Casino Group recently acquired significant expertise
in home delivery by entering into strategic partnerships with leading
players in online food retail. These cover two different market segments:
express delivery in under two hours for a select range of products,
and next-day delivery for a wide range of products equivalent to those
found in supermarkets.

The unique expertise in next-day delivery comes through the exclusive,
pioneering partnership signed in 2017 between Monoprix and
Ocado. The warehouse with Ocado technology has been operating
on a test basis since 18 March 2020. It is designed to prepare and
provide next-day delivery of Monoprix shopping baskets in Paris,
fle-de-France, Normandy and the Hauts-de-France region. This
disruptive technology, which can prepare a basket of 50 items in only
six minutes, and which is sought after on an international scale, offers
Monoprix.fr customers a vast assortment of food products along with
the very best in service and affordability.

This next-day delivery E-commerce offering was enhanced in 2018
with the signing of a partnership with Amazon for express delivery
within two hours. Amazon Prime Now customers can now access
a wide offering from Monoprix comprising 6,000 items, of which
1,500 are private-label products, a 2,000-product offering from
Naturalia and a wide range of Casino-brand items. The solution is
up-and-running in Paris, the Greater Paris region and the Cote dAzur
(Nice and surrounding towns).

As well as home delivery, Casino Group has a pick-up service with
its hypermarkets and supermarkets, known as “Drive’

NON-FOOD E-COMMERCE

Through its Cdiscount subsidiary, Casino Group is the French leader
in non-food E-commerce. With more than 20 million unique visitors
per month, Cdiscount has achieved critical mass, meaning it is able to
gradually shift from exclusively B2C operations to a business model
more oriented towards the B2B market thanks to the development
of its marketplace. This transition is a key factor in developing the
subsidiary’s profitability.

In 2019, Cdiscount’s GMV reached €3,899 million, with net sales of
€2,195 million.

Cdiscount features a wide array of products in the home appliances,
furniture, IT and culture categories, with a total of 64 million items
available on its website. The Cdiscount marketplace now represents
38.1% of its GMV™,

Cdiscount also offers an ever-expanding range of services for
individuals, including holiday packages, ticketing, energy plans, as
well as health and financial services.

Cdiscount has excellent international coverage spanning 25 European
countries. An alliance of four European marketplaces, the International
Marketplace Network (IMN) was deployed in 2019 to synchronize
merchant offers and strengthen expansion abroad.

Cdiscount s a subsidiary of Casino Group’s E-commerce unit Cnova.
Casino holds 64.8% of its capital and the Group’s Brazilian subsidiary
holds 34.0%. 63.4% of Cnova's voting rights are held by Casino.

(1) Figures provided by the subsidiary company information available at www.cnova.com
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1.3.3. Development of new growth drivers

Casino Group constantly adjusts its model to respond effectively
to market changes and is developing new adjacent activities with
strong growth prospects that complement its business as a retailer.

These activities fall into three categories: energy, through the Group’s
specialised subsidiary GreenYellow, Data, through its subsidiary
relevanC, and Data Centers, with its subsidiary ScaleMax.

PHOTOVOLTAIC POWER
AND ENERGY EFFICIENCY

= GreenYellow

In 2007, Casino launched a new business in photovoltaic energy and
energy efficiency by creating the subsidiary GreenYellow, which
capitalises on the Group’s expertise in the real estate sector (property
development, construction and operation), as well as the favourable
geographic location of its stores, mainly located in sunny regions.
Initially dedicated to managing energy costs internally, particularly
through the roll-out of photovoltaic systems on the rooftops and in
the car parks of hypermarkets and supermarkets, the business has
gradually developed an offering for external customers. It has three
areas of expertise: the installation of photovoltaic plants and solar
energy production, energy efficiency solutions and energy services.
GreenYellow’s cross-cutting expertise, from both an ecological and
economic standpoint, means it is able to provide its private and public
customers with a wide range of solutions to produce, manage and
optimise their energy.

The photovoltaic pipeline totalled 451 MWp® at end-2019.

GreenYellow is positioned in France and abroad, in Latin America,
Asia and Africa.

In 2018, to ramp up its development, GreenYellow opened its capital
to external investors Tikehau Capital and BPI France, which now
hold 24% of the capital.

Casino Group’s energy subsidiary has a diversified customer portfolio
of public authorities, private players and individuals, and offers a wide
platform of innovative solutions (gas offering with Cdiscount, floating
solar power plant in Asia, hybrid system® in Africa, etc.).
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GreenYellow forges fruitful partnerships with leading players. In 2018,
GreenYellow created a joint venture with Engie named Reservoir Sun,
dedicated to solar self-consumption for businesses and municipalities
in France. GreenYellow also signed a new partnership agreement
with Allego to deploy France’s largest network of ultra-fast electric
vehicle charging stations.

GreenYellow is now a leading energy operator and intends to
position itself as the energy partner of choice for companies and
public authorities.

DATA AND DATA CENTERS

m Data

Thanks to its vast network of brick-and-mortar stores in France and
the dense customer traffic on the E-commerce site Cdiscount, Casino
Group has access to targeted, high-quality customer data.

Casino Group has developed a consistent monetisation strategy for
data, which has become a key intangible asset for retailers looking
to understand consumers and their tastes and aspirations, and to
anticipate upcoming changes in consumer habits. A dedicated
subsidiary, sW.relevanC, has been set up. It specialises in three areas:
analysing purchasing behaviours, activating advertising campaigns,
and measuring the impact of offline campaigns. The company’s
operations are carried out in strict compliance with the EU General
Data Protection Regulation and the French law on the protection of
personal data.

In February 2020, the two Casino Group entities, 3W.relevanC and
Maxit, were combined to form relevanC, a key player in digital
marketing. RelevanC will provide brands and retailers with customer
acquisition and retention solutions, based on targeting strategies and
impact measurement, via two divisions:

o relevanC advertising (formerly sw.relevanC): media and marketing
solutions, enhanced by transactional data, insights and measurement,
to meet all the multi-channel marketing challenges related to target
shoppers; and

e relevanC retail tech (formerly Maxit): technological solutions
enabling retailers to optimise the performance of their marketing
campaigns by using their data to personalise the customer
relationship.

(1) MWp, Mega-Waltt peak: maximum electrical power that can be supplied by a photovoltaic system under standard conditions.

(2) Hybridisation: solar power generation with a battery-powered storage system.
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m Data Centers

In December 2018, Casino Group positioned itself on the cloud
computing market, announcing the creation of joint venture
ScaleMax alongside Qarnot Computing. The aim of ScaleMax is
to run new-generation “Data Centers” in unused spaces located in
warehouses and storerooms. The business helps the Group generate

revenue through the sale of computing power to a diversified client
portfolio. In addition, the installed servers generate heat, which can
be used to heat the buildings where they are housed. This green
energy is managed by GreenYellow, Casino Group's energy subsidiary.

ScaleMax opened its first Data Center in the Greater Paris region
(Réau, Seine-et-Marne), in a Cdiscount warehouse.

1.3.4. Significant shareholding in major retailers in Latin America

Casino Group operates in Brazil, Colombia, Argentina and Uruguay
through 3,226 stores under banners that boast a long-standing
presence and close relationships with their customers. The Group
has leadership or co-leadership positions in countries with high
growth potential, young populations and a proportion of modern
retail solutions that remains low.

In 2019, Casino Group completed its project to simplify its structure
in Latin America, bringing its activities in the region under the
umbrella of its Brazilian subsidiary, GPA. GPA now controls 96.6% of
the capital of the Colombian subsidiary, Grupo Exito, which in turn
controls the subsidiaries in Argentina and Uruguay. Casino Group
directly holds 41.2% of GPA's shares and voting rights. GPA has been
listed on the Novo Mercado since 2 March 2020, giving it access to a
wide international investor base.

The Group’s Latin American subsidiaries are combined in the Latam
Retail segment (GPA, Grupo Exito, Grupo Disco Uruguay and Libertad
Argentina), which accounted for 47% of consolidated net sales and
47% of trading profit in 2019.

Food retailing net sales in Latin America came to €16,358 million in
2019, an increase of 5.0% in total, 9.7% on an organic basis"”, and 4.0%
on a same-store basis®. Trading profit came to €612 million.

BRAZIL®

Casino has operated in Brazil since 1999 through its Grupo Pao
de Actcar (GPA) subsidiary. GPA is a long-standing player in
the Brazilian food retail market, and over the past few years has
adapted its positioning to meet changing consumer needs. GPA has
significantly developed the cash & carry format with the Assai banner
in recent years. This format represented 51% of GPA’ sales in 2019.
The multi-format, multi-banner store portfolio allows GPA to cater

(1) Excluding fuel and calendar effects.

(2) Company information available at www.gpari.com.br.
(3) Excluding service stations and drugstores.

(4) Data published by the subsidiary GPA.
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to customers from all socio-economic backgrounds in Brazil. It has
also been developing innovative private-label goods, which are much
appreciated by consumers, including Qualita, an umbrella brand
for food products, and Taeq, a health and well-being range. GPA is
also ramping up the development of its digital and omni-channel
solutions as part of its digital transformation, with a view to anticipating
consumer needs.

In 2019, Casino Group finalised its disposal of Via Varejo, a chain
specialising in the sale of electronic products and appliances, resulting
from the consolidation of Ponto Frio and Casas Bahia stores (stores
and online operations).

At end-2019, GPA operated a total of 881 food stores®. Including
drugstores and service stations, it had 1,076 stores overall. GPA also
manages 125 shopping malls covering a total of 282,000 square metres.

In 2019, the GPA food banners contributed €12,290 million to Casino’s
consolidated net sales. E-commerce delivered annual growth of
over 40%.

GPA has been listed on the Brazilian stock exchange since 1995, the
Novo Mercado since 2 March 2020 and the New York stock exchange
since 1997.

m Hypermarkets

Extra HM: 112 stores

Extra hypermarkets offer a vastrange of food products as well as personal
and household equipment, aiming to meet the demands of its customers.
In 2019, the banner reorganised the segmentation of its store portfolio,
setting high-performing outlets apart from stores needing to be
optimised, potentially by converting them to the Assai format.

Aside from hypermarkets, the Extra banner is present in supermarkets,
drugstores and service stations.



= Supermarkets

Pio de Acticar: 185 stores

Pao de Acticar premium convenience supermarkets offer a broad
array of high-quality products (fresh, organic produce and healthy
foods, etc.). Always at the leading edge of technology, the banner also
offers a range of services to meet the specific needs of a relatively
affluent clientele while leveraging the benefits of its widely used
loyalty programme. The banner is rolling out new-generation stores
to stay in line with its consumers’ expectations.

Extra Super: 53 stores
Extra Super stores were gradually transformed into Mercado Extra
and Compre Bem stores.

Mercado Extra: 100 stores

Opened in 2018, the Mercado Extra stores serve to give the Extra banner
a new identity whose main strategic vectors are: better quality and
service, a revised range placing greater importance on fresh produce,
repositioned pricing, and increased penetration of the private label.

Compre Bem: 28 stores

Created in 2018; Compre Bem is a supermarket aimed at individuals
and businesses, with a focus on serving with excellence and providing
services comparable to those of regional supermarkets.

= Convenience

Mini Extra: 152 stores

Minimercado Extra superettes are neighbourhood convenience stores
with a simple, pleasant atmosphere. They offer all of the essential
day-to-day products and services, with good value for money.

Minuto Pao de Acticar: 85 stores

Launched in June 2014, Minuto Pao de Acticar is a premium
convenience format. With an average selling area of 300 square
metres per store, it offers a range of differentiated products in stores
combining the convenience, quality and brand image of Pao de
Actcar. The banner promotes sustainable development initiatives
and provides tailored customer service.

m Drugstores: 123 stores

The Extra format also includes pharmacies and drugstores under the
Drogaria Extra banner. They are mainly located in Extra shopping
malls near hypermarkets.

m Cash & carry

Assai: 166 stores

Assai’s cash & carry business targets two types of customers: small
and medium-sized businesses on the one hand, and individuals
looking for competitive prices on the other. It features a wide offering,
including delicatessen products, fresh produce, drinks and personal
care and cleaning items. The banner continued its stellar growth in
2019 and now accounts for 51% of GPA’ sales.

(1) Company information available at www.grupoexito.com.co.
(2) Figures provided by the subsidiary.
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CAMEROON

m Cash & carry: 1 store

In 2018, inspired by the success of Assai in Brazil, Casino Group
inaugurated its first store in a cash & carry format in Douala. Known
as BAQ, it carries a range made up primarily of local products, at low
prices that decrease further in line with the quantities purchased. Open
to individuals, it also offers refuelling solutions for small, medium
and large businesses.

COLOMBIA®Y

Casino has operated in Colombia since 1999 through its Exito
subsidiary, Colombia’s leading food retailer. At 31 December 2019,
Exito had 537 points of sale (excluding Aliados affiliates). Its portfolio
comprises hypermarkets and supermarkets, but it also operates in
the convenience and cash & carry segments. In 2019, the Exito group
continued to focus its expansion on innovative formats such as
Carulla Fresh Market, Exito WOW and cash & carry. Omni-channel
sales (E-commerce, website and last-mile applications) continued
to rise, up 37%.

Exito intends to continue transforming its formats and its model
by stepping up its adoption of digital and omni-channel solutions.

Exito also has a well-developed real estate business comprising
34 shopping malls covering nearly 512,000 square metres. This space
is managed by the Viva Malls real estate vehicle, a joint venture with
FIC operating since 2016.

Following the reorganisation of the Group’s structure in Latin America,
96.6% of Exito is now held by GPA.

In 2019, Grupo Exito (Colombia, Uruguay and Argentina; excluding
Brazil) contributed €4,052 million to Casino’s consolidated net sales.

m Hypermarkets

Exito: 92 stores

Exito is a hypermarket banner with a food and non-food product
offering tailored to the needs of all segments of the Colombian
population. Exito stands out for the quality of its private-label apparel
range, which enjoys a very good reputation with customers. The stores
also provide a variety of services including the “Points Exito” loyalty
programme, mobile phones, travel deals, and financial services (credit
cards and insurance). In 2019, the banner continued to develop its
Exito WOW hypermarkets, offering an even more digital customer
experience in a remodelled store.

CASINO GROUP
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= Supermarkets: 158 stores

Exito Super and Vecino: 76 stores

The Exito brand also includes two different supermarket banners:
28 Exito Super stores, offering a range of primarily food products and
48 Exito Vecino stores, offering a wider assortment of non-food
products.

Carulla: 82 stores

Carulla is renowned for its high quality. It markets a premium offering
featuring targeted gourmet and exclusive products as well as arange
of services. The network operates mainly in Colombia’s two largest
cities, Bogota and Medellin. In 2019, the banner continued to develop
its new Carulla Fresh Market format, offering an expanded offering
of fresh produce and more premium service counters.

m Convenience: 95 stores

Exito Express: 79 stores

Exito Express is a new “minimarket” convenience format offering
fast-moving consumer goods and fresh produce, as well as a selection
of household cleaning and multimedia products.

Carulla Express: 16 stores

Carulla Express is Grupo Exitos other “minimarket” format. Positioned
in the premium segment, it also provides take-away products such
as sandwiches, fresh fruit, cakes and pastries.

m Low-cost stores: 1,688 stores
(imcl. 1,496 Aliados stores)

Surtimax: 92 proprietary stores

Surtimax is a convenience format located mostly in suburban areas.
The stores offer a comprehensive range of basic products at low
prices, mainly under the Surtimax private label. They are primarily
food stores, but also carry some non-food lines.

Exito also continued to develop its network of Aliados independent
franchises, with a total of 1,496 franchised stores at the end of 2019.

Super Inter: 70 proprietary stores
The Super Inter supermarket chain is located in the Cali and Coffee
regions and sells a highly developed line of fresh produce.

Surtimayorista: 30 stores

In 2017, in response to the rise of discounter competitors, the Exito
group decided to step up the development of the cash & carry format
in Colombia.
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URUGUAY

The local market leader since 2000, Casino has three store banners
that enjoy high brand recognition: Disco, Devoto and Géant. These
banners have been subsidiaries of Exito since 2011.

Casino operated a total of 91 stores at end-2019.

= Supermarkets

Disco: 29 stores

Originally a chain of family supermarkets, Disco enjoys strong
recognition throughout the country and focuses on competitive pricing.
Disco stores’ good locations are well appreciated by consumers. These
two key strengths are reflected in its signature: “With you every day”

Devoto: 24 stores

Also originally family owned, the Devoto banner has a portfolio of
modern stores including some with an extensive non-food range.
With its signature “Price and quality. Always, Devoto clearly states
its strong positioning focused on affordability, but also on product
quality and customer service.

m Hypermarkets

Géant: 2 stores
With its signature “The lowest price’, Géant hypermarkets offer a
broad range of products at very low prices.

m Convenience

Devoto Express: 36 stores

Since 2015, Devoto has been showcasing a new convenience format.
With an average selling area of 180 square metres per store, the banner
offers customers competitive prices.

ARGENTINA

Casino has been present in Argentina since 1998, following the
acquisition of Libertad. The Group has since developed the Libertad
chain of hypermarkets.

Libertad also operates two convenience formats (Mini Libertad and
Petit Libertad).

In 2019, the Group had a total of 25 stores.

Libertad: 15 stores

Libertad is the leading hypermarket chain outside the capital,
operating mainly in large inland cities. Each hypermarket is part of
a shopping mall.

Mini Libertad/Petit Libertad: 10 stores

With an average selling area of approximately 160 square metres per
store, Mini Libertad stands out as the foremost food convenience
format in large cities such as Cordoba. In late 2016, Libertad also
launched the premium convenience concept format, Petit Libertad.
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1.3.5. Strengthening of the Group’s structure through major financial and strategic plans

In line with its strategic plan, Casino Group is focusing on buoyant
formats and the development of new activities to drive its growth
and profitability. In this context, the Group launched a programme
in 2018 for the disposal and closure of loss-making stores in France,
particularly hypermarkets (Rocade plan).

At the same time, Casino Group intends to reduce its debt, both
organically, by generating cash flow, and through the disposal of assets.
To this end, the Group has launched a disposal plan in two phases:
(i) a €1.5 billion phase launched in 2018 and increased to €2.5 billion
in March 2019, running up to the end of first-quarter 2020, and (ii) a
€2.0 billion phase announced in 2019 as part of a programme to
identify further assets for disposal by the end of first-quarter 2021. The
Group has also further strengthened its financial structure through a
refinancing plan completed in November 2019.

ROCADE PLAN FOR THE DISPOSAL
AND CLOSURE OF LOSS-MAKING
STORES IN FRANCE

At the end of 2018, the Group initiated a plan for the disposal and
closure of loss-making stores in France. These disposals and closures
allow the Group to focus on its most profitable stores, mainly in its three
traditional growth regions (fle-de-France, Rhone-Alpes and Cote dAzur).
In 2019, among its integrated stores, the Group sold 17 loss-making
hypermarkets and 14 loss-making supermarkets, and closed
4 loss-making supermarkets.

Excluding Leader Price, these transactions had a €500 million negative
full-year impact on net sales, partially offset by the independent
retailers joining the franchise network with gross sales under banner
of nearly €300 million. The full-year positive impact on trading profit
is €50 million (€18 million in 2019). The Rocade plan was rounded
off by the sale of 567 Leader Price stores and three Leader Price
warehouses to Aldi as part of the asset disposal plan.

ASSET DISPOSAL PLAN

Casino Group has launched a vast asset disposal programme in
France to focus on buoyant formats.

The initial €1.5 billion plan launched in June 2018 was raised to
€2.5 billion in March 2019, with completion scheduled for the end of
first-quarter 2020. It covers the Group's non-strategic assets, mainly
store properties (Hypermarkets, Supermarkets and Monoprix), the
Vindémia subsidiary in the Indian Ocean region, its catering services
subsidiary R2C and part of the capital of Mercialys.

With the announcement on 20 March 2020 of an agreement with Aldi
to sell 567 Leader Price stores and three Leader Price warehouses,
the total impact of asset disposals represented €2.8 billion (of which
€1.8 billion in payment received by the end of 2019).

As part of the second phase of its disposal plan, in August 2019
the Group identified new assets for a target amount of €2 billion.
This second stage of disposals is set to be carried out by the end of
first-quarter 2021.

REFINANCING PLAN

With a view to further strengthening its liquidity and financial
structure, in October 2019 Casino Group initiated a refinancing plan
that consisted in raising €1.8 billion in new financing through a term
loan (“Term Loan B”) for €1,000 million and a high-yield secured bond
issue for €800 million due in January 2024, and extending confirmed
creditlines in France by €2 billion in a new confirmed credit line due
in October 2023.

Term Loan B and the secured high-yield bond enabled the Group
to finance the tender offer on the bonds maturing in 2020, 2021 and
2022 for a total cash amount of €806 million, to repay the drawn credit
lines for a total amount of €630 million, to partially repay 50% (i.e.,
€198 million) of the Ségisor loan, and to pay the fees and commissions
related to the transaction. The remaining amount was placed in
escrow to be used solely to pay down debt. On 9 March 2020 it was
used to redeem a bond issue for €271 million (including interest).

The transaction extended the maturity of the Group's debt to 3.8 years
from 3.3 years previously.

With the extension of the confirmed credit lines to €2 billion, Casino
Group had €2.3 billion in undrawn confirmed credit lines in France
at 31 December 2019. The average maturity of these lines is 3.6 years,
compared to 1.6 years before the extension.

The refinancing plan was completed in November 2019.

1.4. CASINO GROUP BUSINESS MODEL

Pursuant to Article L. 225-102-1 of the French Commercial Code on the Non-Financial Information Statement, Casino Group has drawn up
a summary presentation of its business model focused on its strengths, its businesses and the way the financial and non-financial value it

creates is distributed among stakeholders.

CASINO GROUP
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A multi-format . .
. A selection of products and services

multi-banner

and multi-channel model adapted to the needs of each customer

OUR STRENGTHS STORES
@ 11 ) 172 stores in France and Latin America
- . .
. . . . Premium Convenience Hypermarkets
Banners with strong and differentiated .
identities, positioned on the market’s . A superior offering, An offering of everyday A wide range of quality
most buoyant formats v many innovative basics to meet the products at affordable
: services and expectations of consumers prices, with an emphasis
. a high-quality in search of quality, on fresh food
: shopping experience authenticity and service
. . Banners: Banners: Banners:
Geographic coverage centred .
on growing markets . « France: Monoprix, « France: Franprix, « France: Géant Casino
: Naturalia (format dedicated Le Petit Casino, Vival, « Latin America:
. . to organic products), Spar, etc. Assai, Extra, Exito,
:@: . Casino Supermarkets « Latin America: Carulla Surtimayorista, etc.
. « Latin America: Pao Express, Minuto Pao, etc.
s N . de Acucar, Carulla, etc.
A. c.ulture of 1nnovat1(?n, : ¢ Cash & carry:
digital and partnerships : No. 1 network of 51% of sales
. Monoprix, Casino convenience stores in in Brazil
: Supermarkets: France, of which 85%
. 47% of sales in France operated as franchises
A leading positioning in food v o

and non-food E-commerce

Increasingly DIGITALISED access to our offering through

Zf « applications (e.g., Casino Max)

« the banners’ merchant websites (e.g., www.monoprix.fr) and partners’ websites

Developmfll:_t of new (e.g., Amazon Prime Now)

wth driver

gro ers « in-store services: shop & go, click & collect, Drives, Cdiscount counters, shop-in-shops
for specialised brands, etc.

2019 KEY FIGURES * home delivery

° v
€34.6bn :
in net sales ]
i NON-FOOD E-COMMERCE
More than 120 years 219,132 N
of history employees : 5 No. 2 in E-commerce in France
N 2 N 1 : €3.9bnin gross merchandise volume (GMV)
0. 0. v 64 million items available on Cdiscount
in E-commerce in convenience .
in France stores in France Q
v
No.2 No. 1 Rated71/100 MONETISATION OF ASSETS
retailer retailer by non-financial rating
in Brazil in Colombia agency Vigeo Eiris Newbusinesses
(vs. 56/100 in 2016) p - s e .
il =z Renewable energy: creation in 2007 of GreenYellow, a subsidiary specialised in photovoltaic plant
X . installation and solar energy production (219 photovoltaic plants and 2,500 sites under energy
Breakdown of consolidated net sales performance contracts), energy efficiency solutions and energy services.
Data & Data Centers: Data business providing brands and retailers with customer acquisition and
retention solutions, based on targeting strategies and impact measurement; Data Center business
with ScaleMax.
47% 53%
Latam France & Financial services: credit, payment facilities, new payment methods through subsidiaries
E-commerce Banque Casino and Puntos Colombia.
Commercial real estate: development and management of shopping centres
(IGC in France and Viva Malls in Colombia). *End-2019
—  ______________________________________g — I EEEEEE————
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Operational excellence and improving }
our CSR performance are central
to our business

SUPPLIES

Select quality products at the right price:

« Buy at the right price, thanks largely to the development
of international purchasing hubs with other retailers

« Guarantee the safety and food quality of products

« Develop responsible purchasing and sustainable
partnerships with producers

« Monitor and improve the supply chain

7]
NN
f0—o—o,

LOGISTICS

Optimise the economic cost and environmental impact
of transport and storage:

« Optimise transport and storage through automation,
robotisation, pooling of warehouses and partnerships
with last-mile delivery experts

« Reduce the environmental footprint of the supply chain
by using alternative modes of transport

%)

SALES AND CUSTOMER
EXPERIENCE

Guarantee a range of products and services adapted
to consumer requirements:

« Offer a wide choice of quality products, drawing on strong
private-label brands

« Anticipate new consumer habits

« Promote healthier, more sustainable consumption patterns
by developing organic and responsible sectors

« Offer a more seamless, enhanced buying experience
by developing innovative concepts

« Digitise and enrich the customer experience
with an omni-channel model and personalised digital services

« Make more delivery possibilities available to customers
(clean delivery, especially on foot)
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...to create and share value

with our stakeholders

HUMAN RESOURCES, SOCIETAL
AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT

CUSTOMERS AND PARTNERS

€34.6bn in net sales across
our banners

€665m in revenue from other
activities (property, energy, etc.)

€39m in income on financial
investments

REVENUE GENERATED

Offer more responsible products

« More than 34,000 products certified
as responsible

« More than 2,300 private-label organic products

« More than 200 organic stores under
the Naturalia banner

« €1.1bn in sales of organic products in France

' SUPPLIERS

€28.5bn in purchases of goods and
services

Improve the supply chain

« More than 90% of plants producing private-label
brands in countries at risk are audited

« More than 1,100 supplier audits

« Buyers trained in social ethics processes

« Local production chains supported: more than

80% of the fruit and vegetables sold by Exito
in Colombia purchased directly from more
than 650 local farmers

EMPLOYEES

€4.2bn in gross wages,
payroll taxes and benefits paid

Support employment

« 219,132 employees

« 7,755 work/study trainees

« 94% employees on permanent contracts

a Advance professional equality
S « 39.5% of managers are women
E Promote diversity
E « 8,546 employees with recognised disabilities
7]
a
31 LOCAL COMMUNITIES, NGOS AND NON-PROFIT ASSOCIATIONS
E Nearly €80m committed Help the most disadvantaged
= Eg corrtlmunlty do;ltree:jc}; ) « More than 43 million meal equivalents
E onations and foundations contributed to food bank networks
~
STATE AND TERRITORY
€259m in taxes paid Reduce the environmental impact
« 547 kWh of electricity consumed
per square metre of retail space
« Around 2,500 sites under energy
performance contracts and more
than 477,000 sq.m. of solar panels installed
across the Group’s assets
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
€617m in interest paid Maintain stable governance
and shareholding
« Women account for 46% of the Board of Directors
« 43,487 identified individual shareholders
SHAREHOLDERS hofd 17% of the free float
AND INVESTORS
€169m in dividends paid

to the Company’s shareholders

CASINO GROUP
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1.5. STORE NETWORK

Number of stores Sales area
at 31 December (in thousands of sq.m.)
2017 2018 m 2017 2018 m

Géant Casino hypermarkets 122 122 109 856 848 772
o/w

French franchises/affiliates 7 7 4

International affiliates 5 5 6

Casino Supermarkets 433 442 411 715 726 667
o/w

French franchised affiliates 106 104 83

International franchised affiliates 17 19 22

Monoprix 789 795 784 732 737 741
o/w

Franchises/affiliates 211 203 186

Naturalia integrated stores 161 175 182

Naturalia franchises 7 13 23

Franprix 893 894 877 367 364 352
o/w franchises 399 433 459

Convenience stores 5,392 5,153 5,139 726 700 701
Other businesses (Cafeterias, Drive, etc.) 606 591 367 n/a n/a n/a
Indian Ocean region 209 239 259 117 118 122
TOTAL FRANCE® 8,444 8,236 7,946 3,513 3,493 3,355
Argentina 29 27 25 108 106 106
Libertad hypermarkets 15 15 15 106 104 104
Mini Libertad and Petit Libertad mini-supermarkets 14 12 10 2 2 2
Uruguay 88 89 91 89 90 90
Géant hypermarkets 2 2 2 16 16 16
Disco supermarkets 29 29 29 33 33 33
Devoto supermarkets 24 24 24 33 34 34
Devoto Express mini-supermarkets 33 34 36 6 6 7
Brazil 1,081 1,057 1,076 1,811 1,860 1,963
Extra hypermarkets 17 112 12 717 687 683
Pao de Agticar supermarkets 186 186 185 240 240 237
Extra and Mercado Extra supermarkets 188 173 153 215 193 172
Compre Bem supermarkets 0 13 28 0 18 33
Assai (discount) 126 144 166 506 598 713
Mini Mercado Extra and Minuto Pao de Acticar mini-supermarkets 265 235 237 65 58 58
Drugstores 127 123 123 10 9 9
+ Service stations 72 71 72 58 58 58
Colombia 1,852 1,973 2,033 1,022 1,033 1,030
Exito hypermarkets 90 92 92 485 486 485
Exito and Carulla supermarkets 162 161 158 212 212 210
Super Inter supermarkets 71 73 70 64 67 66
Surtimax (discount) 1,409 1,531 1,588 225 229 221
o/w Aliados 1,278 1,419 1,496

Cash & carry 9 18 30 14 22 31
Exito Express and Carulla Express m 98 95 21 18 17
Cameroon 0 1 1 0 2 2
Cash & carry 0 1 1 0 2 2
TOTAL INTERNATIONAL 3,050 3,147 3,226 3,030 3,091 3,191

(1) French network: excluding Leader Price.
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1.6. SIMPLIFIED ORGANISATION GHART AT 31 DECEMBER 2013

Casino, Guichard-Perrachon

% control/% interest

EUROPE
100%/100% 100%/100% 100%/100% 100%/100% 100%/100%
Distribution Casino Qlenydis Codim 2 Casino Carburants Floréal
France (Casino Express)
100%/100% 100%/100% 100%/100% 100%/100% 100%/100%
Franprix Leader Price Monoprix Naturalia E-Trend Monoprix Online
Holding P France (Mon Showroom) (ex-Sarenza)
100%/78.98% 100%/100% 100%/100%
Cdiscount RelevanC MaxIT
100%/100% 100%/100% 44%/44% 50%/50%
Achats Marchandises
Easydis Casino Horizon Achats Mano-A
(AMC)
100%/100% 100%/100% 73.62%/73.62% 25.24%/30.57%
LImmobiliére . .
Groupe Casino Sudéco GreenYellow Mercialys
100%/100% 100%/100%
Casino
Restauration StOnce
100%/100% 100%/100% 50%/50%
. . Banque du
Casino Agro Geimex Groupe Casino
100%/100%
- CaSino Re
99.46%/78.91% 100%/100%
Mayland
LATIN AND CENTRAL AMERICA
100%/39.84%
99.94%/41.26% 100%/73.62%
Compania Brasileira GreenYellow do Brasil
de Distribuigao Energia e Servicios
96.57%/39.84% 97.95%/39.02% 100%/73.62%
Almacenes ( fo?ri?eitlexégiisgunt GreenYellow Energia de
Exito S.A. y A Colombia
Colombia)
100%/39.84% 75.10%/24.90%
Devoto Grupo Disco
Hermanos SA del Uruguay
INDIAN OCEAN REGION
100%/100% 100%/100%
100%/100% 100%/100%
- B.D.M. - S.Z'M.
| I Listed company

CASINO GROUP

17



2019 UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT
Presentation of Casino Group

1. STOCK MARKET VALUE OF LISTED COMPANIES

At 31 December 2019, Casino’s interests in its listed companies had an aggregate value of nearly €3 billion.

Following the reorganisation of the Group’s structure in Latin America, 96.6% of Exito is now held by GPA.

Share price Market capitalisation % direct Casino’s share
Listed company at 31 Dec. 2019 (100%, € millions) interest® (€ millions)
GPA (Brazil) BRL 87.65 5,170 41.3% 2,133
Cnova (France) EUR 2.48 856 64.8% 555
TOTAL (EXCLUDING MERCIALYS) 2,688
Mercialys EUR 12.33 1,135 25.3% 287

TOTAL 2,975
(1) At 31 December 2019.
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FINANGIAL RIGHLIGHTS

Casino Group’s key consolidated figures for 2019 were as follows:

(€ millions, post-IFRS 16) m 2018 (restated) Reported change CERY change

Consolidated net sales 34,645 34,329 +0.9% +4.2%
Gross margin 8,764 8,963 -2.2%
EBITDA® 2,640 2,669 -1.1% +0.6%)
Net depreciation and amortisation (1,348) (1,305) -3.3%
Trading profit 1,292 1,364 -5.3% -3.1%®
Other operating income and expense (719) (402) -78.9%
Net financial expense, o/w:
Net finance costs (356) (320) -11.5%
Other financial income and expenses (394) (356) -10.5%
Profit (loss) before tax (176) 286 nm.
Income tax (137) (188) +27.0%
Share of profit of equity-accounted investees 46 60 -24.2%
Net profit (loss) from continuing operations (268) 159 nm.
o/w Group share (384) (60) n.m.
o/w attributable to non-controlling interests 116 218 -46.9%
Net profit (loss) from discontinued operations (1,054) (32) n.m.
o/w Group share (1,048) (57) n.m.
o/w attributable to non-controlling interests (6) 25 n.m.
Consolidated net profit (loss) (1,322) 127 n.m.
o/w Group share (1,432) (117) n.m.
o/w attributable to non-controlling interests 110 244 -55.0%
Underlying net profit, Group share® 212 327 -35.4% -34.9%

(1) At constant exchange rates. Change in net sales is presented on an organic basis, excluding fuel and calendar effects.
(2) EBITDA = Trading profit + amortisation and depreciation expense.
(3) Based on a comparable scope of consolidation and constant exchange rates, excluding the effect of hyperinflation.
(4) Underlying net profit corresponds to net profit from continuing operations adjusted for the impact of other operating income and expenses and non-recurring
financial items, as well as income tax expense/benefits related to these adjustments, and the application of IFRIC 23 rules. See section on alternative performance
indicators on page 28.
Note: Figures are presented post-IFRS 16. Via Varejo, which was sold on 14 June 2019, is presented as a discontinued operation in 2018 and from 1 January to
30 June 2019, in accordance with IFRS 5. Leader Price is presented as a discontinued operation in 2019, in accordance with IFRS 5. The 2018 financial statements
have been restated to permit meaningful comparisons with 2019.
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JIGNIFICANT EVENTS OF THE YEAR

Asset disposal plan in France

The Group launched a €4.5 billion asset disposal programme in France
(see section on the strengthening of the Group’s structure through
major financial and strategic plans, on page 13).

In 2019, the Group sold assets for €1 billion, after selling €1.1 billion
of assets in 2018.

On 21 January 2019, the Group announced the sale to funds managed
by Fortress of 26 hypermarket and supermarket properties worth
€501 million, for which it received €392 million on 11 March 2019
on completion of the transaction. Casino Group will be involved in
the value creation of this transaction through a participation in the
specific entity constituted by funds managed by Fortress. Depending
on the entity’s performance, Casino Group could receive up to an
additional €150 million in the next few years.

On 14 February 2019, the Group sold its catering services subsidiary
to Compass Group. The operation was finalised on 1 July 2019.

On 22 April 2019, the Group announced the sale of store properties
to companies affiliated to Apollo Global Management. On
16 October 2019, the Group finalised the sale of 31 hypermarket and
supermarket properties worth €465 million to companies affiliated
to Apollo Global Management. On this occasion, Casino received
€327 million for the transfer of 30 assets, with an additional €14 million
to be received within 12 months of the effective transfer of an asset,
which was postponed for technical reasons; another asset was
ultimately excluded from the initial scope to be sold to a third party
by the end of 2019, under the same conditions. Casino Group remains
involved in the value creation of this transaction through an interest
in the company formed by funds managed by Apollo. Depending
on the entity’s performance, Casino Group could receive up to an
additional €140 million in the next few years.

On 22 July 2019, the Group announced that it had signed an agreement
with GBH to sell Vindémia, its retail subsidiary in the Indian Ocean, for
an enterprise value of €219 million. Vindémia will continue operating
and developing within GBH’s retail division.

On 19 September 2019, the Group confirmed that it had entered into
talks with Aldi France for the disposal of Leader Price.

Following the signing in March 2020 of the agreement with Aldi to
sell Leader Price (see Recent events on page 33), the Group has sold
to date €2.8 billion worth of assets since June 2018 (for which it had
received €1.8 billion at end-2019). The agreement with Aldi rounds
out the Rocade plan launched at the end of 2018 to close and dispose
of loss-making stores.

Rocade loss-making store closure
and disposal plan in France

In order to focus on buoyant formats, at the end of 2018 the Group
launched a plan for the disposal and closure of loss-making
stores (Rocade plan). Of its integrated stores, the Group has sold
17 loss-making hypermarkets and 14 supermarkets, and has closed
4loss-making supermarkets. Excluding Leader Price, these transactions
had a €500 million negative full-year impact on net sales, partially
offset by the independent retailers joining the franchise network
with gross sales under banner of nearly €300 million. The full-year
positive impact on trading profit is €50 million (€18 million in 2019).

Safeguard plan of the Group's parent
companies

On 23 May 2019, Casino was informed by its reference shareholder,
Rallye, of the opening of safeguard proceedings related to respectively
Rallye and its subsidiaries Cobivia and HMB, as well as Fonciere Euris,
Finatis and Euris. These proceedings do not concern Casino Group,
its businesses or employees, and have no impact on the continued
implementation of the Group's current strategic plan.

On g December 2019, Rallye (including the subsidiaries HMB, Alpétrol
and Cobivia), Fonciere Euris, Finatis and Euris (the “Companies”)
announced that they had finalised their draft safeguard plans, drawn
up with assistance from the court-appointed receivers. Proposals
for the payment of their liabilities were then sent to the Companies’
creditors by the judicial representatives, in order to obtain the creditors’
acceptance or refusal of the proposals. On 2 March 2020, Rallye,
Fonciere Euris, Finatis and Euris announced that the Paris commercial
court had approved their safeguard plans on 28 February 2020.

CASINO GROUP
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Reorganisation of the Group's structure
in Latin America

In 2019, the Group reorganised its Latin American operations.

On 26 June 2019, the Board of Directors of GPA, a subsidiary of the
Group in Brazil, approved the formation of an ad hoc committee to
study a project to simplify the Group’s structure in the region.

The projectincluded i) a cash tender offer to be launched by GPA on
100% of Exito’s shares, to which Casino would tender its entire stake
(55.3%), ii) the acquisition by Casino of the shares held by Exito in
Ségisor (which itselfholds 99.9% of the voting rights and 37.3% of the
economic rights of GPA), and iii) the migration of GPA shares to the
Novo Mercado B3 listing segment, with the conversion of preferred
shares into ordinary shares at an exchange ratio of 1:1.

On 24 July 2019, Casino’s Board of Directors approved the decision
to tender its stake in Exito to GPA’s tender offer and to acquire the
shares held by Exito in GPA through Ségisor for a price based on
BRL 109 per GPA share.

On the same date, GPAs Board of Directors launched a cash tender
offer on 100% of Exito's share capital for COP 18,000 per share through
awholly-owned subsidiary.

In August 2019, Casino announced that its Board of Directors had
approved a final amendment to its offer to acquire Exito’s equity interest
in GPA indirectly held through the French company Ségisor. The
amended offer included an improved price per GPA share of BRL 113.

On 12 September 2019, Exito's Board of Directors and its General
Meeting approved the sale of its entire stake in Ségisor to Casino,
enabling: (i) Casino to acquire the shares held by Exito in Ségisor;
and (ii) GPA to launch an all-cash tender offer for Exito.

GPA was listed on the Novo Mercado on 2 March 2020, giving it access
to a broader international investor base.

Casino now holds 41.2% of the share capital of GPA, which is itself
the controlling shareholder of Exito with a 96.6% stake, and of its
subsidiaries in Uruguay and Argentina.

Strengthening of the Group's
financial sfructure

With a view to further strengthening its liquidity and financial
structure, in October 2019 Casino Group initiated a refinancing plan
that consisted in raising €1.8 billion in new financing through a term
loan (“Term Loan B”) for €1,000 million and a high-yield secured bond
issue for €800 million due in January 2024, and extending confirmed
creditlines in France by €2 billion in a new confirmed credit line due
in October 2023.
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Term Loan B and the secured high-yield bond enabled the Group
to finance the tender offer on the bonds maturing in 2020, 2021 and
2022 for a total cash amount of €806 million, to partially repay the
drawn credit lines for a total amount of €630 million, to repay 50% (i.e.,
€198 million) of the Ségisor loan, and to pay the fees and commissions
related to the transaction. The remaining amount was placed in
escrow to be used solely to pay down debt. On 9 March 2020 it was
used to redeem a bond issue for €271 million (including interest).

The transaction extended the maturity of the Group's debt to 3.8 years
from 3.3 years previously.

With the extension of the confirmed credit lines to €2 billion,
Casino Group had €2.3 billion in undrawn confirmed credit lines at
31 December 2019. The average maturity of these lines is 3.6 years,
compared to 1.6 years before the extension.

The refinancing plan was completed in November 2019.

Expansion of the partnership with Amazon
signed in 2018

Building on the success of the Monoprix-Amazon business
partnership launched in September 2018, which offers products
selected by Monoprix to Amazon Prime members residing in
Paris, on 23 April 2019 the Group announced that the partnership
would be expanded through the following three initiatives:
(i) the installation of Amazon Lockers in 1,000 Casino Group stores;
(ii) Casino private-label products being made available on Amazon.
On 28 August 2019, the offer was extended to Naturalia products.
On 21 November 2019, this service was rolled out to Nice and
11 municipalities in the Alpes-Maritimes region.

Dther significant events of the year

Horizon International Services, Casino Group’s international alliance
with Auchan Retail, METRO and DIA dedicated to selling services
to suppliers that operate internationally, was officially launched on
6 March 2019. Horizon International Services covers the 47 countries
in Europe, Asia and South America in which these companies operate.

On 5 September 2019, the Group announced that Vesa Equity
Investment, an investment fund owned by Daniel Kfetinsky, the
controlling shareholder with a 53% stake and Patrik Tkac (47% stake),
held 5,020,139 shares of the Casino, Guichard-Perrachon Group,
representing 4.63% of its share capital at 3 September 2019.
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1. BUSINESS REPORT

The comments in the Annual Financial Report reflect comparisons
with 2018 results from continuing operations. The 2019 and 2018
consolidated financial statements are presented post-IFRS 16. For
the majority of leases, IFRS 16 requires recognition of an asset (the
right to use the leased item) and a financial liability (representing
discounted future lease payments). Operating lease expense is
replaced with depreciation on the right-of-use asset and interest
expense relating to the lease liability. The Group elected to apply the
“full retrospective” transition method, which led to the restatement
of the 2018 financial statements, allowing them to be compared
with the 2019 financial statements.

Via Varejo, which was sold on 14 June 2019, is presented as a
discontinued operation in 2018 and from 1 January to 30 June 2019,
in accordance with IFRS 5. In light of the decision made in 2019
to divest Leader Price, this business is presented as a discontinued
operation in 2019, in accordance with IFRS 5. The 2018 financial
statements have been restated to permit meaningful comparisons
with 2019.

Organic changes are calculated based on a comparable scope of
consolidation and at constant exchange rates, excluding fuel and
calendar effects. Same-store changes exclude fuel and calendar
effects.

MAIN CHANGES IN THE SCOPE
OF CONSOLIDATION

e Various store disposals and acquisitions during 2018 and 2019
within Franprix-Leader Price.

e Disposals and closures of loss-making stores during 2018 and 2019.
e Completion of the disposal of Via Varejo on 14 June 2019.

o Reclassification of Leader Price as a discontinued operation.

CURRENCY EFFECTS

Currency effects were unfavourable in 2019, with the Brazilian real
losing an average 2.4% against the euro compared with 2018.

Continuing operations

(€ millions, post-IFRS 16) m 2018 (restated) Reported change Change at CERW
Net sales 34,645 34,329 +0.9% +4.2%
EBITDA 2,640 2,669 -1.1% +0.6%
Trading profit 1,292 1,364 -5.3% -3.1%
Underlying net profit, Group share 212 327 -35.4% -34.9%

(1) At constant exchange rates. Change in net sales is presented on an organic basis, excluding fuel and calendar effects.

2.1.1. Gasino Group 2019 highlights

In France

e Acceleration of strategic repositioning to focus on buoyant
formats with the disposal of Leader Price, bringing the total proceeds
from signed disposals under the disposal plan to €2.8 billion;

o Gross sales under banner up 1.9% on a same-store basis;

e 24% of the activity done through E-commerce in fourth-quarter
2019 versus 18% in 2018;

e Retail trading margin up o.5 points to 3.8%, with trading profit
up 12% to €622 million™;

e Reduction in net debt to €2.3 billion driven by the disposal plan,
with recurring free cash flow (excluding the disposal and Rocade
plans) of €367 million'” (€576 million excluding non-recurring
items);

e Major milestone achieved in retail business modernisation, with
faster development of automated checkout systems (self-scanning
via smartphone, self-service checkouts, autonomous stores) and
growth in home delivery services (Ocado warehouse launched
on a test basis on 18 March 2020).

In Latin America

o Simplified Group structure in Latin America, with all businesses
placed under the umbrella of the GPA subsidiary;

o Assai’s excellent momentum confirmed, with sales up 22% and
margin up 20 basis points®;
o Success of Exito’s new formats and margin up 20 basis points®;

o Digital transformation and strong growth in E-commerce,
up nearly 40%).

(1) Post-IFRS 16. Pre-IFRS 16, France retail trading profit was up 5% and retail trading margin up 0.2 points.
(2) Free cash flow excluding the disposal plan and the Rocade plan, before dividends paid to owners of the parent and holders of TSSDI deeply-subordinated
bonds, excluding financial expenses, including rental expense (repayments of lease liabilities and interest on leases). Pre-IFRS 16: €380 million.

(3) Data published by the subsidiary.

CASINO GROUP 23



2019 UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT
Financial and accounting information

2.1.2. France Retail

(€ millions, post-IFRS 16)

2018 (restated)

Net sales 16,322 16,786
EBITDA 1,467 1,413
EBITDA margin 9.0% 8.4%
Trading profit 676 618
Trading margin 4.1% 3.7%

France Retail net sales totalled €16,322 million in 2019 versus
€16,786 million in 2018. up 0.3% on a same-store basis excluding fuel
and calendar effects. Including Cdiscount, gross sales under banner
were up 1.9% on a same-store basis in 2019.

Over the full year, the following can be noted per format:

e Organic products made up 14% of Monoprix’s net sales in 2019.
The E-commerce segment was particularly strong, buoyed by the
success of the partnership with Amazon Prime Now, which was
extended during the year to cover new towns and cities as well as
Naturalia products. The banner accelerated the deployment of
its autonomous stores which allow extended opening hours. The
Naturalia format dedicated to organic products saw further growth.

e Franprix continued to roll out its autonomous stores, to develop
its non-food offer — primarily through its partnership with Hema,
and to strengthen its organic range and catering services, thereby
increasing customer traffic. Franprix picked up 50 awards in 2019,
both for its ongoing innovation across the board (concepts, products,
HR initiatives) and for its partnerships.

e Casino Supermarkets saw double-digit growth in sales of organic
products over the year. The banner continued to develop its
autonomous stores and its in-store digital solutions, including the
highly successful Casino Max app. E-commerce continued to grow.
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e Convenience continued to optimise its model, with an increasing
number of stores operated on a franchise basis. The banner enhanced
its own-brand and organic products, which posted double-digit
growth over the year, while developing its autonomous stores.

e Géant Hypermarkets saw a positive annual trend led by organic
products, E-commerce, the roll-out of “shops-in-shops’ and
digital initiatives such as Casino Max. The banner continues to
deploy autonomous stores.

In France, EBITDA margin improved by 57 basis points to 9.0%
of sales.

France Retail trading profit came to €676 million, up 9.4% on 2018.
Retail trading profit came to €622 million, a rise of 11.6%. Trading
margin for the retail business was 3.8%. Pre-IFRS 16 retail trading
profitimproved by 4.9% to €517 million. The effects of the Rocade plan
and the cost-saving plans more than offset the €68 million increase in
rental expenses related to the disposal of store properties.



2.1.3. New businesses
GREENYELLOW

GreenYellow accelerated the development of its photovoltaic business,
resulting in a threefold increase in its pipeline to 451 MWp® at
end-2019. EBITDA for the year came to €76 million.

GreenYellow has achieved strong international expansion, with
projects in Asia, Latin America, Africa and the Indian Ocean region.

It continues to diversify its customer portfolio alongside public
authorities (city of Saint Etienne), airports (Colombia, Mauritania,
Reunion Island) and manufacturers (such as Schneider Electric and
STMicroElectronics).

GreenYellow is also continuing its innovation push, with a floating
solar power plant in Thailand and the development of a hybrid
system® in Africa.

The Groups’s energy business has forged major strategic partnerships.
The Reservoir Sun joint venture launched with Engie in October 2018
is the benchmark player in France’s solar self-consumption market,
with contracts for 100 MWp obtained over the year. GreenYellow also
signed a new partnership agreement with Allego, which intends to
deploy France's largest network of ultra-fast electric vehicle charging
stations.

21.4. E-commerce (Cdiscount)

(€ millions, post-IFRS 16)
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DATA AND DATA CENTERS

The Data and Data Centers division generated €67 million in
cumulative net sales, up 51% from 2018.

In the Data business, the two Casino Group entities, 3W.relevanC
and Maxit, are being combined to form relevanC, a key player
in digital marketing. relevanC will provide brands and retailers with
customer acquisition and retention solutions, based on targeting
strategies and impact measurement, via two divisions:

o relevanC advertising (formerly gw.relevanC): media and marketing
solutions, enhanced by transactional data, insights and measurement,
to meet all the multi-channel marketing challenges related to target
shoppers; and

o relevanC retail tech (formerly Maxit): technological solutions
enabling retailers to optimise the performance of their marketing
campaigns by using their data to personalise the customer
relationship.

The Group created ScaleMax, a major new Data Centers player.

ScaleMax has diversified its portfolio of external customers (BNP,

Natixis and McGuff) and deployed 20,000 cores in one year in the

first data warehouse.

GMV (Gross Merchandise Volume) as published by Cnova 3,899 3,646
EBITDA 69 39
o/w Cdiscount group 68 41
o/w Holding companies 1 2

E-commerce, gross merchandise volume (“GMV”) came to
€3.9 billion, a year-on-year increase of 9.1%" on an organic basis.
The marketplace’s contribution was up 3.7 points at 38.1%* of GMV.
Cdiscount’s B2C services contributed 3.4 points® to GMV growth.

The contribution of mobile solutions to GMV was 5.5 points higher,
at 49.5%%). Cdiscount consolidated its status as the number two
player in France in terms of monthly unique visitors, with around
20 million unique visitors a month.

The international platform continued to expand, with year-on-year
growth of 85% in the fourth quarter of 2019

E-commerce (Cdiscount) EBITDA margin improved by 153 basis
points to reach EBITDA of €69 million (3.5% of net sales), an increase
of €30 million driven primarily by the marketplace and by increased
monetisation revenue in both B2B and B2C services.

(1) MWp, Mega-Watt peak: maximum electrical power that can be supplied by a photovoltaic system under standard conditions.

(2) Hybridisation: solar power generation with a battery-powered storage system.

(3) Data published by the subsidiary.
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2.1.0. Latam Retail

(€ millions, post-IFRS 16)

Net sales 16,358 15,577
EBITDA 1,104 1,217
EBITDA margin 6.8% 7.8%
Trading profit 612 758
Trading margin 3.7% 4.9%

Latam Retail net sales were €16,358 million in 2019, up 9.7% on
an organic basis and 4.0% on a same-store basis excluding fuel and
calendar effects.

Sales by GPA Food in Brazil rose 11.0% on an organic basis and 3.2%
on a same-store basis, excluding fuel and calendar effects.

e Assai (Cash & Carry) sales were up 21.9%") on an organic basis,
buoyed by the excellent results of the 22 stores opened in the year and
store expansions in previous years, as well as by a good same-store
performance. Retail space increased by 20%(. Assai now represents
over 51% of GPA’s sales in Brazil, underlining the pertinence of
its business model. Over the past five years, the Company’s net
sales have tripled and it now has a market share of 28.5%", arise of
750 basis points over the period.

e Multivarejo continues to optimise its store portfolio. 92 Extra
Super stores, or 70% of the portfolio, were converted in the year,
bringing the total to 100 Mercado Extra stores and 28 Compre Bem
stores. 20 Pao de Acucar stores were renovated this year, bringing
the total number of new-generation stores to 46, representing 40%”
of the banner’s sales. In the convenience format, 10 new Minuto
Pao de Acucar stores were opened. Sales have now been on an
uptrend for seven consecutive quarters. A new segmentation of
the Hypermarchés Extra store portfolio has been established,
separating out high-performing stores from stores to be optimised
in the portfolio. These stores may be ultimately converted to the
Assai format or may be sold.

GPA continued to pursue its omnichannel strategy. The food
E-commerce format reported annual growth of 40%", led by
expansion of express delivery and click & collect services. James
Delivery is now up and running in 19 towns and cities.

Exito net sales were up by 6.2% on an organic basis and by 6.0% on
a same-store basis, buoyed by the success of the Exito Wow, Carulla
Fresh Market and Surtimayorista formats. Growth in E-commerce
in Colombia picked up pace, at 37%.

Trading profit from Latin American operations, excluding tax credits
and currency effects, remained virtually stable at €612 million. At
GPA, Multivarejo’s trading margin was impacted by investments
in promotional campaigns, while Assafs trading margin excluding
tax credits inched up by approximately 0.2 point. At Grupo Exito,
trading margin improved by around o.2 point, led by the success of
new concepts and E-commerce. Trading profit from Latin American
operations including tax credits and currency effects declined by 19.3%
owing to the absence of tax credits in 2019 and a negative currency
impact of almost 4%.

2.1.6. Overview of the consolidated financial statements

Pursuant to European Commission Regulation 1606/2002 of
19 July 2002, the consolidated financial statements of Casino Group
have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) as adopted by the European Union as of the
date of approval of the financial statements by the Board of Directors
and applicable at 31 December 2019.

The accounting methods described in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements have been applied continuously across the
periods presented in the consolidated financial statements.

These standards are available on the European Commission’s
website: https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/
company-reporting-and-auditing/company-reporting/
financial-reporting_en.

(1) Data published by the subsidiary.
(2) Excluding fuel and calendar effects.
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NET SALES

Consolidated net sales amounted to €34,645 million in 2019, versus
€34,329 million in 2018, a total rise of 0.9%, organic growth of 4.2%*
and same-store growth of 2.2%).

Changes in consolidation scope had a negative impact of 0.8%. The
currency effect and hyperinflation had a negative impact of 1.9%.

A more detailed review of changes in net sales can be found above in
the review of each of the Group’s three business segments.


https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/company-reporting-and-auditing/company-reporting/financial-reporting_en
https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/company-reporting-and-auditing/company-reporting/financial-reporting_en
https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/company-reporting-and-auditing/company-reporting/financial-reporting_en

TRADING PROFIT

Consolidated trading profit came to €1,292 million in 2019 versus
€1,364 million in 2018, a change of -5.3% as reported and -3.1% at
constant exchange rates.

A more detailed review of changes in trading profit can be found
above in the review of each of the Group’s three business segments.

Other operating income and expenses amounted to a net expense of
€719 million in 2019 versus a net expense of €402 million in 2018. This
item decreased for the combined Latam and E-commerce segments.

In France, other operating income and expenses represented a
net expense of €619 million. The increase in non-recurring costs is
mainly non-cash (€200 million) and is related to the disposal plan.
Cash expenses under the Rocade plan (€95 million) were funded by
disposals of the Group’s loss-making stores. Excluding the Rocade plan,
restructuring costs fell sharply (down 50% on 2018 and 75% on 2016).

The net expense of €292 million in France in 2018 corresponded
mainly to restructuring costs incurred to complete the major store
transformation plans.

NET FINANCIAL EXPENSE AND
PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX

Net financial expense totalled €750 million in 2018 (€676 million
in 2018), reflecting:

e net finance costs of €356 million versus €320 million in 2018;

o other net financial expenses of €394 million, compared with other
net financial expenses of €356 million in 2018.

Underlying net financial expense for the period came to €716 million
(€448 million excluding interest expense on lease liabilities) versus
€629 million in 2018 (€411 million excluding interest expense on
lease liabilities). In France, the underlying net financial expense
excluding interest expense on lease liabilities is stable. The underlying
net financial expense in E-commerce is stable versus 2018. In Latin
America, net financial expense increased in line with the financing
of GPA in the context of the takeover bid on Exito.

Profit (loss) before tax was a loss of €176 million in 2019 (versus a
profit of €286 million in 2018).
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NET PROFIT (LOSS),
GROUP SHARE

Income tax was €137 million versus €188 million in 2018.

The Group’s share of profit of equity-accounted investees was
€46 million (€60 million in 2018).

Non-controlling interests in profit from continuing operations
came to €116 million compared to €218 million in 2018. Excluding
non-recurring items, underlying non-controlling interests were
€157 million in 2019 versus €267 million in 2018.

Profit (loss) from continuing operations, Group share came to
aloss of €384 million, compared with a loss of €60 million in 2018,
reflecting an increase in non-recurring non-cash costs relating to
the disposal plan.

Profit (loss) from discontinued operations, Group share was a
loss of €1,048 million, compared with a loss of €57 million in 2018,
mainly due to goodwill impairment.

Consolidated net profit (loss), Group share amounted to a loss
of €1,432 million, versus a loss of €117 million in 2018.

Underlying net profit from continuing operations, Group share
totalled €212 million, compared with €327 million in 2018 mainly due
to a decrease in trading profit in Brazil related to the absence of tax
credits and a change in tax expense in France due to lower activations
of tax loss carryforwards than in 2018 (notably Cdiscount) and the
transformation of the CICE into a taxable social expense.

Diluted underlying earnings per share stood at €1.62, versus
€257 in 2018.

FINANCIAL POSITION

Casino Group consolidated net debt stood at €4.1 billion at
31 December 2019 versus €3.4 billion at 31 December 2018. The
increase in consolidated net debt reflects the net impact of the
reorganisation in Latin America (repurchase of Exito’s share in GPA
by Casino, GPAs takeover bid for Exito), while France net debt®
decreased to €2.3 billion (versus €2.7 billion at end-2018) and
E-commerce debt was close to stable.

(1) Casino Group’s holding structure, including the French activities and the wholly-owned holding companies.
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Cash flow statement for the Group’s continuing operations

(€ millions, post-IFRS 16) M
EBITDA 2,640 2,669
Non-recurring items (401) (257)
Other items (head office expenses, dividends from equity-accounted investees) (67) 2
Cash flow from continuing operations 2,172 2,414
Change in working capital 92 (117)
Income taxes (259) (236)
Net cash (used in) operating activities 2,004 2,061
Investments (gross capex) (1,107) (1,188)
Asset disposals (incl. asset disposal plan) 890 1,230
Net capex (218) 43
Free cash flow" 1,786 2,104

(1) Before dividends paid to owners of the parent and holders of TSSDI deeply-subordinated bonds, before interest.

Free cash flow from continuing operations before dividends
and financial expenses amounted to €1,786 million this year. The
change in working capital was €92 million in 2019 versus a negative
€117 million in 2018.

Consolidated equity, Group share totalled €4,767 million compared
with €6,501 million at end-2018.

¢ 1.7, Alternative performance indicators

The definitions of key non-GAAP indicators are available on the
Group’s website (https://www.groupe-casino.fr/en/investors/
regulated-information/), particularly the underlying net profit as
shown below.

Underlying net profit corresponds to net profit from continuing
operations adjusted for the impact of (i) other operating income
and expenses as defined in the “Significant accounting policies”
section of the notes to the 2019 consolidated financial statements,

At31 December 2019, Casino in France' had €4.0 billion in liquidity,
composed of a gross cash position of €1.7 billion and confirmed
undrawn lines of credit of €2.3 billion. The Group also had
€193 million in an escrow account for the repayment of the bond
that matured in early March 2020.

(ii) non-recurring financial items, (iii) income tax expense/benefits
related to these adjustments, and (iv) the application of IFRIC 23.

Non-recurring financial items include fair value adjustments to
equity derivative instruments (such as total return swaps related to
GPA shares) and the effects of discounting Brazilian tax liabilities.

Underlying profit is a measure of the Group’s recurring profitability.

m 2018 Underlying 2018 Underlying
(€ millions, post-IFRS 16) (restated) items WIUTEYAYUTE  underlying items
TRADING PROFIT 1,292 1,364 0 1,292 1,364 0
Other operating income and expense (719) (402) 402 0 0 719
OPERATING PROFIT 574 962 402 1,292 1,364 719
Net finance costs (356) (320) 0 (356) (320) 0
Other financial income and expenses” (394) (356) 47 (360) (310) 34
Income tax® (137) (188) (13) (253) (201) (116)
Share of profit of equity-accounted investees 46 60 0 46 60 0
NET PROFIT (LOSS) (268) 159 436 369 595 637
FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Attributable to minority interests® 116 218 49 157 267 41
Group share (384) (60) 387 212 327 596

(1) Other financial income and expenses have been restated, primarily for the impact of discounting tax liabilities, as well as for changes in the fair value of total

return swaps.

(2) Income tax has been restated for the tax impact of the restated items listed above.
(3) Non-controlling interests have been restated for the amounts relating to the restated items listed above.

(1) Casino Group’s holding structure, including the French businesses and wholly-owned holding companies.
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.. FIRST-QUARTER 2020 NET SALES

The first quarter of 2020 was marked by the Covid-19 epidemic,
which impacted all geographies and businesses, resulting in an
unprecedented growth in demand directed at food retailing,
and particularly for the Group’s formats (convenience, urban
stores and E-commerce).

Several specific measures were introduced to meet the Group’s
core mission of securing food supply for people:

e Employee protection, including mass distribution of face masks,
gloves and hydro-alcoholic gels to employees in stores and
warehouses;

o Customer protection and adaptation of service to meet
their specific needs: protective measures in stores, accelerated
deployment of automated check-outs (45% in hypermarkets and
36% in supermarkets in February-March 2020), capacity uplift for
home delivery, click & collect and Drive to reach 20,000 orders per
day versus 6,500 at the beginning of the quarter;

e Secured logistics organisation, in cooperation with suppliers, to
meet demand without significant shortages.

In France, urban formats, convenience and E-commerce, which

constitute the core of the Group’s business model, have seen

particularly high levels of demand since mid-March.

Change in nef sales

In first-quarter 2020, EBITDA for the combined France and
Cdiscount scope rose by €67 million from first-quarter 2019,
notably driven by the additional business generated since mid-March.
Over a rolling 12-month period, EBITDA for this scope totalled
€1,602 million (€948 million net of rent paid).

As communicated on 20 March 2020, Casino Group has signed an
agreement with Aldi France for the sale of Leader Price stores and
warehouses in mainland France, for €735 million (including a
€35 million earn-out). Preparatory work for the closing has been
initiated and is ongoing.

In Latin America, the Group saw an acceleration in business in
Brazil and Colombia as well as across all formats, with growth of
14.0% for the quarter.

The financial indicators defined in the bond documentation
(EBITDA, gross debt and net cash at 31 March in France and Latin
America) will be communicated in a dedicated press release to be
published following GPA’s publication of its first-quarter results.

First-quarter 2020 Total net Organic net Same-store
Net sales (€ millions) net sales sales growth sales growth® net sales growth®
France Retail 3,885 -0.6% +3.1% +5.8%
Cdiscount 449 -5.8% -5.8% -5.8%
Total France 4,334 -1.2% +2.0% +4.0%
Latam Retail 3,960 -0.4% +14.0% +8.5%
TOTAL GROUP 8,294 -0.8% +7.9% +6.4%
Cdiscount GMV® 900 -0.7% 0.0% na.

(1) Excluding fuel and calendar effects.
(2) Data published by the subsidiary.

In first-quarter 2020, the currency effect was a negative 6.9% and the fuel effect a negative 0.6%. Changes in scope of consolidation had a negative

impact of 1.8%. The calendar effect was a positive 0.6%.
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Business review

FRANCE RETAIL

Net sales Total Organic Same-store Total Organic Same-store
by banner Q42019 growth growth® growth® 1) B 70) growth growth® growth®
Monoprix 1,232 0.0% +0.9% +0.2% 1,156 +3.3% +2.3% +3.6%
Supermarkets 775 -2.9% -2.5% +0.4% 747 +3.2% +4.9% +74%
o/w Casino Supermarkets® 737 -3.3% -2.7% +0.4% 711 +3.2% +5.0% +75%
Franprix 386 -4.9% -3.3% +0.6% 412 +8.0% +7.8% +12.6%
Convenience & Other® 607 -9.6% -4.8% -1.0% 622 -1.5% +3.0% +9.5%
o/w Convenience® 297 -13% -14% -0.3% 336 +8.8% +7.8% +11.5%
Hypermarkets 1,164 -6.3% -0.2% -0.5% 948 -10.0% -0.7% +1.7%
o/w Géant® 1,110 -6.6% -0.2% -0.7% 900 -10.9% -1.3% +1.5%

o/w food 720 -12.7% n.a. -0.5% 631 -9.1% n.a. +2.9%

o/w non-food 158 -3.4% n.a. -4.2% 97 -18.8% n.a. -8.1%
FRANCE RETAIL 4,164 -4.3% -1.2% 0.0% 3,885 -0.6% +3.1% +5.8%

(1) Excluding fuel and calendar effects.

(2) Excluding Codim stores in Corsica: eight supermarkets and four hypermarkets.

(3) Other: mainly Vindémia, Geimex and Cafeterias.

(4) Net sales on a same-store basis include the same-store performance of franchised stores.

In France, total sales for the quarter came to €3,885 million, an
increase of 5.8% on a same-store basis. In France, urban banners,
convenience and E-commerce have been in particularly high
demand since the lockdown began on 17 March. The E-commerce
business recorded same-store growth of 43% for the quarter, and a
threefold increase in activity over the last four weeks™, particularly
led by home delivery, Drive and click & collect solutions.

In the context of the Covid-19 epidemic, the banners are mobilising
their resources to meet the food supply needs of communities while
also protecting the health of employees and customers:

e Asignificantnumber of hygiene measures have been implemented
in stores: distribution of face masks and hydro-alcoholic gels to
employees, installation of plexiglas screens at check-outs, distancing
between customers and promotion of automatic payment solutions;

e E-commerce solutions in particular have been strengthened,
allowing the Group to address very strong customer demand;

e Lastly, initiatives to help the most vulnerable and exposed
populations have been launched: donation of 2 million masks
for the benefit of caregivers, shopping hours reserved for over-65s
and healthcare professionals, toll-free telephone orders for home
deliveries, ready-to-deliver baskets, and a programme for donating
spare change to non-profit Secours Populaire and the AP-HP
university hospital foundation.

(1) Data over the last four weeks, as at 20 April 2020.
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Business review by banner:

e Monoprix reported same-store sales growth of 3.6%. The
E-commerce segment was particularly strong, buoyed by Amazon
Prime Now and a sharp increase in orders in March through
Monoprix.fr, with rapid growth in click & collect solutions. The
banner has developed a priority delivery service for orders by
hospital professionals, which has benefited more than 1,000 people.
Expansion continued with the opening of 8 new stores during the
quarter (Monop’ and Naturalia). The O’logistique warehouse in
Fleury-Mérogis — based on Ocado’s robotic technology - went into
service in a test version on 18 March 2020. The service will be open
to the public in the coming weeks.

e Casino Supermarkets, which benefit from their urban positioning,
reported growth of 7.5% on a same-store basis, with an
acceleration since the end of March that lifted growth to 15%
over the last four weeks'". The E-commerce business was boosted
by an acceleration in the Drive segment, with 35 new locations
opened during the quarter, the roll-out of home delivery in more
than 65 cities (i.e, an additional 15 over the period), and a new
partnership with Uber Eats. In addition, the banner continued to
develop autonomous stores, with 142 such stores to date, of which
42 new deployments in the first quarter.

o Sales at Franprix, which benefits from a very dense urban network
and a well-adapted offering, rose by 12.6% on a same-store basis,
accelerating to 26% over the last four weeks. The banner enhanced
its E-commerce solutions with click & collect and home delivery
services. A toll-free telephone number was set up to deliver baskets
of basic necessities to people in difficulty.



o Salesin the Convenience segment, which benefits from the densest
store network in France, rose by 11.5% on a same-store basis over
the quarter, accelerating to 40% over the last four weeks".
E-commerce solutions were deployed within the different networks,
with a click & collect service available in 364 stores.

e Géant Hypermarkets sales grew by 1.5% on a same-store basis,
of which 2.9% in food. In an environment that has been more
challenging in France for large hypermarkets since the lockdown®),
the banner benefited in relative terms from stores with adapted retail
space and the acceleration in the Drive segment. A home delivery
solution was also developed in around 41 cities (i.e., an additional
12 over the period) and a partnership with Uber Eats was established.
Lastly, the development of autonomous stores continued, with
39 such stores to date, of which 20 deployed in the first quarter.

GREENYELLOW

First-quarter 2020 confirmed GreenYellow’s growth momentum
in its photovoltaic and energy efficiency businesses, with further
diversification of its customer portfolio in all geographies (including
Groupe SEB in Colombia, Valeo in Thailand, and four new projects
in Madagascar).

DATA AND DATA CENTERS

RelevanC (Data) continued to enjoy good momentum. Its gross
sales under banner reached €20 million, an increase of 92% for the
quarter led by advertising. The Retail Tech business notably rolled
out its paperless catalogue offering.

ScaleMax (Data Center) acquired new customers during the quarter,
signing contracts with startups Flying Whales and Ascendance Flight
Technology. In addition, Casino took part in the €6 million fundraising
of Qarnot computing, its partner in the ScaleMax joint venture and a
high-performance computing specialist.

(1) Data over the last four weeks, as at 20 April 2020.
(2) See data from Nielsen and Kantar panelists.

(3) Data since the beginning of April, as at 20 April 2020, based on placed orders.
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CDISCOUNT

In the current environment, Cdiscount is fully operational and has
reported solid current trading in recent weeks:

o The subsidiary is fully operational: head office staff are working
from home and all of the 10 warehouses are operational, with strict
sanitary measures in place;

e Cdiscount launched initiatives to quickly meet customer
demand in terms of both home delivery solutions and the product
offerings, where the focus during this period has been placed on
essential products (home-working equipment, home-based
activities, non-perishable grocery items, personal & beauty care,
childcare, home cleaning products, and pet products);

e Strong business in recent weeks, with a sharp improvement
in GMV and profitability lifted by growth in the marketplace
and higher margin categories:

- Since the beginning of April®: GMV grew by 40%, of which 19%
in direct sales and 69% in marketplace sales, which represent
50.7% of GMV (up 8.7 points vs. 2019). The direct sales margin is
up 9.9 points, driven by product mix improvement.

e Cdiscount launched solidarity campaigns, with (i) the order of
60 million face masks dedicated to local authorities and SMEs,
(i) the donation of 60,000 face masks to medical establishments
and of tablets and computers to people under lockdown, and
(iii) assistance to French SMEs, with the simplification of the
marketplace sign-up procedure and six months’ free membership.

In the first quarter, Cdiscount’s GMV totalled €900 million, which
was stable for the quarter”. Business rebounded in March
after a difficult start to the year for the market as a whole due to the
shorter winter sales season and a slowdown in the marketplace over
the first two months following containment measures, first in China
and then in Europe.

e Over the quarter, the marketplace contribution continued to
grow to 38.3% of GMV (an increase of 2.4 points on 2019), led by
the Fulfillment by Cdiscount service, which advanced 30% on the
back of a 6.3-point increase in its GMV share.

o GMV from services increased 2.4-fold over the first two months
of the year, led by travel (3.3-fold increase in January-February)
and energy (up 50% in the first quarter), which now has more than
100,000 customers.

The international platform continued to expand, with GMV
up 57%. Cdiscount has 73 connected websites, i.e., 26 more than at
end-2019, and delivers in 25 European countries.

(4) Organic growth: the figures include showroom sales and services but exclude sales of technical goods and home category sales made in Casino Group
hypermarkets and supermarkets (total exclusion impact of +0.7 points on GMV growth).
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Reported
Key figures®” Q12019 m growth® Organic growth®
GMV total including tax® 906 900 -0.7% 0.0%
o/w direct sales 493 452 -8.3%
o/w marketplace sales 280 285 +15%
Marketplace contribution (%) 35.9% 38.3% +2.4 pts
Net sales (€ millions) 527 493 -6.4% -5.7%
Traffic (millions of visits) 255 247 -3.2%
Mobile traffic contribution (%) 68.4% 72.2% +3.8 pts
Active customers (millions)™¥ 9.1 9.1 +0.9%

(1) Unaudited data published by Cnova NV. The reported figures present all revenues generated by Cdiscount, including its technical goods sales in Casino Group’s

hypermarkets and supermarkets.

(2) Organic growth: the figures include showroom sales and services but exclude sales of technical goods and home category sales made in Casino Group hypermarkets

and supermarkets (total exclusion impact of +0.7 pts on GMV growth).

(3) Gross merchandise volume (GMV) includes sales of merchandise, other revenues and the marketplace’s sales volume based on confirmed and shipped orders,

including tax, and the sales volume of services.

(4) Active customers at the end of March having purchased at least once through Cdiscount sites and app during the previous 12 months.

LATAM RETAIL

Sales™ at the Group's businesses in Latin America (GPA Food and
Exito) rose by 8.5% on a same-store basis and 14.0% on an organic
basis this quarter, marked by an acceleration in sales in the last two
weeks of March in all formats due to the Covid-19 epidemic.

In this context, the Group has implemented measures in all of its
geographies and banners to protect its customers and employees,
including at GPA the distribution of face masks and hydro-alcoholic
gels to employees, and the installation of panels and distance lines
at checkouts.

e Net sales in Brazil (GPA Food)® advanced 15.0% on an organic
basis this quarter:

- Assai reported strong organic growth of 23.8% driven by the
format's attractiveness and successful expansion strategy, with
40 new stores opened during the past 24 months. The banner’s
same-store growth was 7.1% despite the high basis of comparison
(10.7% in first-quarter 2019). Openings are set to continue, with
14 stores under construction and three hypermarkets in the
process of conversion;

- Multivarejo, up 6.6% on a same-store basis, was led by renovated
formats:

- Pao de Acticar benefited from 14% growth at 46 renovated
stores, which represented 40% of the banner’s net sales;

- the Compre Bem and Mercado Extra banners delivered
very strong same-store growth of 42% and 11%, respectively;

- The Convenience formats confirmed their success with
same-store growth of 22.5% despite a high basis of comparison
(20% in first-quarter 2019);

(1) Consolidated net sales were impacted by a 14.5% currency effect.
(2) Data published by the subsidiary.
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- The 70 most dynamic Extra Hypermarkets reported a strong
performance lifted by promotional campaigns for private-label
brands and the attractiveness of the Clube Extra app. The
banner continued to optimise its store base with the closure
of five stores, of which three for conversion to the Assai format;

- the subsidiary continued to pursue its digital strategy and
reported 82% growth in food E-commerce and a rising
penetration rate, particularly at Pao de Acticar.

The Covid-19 epidemic has had an impact on sales across all
geographies and banners from mid-March (14 to 31 March).
In-store sales increased by 16% and food E-commerce saw a 150%
increase in orders over the period. Food delivery solutions James
Delivery and Cheftime recorded very strong levels of business,
with increases in the number of orders of 862% and 90%, respectively.

The banner reaffirmed its store expansion, renovation and
conversion plan, whose schedule will be adjusted depending
on the Covid-19 crisis.

Net sales of Exito Group® rose by 12.1% on a same-store basis

this quarter:

e Colombia: 9.7% growth on a same-store basis, led by Exito’s
anniversary campaign and an increase in business since mid-March
across all banners further to lockdown;

e Uruguay: 11.8% growth on a same-store basis, thanks to a dynamic
tourism sector and an increase in sales from mid-March due to the
Covid-19 epidemic;

e Argentina: 46.0% growth on a same-store basis despite a difficult
economic environment, with growth beating inflation in the Hyper
and Convenience formats and a buoyant E-commerce segment.
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2.3, REGENT EVENTS

Information provided by Rallye, the Group's
lead shareholder, regarding the approval of
its safeguard plan and the safeguard plans
of its subsidiaries

Casino, Guichard-Perrachon was informed by its lead shareholder
Rallye that on 28 February the Paris commercial court approved the
safeguard plans for Rallye and its subsidiaries Cobivia, HMB and
Alpétrol, and for their parent companies, Fonciere Euris, Finatis and
Euris. Casino Group noted the court’s decisions, which require these
companies to comply with specified financial commitments as from
2023. (See section 4.5 Safeguard proceedings at the Group's parent
companies for further information.)

Signing of an agreement between Gasino
Group and Aldi France for the sale of Leader
Price sfores and warehouses in mainland
France for €735 million

On 20 March 2020, the Group announced that it had signed a unilateral
purchase agreement with Aldi France to sell 567 Leader Price stores
and 3 Leader Price warehouses in France for an enterprise value of
€735 million (including an earn-out of €35 million contingent on the
achievement of certain operating indicators during the transaction
period). Under this agreement, the transferred Leader Price stores will
develop under the Aldi banner. Casino Group retains ownership of
the Leader Price brand and will continue to operate it under certain
conditions agreed with Aldi, in France and internationally.

CASINO GROUP
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2.4. QUTLOOK

Firstidentified in the Asia-Pacific region, the Covid-19 epidemic has
spread rapidly to the rest of the world during the first few months
of 2020, prompting governments to take drastic health measures
to control the spread of the virus (closure of schools, lockdowns,
travel and mobility restrictions, closure of public places, etc.). These
measures are having a huge economic impact in every country in
which the Group operates.

In this exceptional context, Casino Group is fully committed to
secure the supply of populations, while ensuring the protection of
employees and clients.

The Group’s strengths (convenience, E-commerce, automatic
payment solutions) are being deployed to meet customers’ needs
in the safest possible manner.

The Group will pursue the accelerated adaptation of its operating
processes and the development of new offers responding to the
current unprecedented situation.

Further to the release ofits first-quarter 2020 net sales, Casino Group
has provided the following updates on current trading:

o In the food banners, growth stood at 9% and 12% excluding
hypermarkets over the last four weeks'”;

o Cdiscount has recorded a 40% increase in GMV since 1 April®, of
which 19% in direct sales and 69% in marketplace sales, raising
the marketplace contribution to 50.7% of GMV.

Apart from the initial stockpiling effect, this growth is attributable to
a shift in food consumption towards home consumption, leading
to additional demand for food retailers, more specifically towards
convenience and urban store formats, as well as E-commerce.

(1) Data over the last four weeks, as at 20 April 2020, excluding Vindémia.

(2) Data since the beginning of April, as at 20 April 2020, based on placed orders.

Sales in the last four weeks") grew 24% on average at Franprix,
Casino Supermarkets, and Convenience stores, which have
seen a surge in new customers, and triple-figure growth in food
E-commerce, especially in home delivery by Monoprix (Monoprix.fr
and Amazon Prime Now).

After a difficult start to the year for the market as a whole, Cdiscount
has seen a major acceleration in its business since March, with
GMV growth reaching 40% for April, with an assortment adapted
to customer demand in the non-food segment and the development
of a new basic food offering. This growth has come with improved
profitability, driven by the rise in the marketplace contribution to
50.7%® of GMV in April, and an increase in the margin on direct
sales of 9.9 points®, driven by an improved product mix.

In these extremely volatile circumstances, no significant factors have
come to light that cast doubt on the objectives previously announced
by the Group. However, out of prudence and in light of the uncertain
macroeconomic and social impact of Covid-19 over the next year®,
the Group is no longer able to define specific objectives for 2020-2021,
as explained in its full-year 2019 results press release.

The Group remains focused on all of the strategic priorities already
communicated to the market in terms of cost savings, the management
ofinvestments and inventories, targeted expansion (convenience and
premium formats, E-commerce, new businesses), and disposal plans.

In the context of the Covid-19 pandemic, Casino Group is more focused
than ever on fulfilling its core mission of ensuring that all communities
have uninterrupted food supplies while taking the necessary measures
to protect the health of its employees and customers in all workplaces
and areas open to the public.

(3) Note in particular the postponement of INSEE and Banque de France macroeconomic projections to June.
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.9. PARENT COMPANY INFORMATION

2.5.1. Business

Casino, Guichard-Perrachon, parent company of Casino Group, is a
holding company. Its activities consist of defining and implementing
the Group’s development strategy and coordinating the businesses
of the various subsidiaries, acting jointly with their respective
management teams. The Company also manages a portfolio of brands,
designs and models licensed to the subsidiaries and is responsible
for overseeing the proper application of Group legal and accounting
rules by the subsidiaries.

The significant events of the year are presented in section 1 of the
introduction to the notes to the 2019 parent company financial
statements (see section 2.7 of Chapter 2).

In 2019, the Company reported net sales (excluding taxes) of
€166.2 million, versus €168.0 million in 2018, corresponding mainly
to trademark and banner royalties, as well as services billed to
subsidiaries.

The Company does not have any branches or specific research and
development activities.

2.9.2. Comments on the parent company financial stafements

The parent company financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Regulation No. 2014-03 issued by the French
accounting standards setter (Autorité des normes comptables — ANC)
on French generally accepted accounting principles, updated by ANC
Regulation no. 2018-01 of 20 April 2018.

The accounting policies applied for the year ended 31 December 2019
are consistent with those used for the previous year.

These principles and policies are described in the notes to the
financial statements, which also include a detailed analysis of the main
balance sheet and income statement items, as well as movements
during the year.

At31 December 2019, the Company had total assets of €20,457.9 million
and equity of €8,489.7 million.

Non-current assets amounted to €17,853.2 million, mainly
corresponding to long-term investments.

At 31 December 2018, total liabilities stood at €10,364.6 million, versus
€8,324.9 million at 31 December 2018. A breakdown of loans and
other borrowings as well as net debt is provided in Note 13 to the
parent company financial statements. Excluding the new financing
arrangements (the new revolving credit facility (RCF), Term Loan B
and the high-yield bond issue, Casino, Guichard-Perrachon’s debt is
not secured by collateral.

At 31 December 2019, the Casino, Guichard-Perrachon’s liquidity
position comprised:

e confirmed, undrawn lines of credit for a total of €2,220 million, the
entire amount of which is due in more than one year;

e available cash totalling €194 million (of which €193 million held
in escrow).

Casino, Guichard-Perrachon had the following financing facilities

at 31 December 2019:

e unsecured bonds for €3,879 million;

e Term Loan B for €1,000 million.
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As required by Article L. 441-6-1 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce), the following table sets out supplier and customer

payment terms:

Invoices received and due but not yet
settled at the year-end (Art.D. 441 L-1°)

Invoices issued and due but not yet
settled at the year-end (Art. D. 441 L-2°)

Total Total
1to 3lto  6lto 90+  (1day 1to  3lto  6lto 90+  (1day
(€ thousands) 0days 30days 60days 90 days days ormore) Odays 30days 60days 90 days days or more)
(A) Overdue invoices by period
Total 0 81 0 61
Number of invoices
o/w Group 0 9 0 56
concerned
o/w non-Group 0 72 0 5
Total value including ~ Total 1 798 408  (18) 78 1,267 0 4420 2149 539 1,072 8180
taxes of the invoices o/w Group 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 4409 2149 539 1,072 8,169
concerned o/w non-Group 0 798 408 (18) 78 1,267 0 1 0 0 0 1
Percentageof otal  Total 0% 1% 1% 0% 1% 2%
purchases excluding  o/w Group 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
taxes for the year o/w non-Group 0% 1% 1% 0% 0% 2%
Percentage of et Total 0% 4% 1% 0% 1% 6%
sales (excluding taxes)  o/w Group 0% 1% 0% 0% 0% 1%
for the year o/w non-Group 0% 3% 1% 0% 1% 5%
(B) Invoices excluded from (A) because they are disputed or not recognised in the financial statements
Total 2 3
Number of invoices o/w Grou 0 |
excluded P
o/w non-Group 2 2
Total value including Total 53 115
taxes of the invoices o/w Group 0 115
excluded o/w non-Group 53 0

(C) Benchmark contractual or statutory payment terms used - Article L. 441-6 or L. 443-1 of the French Commercial Code

Payment terms used
to determine overdue invoices

Statutory: 60 days
from invoice date

Contractual: quarterly invoicing
with advance payment

(1) Of which a credit note to be issued for €205 thousand.

In 2019, the Company reported an operating profit of €3.8 million,
versus an operating loss of €4.1 million in 2018.

Net financial expense came in at €465.3 million, versus net financial
income of €86.8 million one year earlier. The main movements in
provisions in 2019 were as follows:

e amortisation of bond redemption premiums for €24.6 million;

e impairment losses on investments in subsidiaries and associates in
an amount of €1,669.5 million, including Distribution Casino France
(€1,578.3 million) and Vindémia (€84.4 million);

e reversal of the provision for losses on the total return swap (TRS)
on GPA shares for €3.0 million;

o reversal of the provision for losses on the total return swap (TRS)
on Mercialys shares for €28.9 million.

The recurring loss before tax came in at €461.5 million, versus recurring
income before tax of €82.7 million in 2018.

2.5.3. Non-deductible expenses

In accordance with the disclosures required by Article 223 quater
of the French General Tax Code (Code général des impéts), the
2019 parent company financial statements include an amount of
€18,211 corresponding to non-deductible depreciation recognised

CASINO GROUP

Non-recurring expense amounted to €214.8 million, versus
non-recurring income of €1,050.6 million in 2018, mainly comprising:

o the provision for losses corresponding to the adjusted negative net
worth of Casino Restauration for €90.5 million;

e costs relating to litigation and measures to defend the Group's
interests for €30.9 million;

e expenses relating to the Company’s refinancing for €54.6 million
(see Significant events of the year);

e restructuring costs totalling €7.9 million;

e expenses relating to changes in the scope of consolidation for
€24.6 million, mainly corresponding to expenses incurred in
simplifying the Group’s structure in Latin America (see Significant
events of the year).

The loss before tax was €676.3 million, versus a profit before tax of
€1,133.3 million in 2018.

The net loss for the year was €321.2 million, versus a net profit of
€1,538.0 million in 2018.

against passenger vehicles pursuant to paragraph 4 of Article 39 of
the French General Tax Code. Tax in respect of said expenses and
charges amounted to €5,831.
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.. SUBSIDIARIES AND AS3OCIATES

The business performance of the main subsidiaries and controlled
companies is described on pages 24 to 27.

Alist of consolidated companies is provided on pages 148 and 149.

Information on Casino, Guichard-Perrachon’s subsidiaries and
associates is provided on pages 179 and 180.

2.6.1. Investments made and control acquired in 2019

The direct interests and direct or indirect control acquired as a result of
company formations, acquisitions and merger-related asset transfers
in France in 2019 were as follows:

CASINO PARTICIPATIONS FRANCE
GROUP

Adethur (100%), Casasam (100%), Dinaly (100%), Lyskah (100%),
Moyoz (100%), Phoenix (50%) and Vianesile (100%).

m GreenYellow sub-group

Acsol 1 (100%), Acsol 2 (100%), Irsol 1 (100%), Irsol 2 (100%),
GreenYellow Antilles 1 (100%), GreenYellow Antilles 2 (100%),
GreenYellow Antilles 3 (100%), GreenYellow Antilles 4 (100%),
GreenYellow Antilles 5 (100%), GreenYellow Energy Supply &
Services France (100%), Spv Pv 17 (100%), Spv Pv 18 (100%), Spv Pv
19 (100%), Spv Pv 20 (100%), Spv Pv 21 (100%), Spv Pv 22 (100%), Spv
Pv 23 (100%), Thermique Solutions Industrie Commerce (100%),
Thermique Solutions Industrie Commerce 2 (100%), Thermique
Solutions Industrie Commerce 3 (100%), Thermique Solutions
Industrie Commerce 4 (100%) and Thermique Solutions Industrie
Commerce 5 (100%).

= LImmobiliere Groupe Casino sub-group

Parking HM Albertville (99.02%), Parking HM Annonay (99.02%),
Parking HM Larmor (99.02%), Parking HM Mandelieu (99.02%),
Parking HM Marseille Valentine (99.02%), Parking HM Montpellier
Celleneuve (99.02%), Parking HM Oyonnax (99.02%), Parking SM Aix
en Provence StJérome (99.02%), Parking SM Antibes Badine (99.02%),
Parking SM Canet en Roussillon (99.02%), Parking SM Cannes La
Bocca (99.02%), Parking SM Cannes Pont des Gabres (99.02%), Parking
SM Crest (99.02%), Parking SM Le Pradet (99.02%), Parking SM Le
Rouret (99.02%), Parking SM Marseille Delprat (99.02%), Parking SM
Marseille Michelet (99.02%), Parking SM Mouans Sartoux (99.02%),
Parking SM St Raphaél (99.02%), SE HM Amiens (99.02%), SE HM
Annonay (99.02%), SE HM Aurillac (99.02%), SE HM Auxerre (99.02%),
SE HM Bordeaux Villenave (99.02%), SE HM Larmor (99.02%), SE HM
Mandelieu (99.02%), SE HM Montpellier Celleneuve (99.02%), SE
HM Oyonnax (99.02%), SE HM Villefranche-sur-Saone (99.02%), SE
HM Villeneuve Loubet (99.02%), SE SM Aix en Provence St-Jérome
(99.02%), SE SM Antibes Badine (99.02%), SE SM Canet en Roussillon
(99.02%), SE SM Crest (99.02%), SE SM Le Rouret (99.02%), SE SM
Marseille Michelet (99.02%) and SE SM Mouans Sartoux (99.02%).

CDISCOUNT GROUP

C-Tech (100%), C-Payment (100%) and Maas (100%).

DISTRIBUTION CASINO
FRANCE GROUP

Biot Distribution (100%), Sumacas La Tour Bas Elne (100%) and
Sumacas Sarlat la Caneda (100%).

m Franprix-Leader Price Holding sub-group

Bas Rhin Distribution (100%), Distrileader Macon (100%), Distrivisy
(100%), Elnedis Hard Discount (100%), Estedis (100%), Etablissements
Mesnil (100%), Finadis (100%), Formadine (100%), Fresnes Distribution
(100%), Goussaindis (100%), Holdevmag (100%), Kembs Distribution
(100%), Lauradis (100%), Leader Creusot (100%), Leader Créancey
(100%), Leader Distribution Charente Maritime (100%), Leader
Distribution Chenove (100%), Leader Distribution Fontaine (100%),
Leader Distribution Niepce (100%), Leader Les Ulis (100%), Leader
Price Avranches (100%), Leader Price Belleville (100%), Leader
Price Blois (100%), Leader Price Champagnole (100%), Leader Price
Coromain (100%), Leader Price Denisens (100%), Leader Price
Doubs (100%), Leader Price Essey (100%), Leader Price Feves (100%),
Leader Price Gercor (100%), Leader Price Hirson (100%), Leader Price
Issoudun (100%), Leader Price Laval (100%), Leader Price Loiret
(100%), Leader Price Longuyon (100%), Leader Price Magenta (100%),
Leader Price Montbizot (100%), Leader Price Montmorot (100%),
Leader Price Mormant (100%), Leader Price Mouriere (100%), Leader
Price Mulatiere (100%), Leader Price Neuves Maisons (100%), Leader
Price Orge (100%), Leader Price Ramberviller (100%), Leader Price
Raon (100%), Leader Price Rémy (100%), Leader Price Revin (100%),
Leader Price Roinville (100%), Leader Price Rotrou (100%), Leader
Price Schweighouse (100%), Leader Price Seine Maritime (100%),
Leader Price Sens (100%), Leader Price Thionville (100%), Leader
Price Vaucelles (100%), Leader Price Vverdun (100%), Leader Price
Villers (100%), Leadfi (100%), Leamag (100%), LP Béziers (100%),
LPCazouls (100%), LPNarbonne Nord (100%), LPNarbonne Ouest
(100%), LPNarbonne Sud (100%), LPSauvian (100%), Maffidis (100%),
Mini LP 44 (100%), Mini LP 70 (100%), Minimarché Magasin 3 (100%),
Montbéliard Distribution (100%), Nano Boutique 1 (100%), Natdis
(100%), NewFPmag 18 (100%), Ononys (100%), Papedis (100%),
Pouzadis (100%), RLPG Chateauroux (100%), RLPG Tours (100%), Saint
Thibault Distribution (100%), Socharles Hard Discount (100%), Sodias
(100%), Sodiboulou (100%), Sogebezons (100%), Soultz Distribution
(100%) and Vaillant Dis (100%).

CASINO RESTAURATION GROUP

DG Restauration Traiteur (100%).
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2.0.2. Shareholder agreements

The Company is party to several shareholder agreements. Details of
the most significant agreements are as follows:

FRANPRIX-LEADER PRICE

Call and/or put options have been granted on shares in a number
of companies that are not wholly-owned by the Group. The options,
certain of which are associated with shareholder agreements, are
exercisable for varying periods up to 2032 at a price based on the
operating profits of the companies concerned (see Note 3.4 to the
consolidated financial statements).

ALMACENES EXITO (COLOMBIA)

Casino obtained a controlling interest in Almacenes Exito SA in
May 2007 and has been party to a shareholder agreement since
17 December 2007. The agreement sets out voting rules for electing
Directors and for certain other decisions, the rules on selling shares
and other customary clauses.

On 29 June 2011, Almacenes Exito SA acquired control of the Group's
Uruguay operations under the Disco and Devoto banners and took
a seat on their boards. In December 2011, Almacenes Exito SA and
Casino exchanged call and put options on the minority interests in
Grupo Disco del Uruguay and Devoto Hermanos SA, expiring on
31 August 2021, which are themselves subject to a put option granted
by Casino to the founding Uruguayan families, and expiring on
21 June 2021 (see below).

DISCO URUGUAY GROUP
(URUGUAY)

Casino signed a shareholder agreement with Grupo Disco del
Uruguay's founding families when it acquired a stake in the company
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in September 1998. The agreement expired in September 2008 but the
family shareholders continue to benefit from put options granted by
Casino, exercisable until 21 June 2021. These put options are described
in Note 16 to the parent company financial statements and Note 3.4
to the consolidated financial statements.

Casino sold its majority interests in Grupo Disco del Uruguay and
Devoto Hermanos SA to Almacenes Exito SA on 29 September 2011,
giving Almacenes Exito SA joint control. Under the terms described
above, Casino and Almacenes Exito SA exchanged call and put
options on the minority interests in Grupo Disco del Uruguay held
by the Uruguayan founding families.

Spice Investments Mercosur SA (wholly-owned subsidiary of
Almacenes Exito SA) is party to a shareholder agreement with the
minority shareholders of Disco who under its terms agree not to
pursue activities that could compete with Disco’s food retail business.

As part of this commitment, the minority shareholders gave a guarantee
to Spice Investments Mercosur SA, pledging their shares in Disco.

The shareholder agreement was valid up until 31 December 2016
and was renewed until 30 June 2019, when it expired.

PAO DE ACUCAR GROUP (BRAZIL)

Further to the reorganisation of the ownership structure of Casino
Group's South American assets from 12 September to 27 November
2019, the shareholder agreement between Almacenes Exito SA (“Exito”
and Casino, which had governed the control of Brazilian subsidiary
GPA since the summer of 2015 through Ségisor, is no longer valid
and has been terminated, since Casino now holds the entire share
capital of Ségisor. The put option on the shares held by Exito in GPA
and the entities that make up GPA’s former chain of ownership and
control has also been terminated further to the acquisition of the
shares subject to the put by Casino.
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Assets pledged by the Company or companies in the Group do not represent a material percentage of the Group’s assets (1% of non-current
assets or €206 million). The amount of €206 million does not include the guarantees given in connection with the Group's refinancing transaction
in November 2019 (see Note 11.5.4 to the consolidated financial statements).

2.5.4. Related-party transactions

The Company maintains normal relations with all its subsidiaries in
its day-to-day management of the Group, as described on page 35.

Due to the Group’s legal and operational organisation structure, all or
some of the Group companies may also engage in business relations
or provide services to each other.

The Company also receives strategic support from Euris, the ultimate
holding company, which is chaired by its majority shareholder
Jean-Charles Naouri. Euris provides strategy and development
consultancy services on a permanent basis under an agreement
signed in 2003 and the amendments thereto. The annual amount paid
by the Company for these services in 2019 was €870,000 excluding
taxes, versus €760,000 excluding taxes in 2018.

In accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-40-1 of the French
Commercial Code, the Board of Directors has reviewed the agreements
entered into and authorised in previous years which remained in force
during the past financial year, and concluded that they required no
particular observations.

No agreements were entered into in 2019, directly or through an
intermediary, between a Company subsidiary and (i) the Chief
Executive Officer, (ii) a Director or (iii) a shareholder holding more
than 10% of the Company’s voting rights, other than those pertaining to
ordinary business operations and concluded under arms’length terms.

Detailed information on related-party transactions is provided in
Notes 3.3.6 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements (see
Chapter 2, section 2.6 of this document).

To strengthen the Company’s good governance practices specifically
concerning related-party agreements, in February 2015 the Board of
Directors introduced a formal internal review procedure to be led by
the Audit Committee or by a special-purpose committee concerning
certain agreements and transactions between the Company or one of
its wholly-owned subsidiaries, on the one hand, and a related party on
the other. The procedure, which concerns related-party agreements
in particular, aims to guarantee balanced related-party transactions
and thereby protect minority interests. Further details are provided
in the section Prior review of agreements between related parties by
the Audit Committee, on page 348 of this document.

Further to changes in the legal provisions governing related-party
agreements pursuant to the Pacte Law of 22 May 2019 (Article L. 225-39,
paragraph 2 of the French Commercial Code), at its meeting of
12 December 2019 the Board of Directors, on the unanimous
recommendation of the Governance and Social Responsibility
Committee, tasked the Audit Committee with regularly reviewing
the “arm’s length” agreements entered into by the Company, and also
approved, on the Audit Committee’s recommendation, the terms
of the dedicated charter on identifying and reviewing arm’s length
agreements. This charter sets out the methodology to be used to classify
agreements into arm'’s length and related-party agreements referred
to in Article L. 225.38 of the French Commercial Code. Further details
are provided in the section Regular review by the Audit Committee
of arm’s length agreements entered into by the Company pursuant
to Article L. 225-39, second paragraph, of the French Commercial
Code, on page 349 of this document.
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¢.1. GONSOLIDATED FINANGIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 DECENBER 2013

.11 Statutory Auditors” report on the consolidated financial statements

This is a translation into English of the Statutory Auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements of the Company issued in French
and it is provided solely for the convenience of English-speaking users. This Statutory Auditors’ report includes information specifically
required by European regulations and French law, such as information about the appointment of the Statutory Auditors or verification of
the information concerning the Group presented in the management report. This report should be read in conjunction with, and construed
in accordance with French law and professional auditing standards applicable in France.

Year ended 31 December 2019

To the General Meeting of Shareholders of Casino, Guichard-Perrachon,

OPINION

In compliance with the engagement entrusted to us by the general
meeting of shareholders, we have audited the accompanying
consolidated financial statements of Casino, Guichard-Perrachon
for the year ended 31 December 2019. These consolidated financial
statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 25 March
2020, on the basis of the elements available at that date, in the evolving
context of the health crisis related to Covid-19.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the assets and liabilities and of the financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2019 and of the results of its operations
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.

The audit opinion expressed above is consistent with our report to
the Audit Committee.

BASIS FOR OPINION

= Audit framework

We conducted our audit in accordance with professional standards
applicable in France. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Statutory Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.
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m Independence

We conducted our audit engagement in compliance with
independence rules applicable to us, for the period from 1 January
2019 to the date of our report and specifically we did not provide any
prohibited non-audit services referred to in Article 5(1) of Regulation
(EU) No. 537/2014 or in the French Code of Ethics for Statutory
Auditors (Code de déontologie de la profession de commissaire
aux comptes).

EMPHASIS OF MATTER

We draw attention to the following matter described in Note 1.3
“Changes in accounting methods and restatement of comparative
information” to the consolidated financial statements relating to the
methods of application and the impacts of the first-time application
of standard IFRS 16 “Leases’ the impacts of the entry into force of
interpretation IFRIC 23 “Uncertainty over income tax treatments’,
and the change of presentation of the costs of obtaining a contract.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

JUSTIFICATION OF ASSESSMENTS -
KEY AUDIT MATTERS

In accordance with the requirements of Articles L. 823-9 and R. 823-7
of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce) relating
to the justification of our assessments, we inform you of the key
audit matters relating to risks of material misstatement that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period, as well as
how we addressed those risks.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, as approved in the
above-mentioned context, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on specific items of the
consolidated financial statements.
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m Measurement of assets and liabilities held for sale and of the result of the discontinued

Leader Price operations

Risk identified

Our response

See Note 2 “Significant events of the year” and Note 3.5 “Assets held for sale and discontinued operations”

to the consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2019, the Leader Price assets and liabilities held

for sale amount to €1,362 million and €706 million respectively,
representing net assets amounting to €656 million (approximately 8%
of consolidated shareholders’ equity), and are measured at the lower

of their net carrying amount and their fair value less costs to sell. The
result of the discontinued Leader Price operations in respect of financial
year 2019 is a loss of €1,047 million.

Taking into account the contribution represented by the Leader Price
operations in the consolidated financial statements and the significance
of Management's estimates underlying the determination of:

= (i) The Leader Price assets and liabilities to be presented as assets
and liabilities held for sale, including in particular the allocation of
the goodwill of the Franprix Leader Price group of cash generating
units to the Leader Price operations;

= (ii) The fair value less costs to sell used by the Group’s Management
for the net assets attributable to the Leader Price operations within
the context of the sale process in progress and the proposed
conditions. The fair value used led the Group to recognise

Within the scope of our audit:

= We gained an understanding of the method of allocation of the

Franprix Leader Price goodwill to the activities of Franprix, Leader
Price and Geimex, which is based on the relative values of each of
these activities, and we assessed the compliance of this method with
IAS 36. We assessed the bases on which these relative values were
established and verified the arithmetical accuracy of the calculations
made;

We analysed the conditions of allocation of other assets and
liabilities and the result of the Franprix Leader Price operations to
the Leader Price activities, as well as the underlying agreements used
by Management to perform certain allocations, in particular those
concerning the shared services between Franprix and Leader Price;

= We assessed Management’s estimates necessary for determining

the fair value less expected costs to sell based on (i) the information
available at this stage of the sale process and (ii) the conditions
envisaged by Management, together with the buyer, for the
implementation of the sale;

impairment in the amount of €704 million for financial year 2019; = We verified the methodology of calculation of the impairment loss.

we considered the measurement of the Leader Price net assets held
for sale and the result of the corresponding discontinued operations
to be a key audit matter.

Finally, we assessed the appropriateness of the information disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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= Impairment tests of goodwill and brands

Risk identified

Our response

See Note 3 “Scope of consolidation; Note 10.1 “Goodwill] Note 10.2 “Other intangible assets”
and Note 10.5 “Impairment of non-current assets” to the consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2019, the net carrying amounts of goodwill and
brands with an indefinite useful life recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position amount to €7489 million and

€1,509 million respectively, i.e. approximately 26% of total consolidated
assets.

Within the context of the valuation of these assets, the Group allocates
its goodwill and brands to the groups of cash generating units (CGUs)
as described in Note 10.1.1 to the consolidated financial statements for
the implementation of impairment tests. In 2019, these CGUs take into
account the reorganisation performed by the Group in France, which
led to dividing the Franprix-Leader Price group of CGUs into three
groups of CGUs: Franprix, Leader Price and Geimex.

The impairment tests are performed at least once a year and whenever
a trigger for impairment is identified, according to the conditions
described in Notes 10.1, 10.2 and 10.5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

We considered the valuation of goodwill and brands to be a key audit
matter due to the following:

= Their materiality in the consolidated financial statements;

= The significance of the estimates notably used as a basis for the
determination of their recoverable amount, including turnover
and margin rate forecasts for these activities, the perpetual growth
rates used to determine terminal value, and discount rates;

= The sensitivity of the valuation of these recoverable amounts
to certain assumptions.

We assessed the compliance of the methodology implemented
by Management with the accounting standards in force.

We also assessed the main estimates used, analysing the following
in particular:

= The consistency of cash flow projections with the budgets and
medium-term business plans prepared by Management, as well
as the consistency of the turnover and margin rates with the Group’s
historical performance, in the economic context in which the Group
operates;

= The methods and parameters used to determine the discount rates
and perpetual growth rates applied to estimated cash flows. With
the assistance of the valuation specialists included in our audit team,
we recalculated these discount rates using the most recent market
data available and compared the results obtained with (i) the rates
used by Management and (ii) the rates observed for several players
operating in the same business sector as the Group;

= The sensitivity scenarios adopted by Management, of which
we verified the arithmetical accuracy.

Finally, we assessed the appropriateness of the information disclosed

in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, in particular that

relating to sensitivity tests.
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m First-time application of IFRS 16 “Leases”

Risk identified

Our response

See Note 1.3 “Changes in accounting methods and restatement of comparative information”
and Note 7 “Leases” to the consolidated financial statements

The Group applies IFRS 16 “Leases” as from 1 January 2019,
retrospectively for each prior period for which it presents financial
information. The comparative information relating to the previous
financial year has thus been restated and the cumulative effect has been
recognised as at 1 January 2018.

The first-time application of the standard has led to presenting, as at
1 January 2018, right-of-use assets for a net value of €4,491 million and
lease liabilities amounting to €4,150 million.

As stated in Note 7 “Leases” to the consolidated financial statements,
these leases mainly concern real estate assets.

We considered the first-time application of IFRS 16, particularly to real
estate assets, to be a key audit matter due to the following:

= The significance of the accounting impacts related to the first-time
application of the standard to these leases in the consolidated
accounts;

= The volume of the leases to be identified and analysed within the
Group, taking into account the exemptions applied by Management;

= The considerable use by Management of estimates, judgements
and assumptions, especially in respect of the determination of the
non-cancellable period and the discount rate to determine the value
of the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities related to the real estate
leases based at the date of the start of the lease on the discounted
future payments.

Within the scope of our audit:

= We gained an understanding of the internal control procedures
including in relation to the information system, and tested the key
application and manual controls set up by Management to ensure
(i) the completeness and accuracy of the contractual data relating to
the leases and (ii) the correct valuation of the right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities that we considered the most relevant;

= We analysed and assessed the relevance of the main assumptions
used by the Group, especially the discount rate and the lease term,
in particular for leases with an extension or termination option, on
which the value of the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of the
real estate is based;

We tested the completeness of the real estate databases used, by
analysing the residual lease costs based, notably, on the exemptions
offered by the standard and applied by the Group: leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less and leases where the underlying asset has
alow value;

= We reconciled, for a sample of leases, the information used to
determine the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities with the
underlying contractual documents;

= We recalculated, for a sample of leases, the value of the right-of-use
assets and corresponding lease liabilities, and compared our results
with those of the Group.

In addition, we assessed the appropriateness of the information
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

= Compliance with bank covenants

Risk identified

Our response

See Note 2 “Significant events” and Note 11.5 “Financial risk management objectives and policies” to the consolidated financial statements

Certain loan and credit line agreements, as stated in Note 11.5.4
“Liquidity risk” to the consolidated financial statements, provide for the
obligation for the Group to comply with bank ratios in respect of the
bank covenants as at 31 December 2019. In addition, during the fourth
quarter of 2019, the Group finalised its refinancing plan, resulting in
the raising of secured funding in the amount of €1.8 billion maturing
in January 2024 and the extension of confirmed credit lines in France
for €2 billion as a new confirmed revolving credit facility maturing in
October 2023, the latter being subject to bank covenants applicable as
from 31 March 2020. Any non-compliance with the bank covenants is
liable to result in all or part of the debts concerned being immediately
payable.

We considered compliance with the bank covenants to be a key audit
matter, as any failure to comply with these ratios could have impacts
on the availability of the group’s confirmed credit lines as described in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements, the presentation of
financial liabilities as current/non-current in the consolidated financial
statements and, if relevant, the continuation of the company as a going
concern.

Within the scope of our audit:

= We analysed the Group’s bond and bank documentation, including
in particular the covenants, in order to understand the definition of
the ratios;

= We gained an understanding of the internal control procedures
relating to the monitoring of the Group’s liquidity and net financial
debt, including the processes for (i) establishing cash flow forecasts,
(ii) monitoring net financial debt and (iii) calculating the ratios and
complying with the bank covenants;

= We verified the arithmetical accuracy of the calculation of the ratios
produced by Management as at 31 December 2019.

Finally, we assessed the appropriateness of the information disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, notably the
information concerning compliance with the covenants relating to the
financing concerned.
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= Recognition of tax credits and monitoring of contingent tax liabilities at GPA

Risk identified

Our response

See Note 5.1 “Key indicators by reportable sector;] Note 6.8 “Other current assets; Note 6.9.1 “Breakdown of other non-current assets”

and Note 13.3 “Contingent assets and liabilities” to the consolidated financial statements

Within the scope of its retail activities at GPA, the Group recognises
ICMS tax credits. The balance of the credits recognised amounts to
€580 million as at 31 December 2019. These tax credits were recognised
insofar as GPA considers their recoverability to be probable.

In addition, as described in Note 13.3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group estimates contingent PIS and COFINS tax credits
related to the exclusion of ICMS from the calculation basis of these two
taxes to amount to €262 million.

GPA is also involved in various administrative and legal proceedings
in Brazil arising, notably, from tax claims filed by the Brazilian tax
authorities. A part of these tax risks, estimated at €2,165 million as

at 31 December 2019, were analysed as contingent liabilities and no
provisions were recognised as at 31 December 2019, as stated in Note
13.3 to the consolidated financial statements.

We considered the recognition and recoverability of both the tax credits
and the valuation and monitoring of contingent tax liabilities in Brazil to
be key audit matters for the following reasons: (i) the significance in the
accounts of the tax credit balance, the contingent asset relating to PIS
and COFINS tax credits and the amount of contingent tax liabilities as
at 31 December 2019, (ii) the complexity of the Brazilian tax legislation
related to taxes and (iii) the use of judgements and estimates by
Management in connection with the recognition of tax credits and the
valuation of the contingent tax liabilities.

We interviewed the various persons who hold responsibilities in the
GPA organisation to identify and gain an understanding of the tax
credits and existing disputes, as well as the judgements relating thereto.

Concerning the tax credits to be received, we analysed the following
items with the assistance of the specialists in Brazilian indirect taxes
included in our audit team:

= The internal control environment relating to the processes set
up by Management to monitor the tax credits and ensure their
recoverability, and we tested the related key controls;

= The assumptions used by Management to draw up the tax credits
recovery plan;

= The documentation that evidences either the recognition of ICMS
tax over the year, or the characterisation of the PIS and COFINS tax
credits as contingent assets.

Concerning the contingent liabilities, with the assistance of our
specialists in Brazilian taxation included in our audit team:

= We gained an understanding of the internal control environment
relating to the processes for the identification, monitoring and
estimation of the level of risk associated with the various disputes,
and we tested the related key controls;

= We reconciled the list of identified disputes with the information
provided by the Brazilian subsidiaries’ main law firms that we
contacted in order to assess the existence, completeness and
amounts of the disputes;

= We examined the information on the legal or technical proceedings
and/or opinions provided by the law firms or external experts chosen
by Management, in order to assess the correct recognition of the
various disputes or their characterisation as contingent liabilities;

= We reconciled the risk estimates prepared by the Group with the
figures relating to contingent tax liabilities disclosed in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements.

Finally, we assessed the appropriateness of the information disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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= Valuation of rebates to be received from suppliers at year-end

Risk identified

Our response

See Note 6.2 “Cost of goods sold” and Note 6.8 “Other current assets” to the consolidated financial statements

Within the scope of its retail activities, the Group receives rebates from
its suppliers in the form of discounts and commercial cooperation fees.

These rebates, generally paid on the basis of a percentage defined
contractually according to purchase volumes and applied to purchases
made from suppliers, are recorded as a deduction from cost of goods
sold.

Considering the material impact of these rebates on net profit for
the year, the large number of contracts involved and the necessity
for Management to estimate the final rebate percentage determined
according to the volume of related purchases for each supplier,

we considered the valuation of rebates to be received from suppliers
at year-end to be a key audit matter.

Within the scope of our audit:

= We gained an understanding of the internal control environment

relating to the processes for the monitoring of these rebates in the
Group’s various significant subsidiaries and we carried out tests
on the key controls set up by Management;

We reconciled, on a sampling basis, the contractual terms relating
to rebates to be received from suppliers with their valuation;

We assessed, on a sampling basis, the estimates used by
Management to determine these year-end rebates, in particular
the estimation of the volumes of purchases at year-end used to
determine the final rebate percentage for each supplier and the
amounts of the invoices to be issued;

We reconciled the receivables recognised in the balance sheet
with the amounts collected subsequent to year-end.
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SPECIFIC VERIFICATIONS

We have also performed, in accordance with professional standards
applicable in France, the specific verifications required by laws and
regulations of the information relating to the Group given in the Board
of Directors’ management report, as approved on 25 March 2020.
Regarding any events that occurred and facts that became known
after the date of the approval of the management report, relating to
the effects of the Covid-19 crisis, Management has informed us that
such events and facts will be communicated to the general meeting
of shareholders called to approve the financial statements.

We have no matters to report as to the fair presentation of the
information contained in the management report and its consistency
with the consolidated financial statements.

We attest that the consolidated non-financial statement required
by Article L. 225-102-1 of the French Commercial Code (Code de
commerce) is included in the information relating to the Group given
in the management report, it being specified that, in accordance
with Article L. 823-10 of this Code, we have verified neither the fair
presentation nor the consistency with the consolidated financial
statements of the information contained in this statement. This
information should be reported on by an independent third party.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

= Appointment of the Statutory Auditors
We were appointed as Statutory Auditors of Casino, Guichard-
Perrachon by the general meeting of shareholders held on 29 April 2010.

As at 31 December 2019, our audit firms were both in their 10" year
of uninterrupted engagement. Previously, ERNST & YOUNG Audit
had been Statutory Auditor since 1978.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF
MANAGEMENT AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of
the consolidated financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union
and for such internal control as Management determines is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, Management is
responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is expected
to liquidate the Company or to cease operations.

The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the financial
reporting process and the effectiveness of internal control and
risk management systems and where applicable, its internal audit,
regarding the accounting and financial reporting procedures.

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board
of Directors.

STATUTORY AUDITORS'’
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

m Objectives and audit approach

Ourrole s to issue a report on the consolidated financial statements.
Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
professional standards will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As specified in Article L. 823-10-1 of the French Commercial Code
(Code de commerce), our statutory audit does not include assurance
on the viability of the Company or the quality of management of the
affairs of the Company.

As part of an audit conducted in accordance with professional
standards applicable in France, the Statutory Auditor exercises
professional judgement throughout the audit and furthermore:

o Identifies and assesses the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
designs and performs audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtains audit evidence considered to be sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for his opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtains an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the internal control.
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e Evaluates the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by Management in the consolidated financial statements.

o Assesses the appropriateness of Management'’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. This assessment is based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of his audit report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company
to cease to continue as a going concern. If the Statutory Auditor
concludes that a material uncertainty exists, there is a requirement
to draw attention in the audit report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are not
provided or inadequate, to modify the opinion expressed therein.

e Evaluates the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements and assesses whether these statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Obtains sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. The
Statutory Auditor is responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the audit of the consolidated financial statements
and for the opinion expressed on these consolidated financial
statements.

= Reportto the Audit Committee

We submit to the Audit Committee a report which includes in
particular a description of the scope of the audit and the audit
program implemented, as well as the results of our audit. We also
report significant deficiencies, if any, in internal control regarding the
accounting and financial reporting procedures that we have identified.

Our report to the Audit Committee includes the risks of material
misstatement that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and which are therefore the key audit matters that
we are required to describe in this report.

We also provide the Audit Committee with the declaration provided
for in Article 6 of Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014, confirming our
independence within the meaning of the rules applicable in France
as set out in particular in Articles L. 822-10 to L. 822-14 of the French
Commercial Code (Code de commerce) and in the French Code of
Ethics for Statutory Auditors (Code de déontologie de la profession
de commissaire aux comptes). Where appropriate, we discuss with
the Audit Committee the risks that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and the related safeguards.

Paris-La Défense, 27 March 2020

The Statutory Auditors

French original signed by

ERNST & YOUNG et Autres

Yvon Salatin Alexis Hurtrel

DELOITTE & ASSOCIES

Frédéric Moulin Patrice Choquet
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2.1.2. Consolidated financial statements

212]. CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Net sales 5/6.1 34,645 34,329
Other revenue 6.1 665 533
Total revenue 6.1 35,310 34,862
Cost of goods sold 6.2 (26,547) (25,899)
Gross margin 5.1 8,764 8,963
Selling expenses 6.3 (6,100) (6,244)
General and administrative expenses 6.3 (1,371) (1,355)
Trading profit 5.1 1,292 1,364
As a % of net sales 3.7% 4.0%
Other operating income 6.5 61 350
Other operating expenses 6.5 (779) (751)
Operating profit 574 962
As a % of net sales 1.7% 2.8%
Income from cash and cash equivalents 11.3.1 39 37
Finance costs 11.3.1 (396) (356)
Net finance costs 11.3.1 (356) (320)
Other financial income 11.3.2 265 122
Other financial expenses 11.3.2 (659) (478)
Profit (loss) before tax (176) 286
As a % of net sales -0.5% 0.8%
Income tax expense 9.1 (137) (188)
Share of profit of equity-accounted investees 333 46 60
Net profit (loss) from continuing operations (268) 159
As a % of net sales -0.8% 0.5%
Attributable to owners of the parent (384) (60)
Attributable to non-controlling interests 116 218
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Net profit (loss) from discontinued operations 3.5.2 (1,054) (32)
Attributable to owners of the parent 352 (1,048) (57)
Attributable to non-controlling interests 352 (6) 25
CONTINUING AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Consolidated net profit (loss) (1,322) 127
Attributable to owners of the parent (1,432) (17)
Attributable to non-controlling interests 12.8 110 244

= Earnings per share

From continuing operations, attributable to owners of the parent 12.10.2

= Basic (3.90) (1.00)
= Diluted (3.90) (1.00)
From continuing and discontinued operations,

attributable to owners of the parent 12.10.2

= Basic (13.61) (1.52)
= Diluted (13.61) (152)

(1) Previously published comparative information has been restated to reflect changes in accounting methods (relating mainly to IFRS 16 - Leases) and the
reclassification of Leader Price within discontinued operations (Note 1.3).
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212.2. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Consolidated net profit (loss) (1,322) 127
Items that may subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss (128) (775)
Cash flow hedges and cash flow hedge reserve® (27) 19
Foreign currency translation adjustments® (110) (779)
Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI) 6 2
Share of items of equity-accounted investees that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss (4) (10)
Income tax effects 6 (6)
Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss (14) (13)
Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (1) (2)
Actuarial gains and losses (18) (15)
Share of items of equity-accounted investees that will never be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss (1) 2)
Income tax effects 6 6
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year, net of tax (142) (788)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (1,464) (661)
Attributable to owners of the parent (1,526) (449)
Attributable to non-controlling interests 61 (211)

(1) Previously published comparative information has been restated to reflect changes in accounting methods, relating mainly to IFRS 16 - Leases (Note 1.3).
(2) The change in the cash flow hedge reserve was not material in either 2019 or 2018.

(3) The €110 million negative net translation adjustment in 2019 arose primarily from the depreciation of the Brazilian, Argentine and Uruguayan currencies, for
€70 million, €57 million and €54 million respectively, partially offset by the appreciation of the Colombian peso for €68 million. The €779 million negative net
translation adjustment in 2018 mainly concerned the depreciation of the Brazilian and Colombian currencies, for €678 million and €43 million, respectively.

Changes in other comprehensive income are presented in Note 12.7.2.
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£12.3. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Assets

31 December 2018 1 January 2018
(€ millions) Notes (restated)” (restated)™
Goodwill 10.1 7489 8,682 9,092
Intangible assets 10.2 2,296 2,265 2,266
Property, plant and equipment 10.3 5113 5,843 7325
Investment property 10.4 493 497 494
Right-of-use assets 711 4,837 4,592 4,491
Investments in equity-accounted investees 333 341 500 563
Other non-current assets 6.9 1,183 1,151 1,091
Deferred tax assets 9.2.1 772 667 619
Total non-current assets 22,524 24,197 25,942
Inventories 6.6 3,775 3,834 3,806
Trade receivables 6.7 836 905 888
Other current assets 6.8 1,536 1,383 1,231
Current tax assets 111 165 138
Cash and cash equivalents 111 3,572 3,730 3,391
Assets held for sale 35.1 2,491 8,433 7,549
Total current assets 12,320 18,450 17,003
TOTAL ASSETS 34,844 42,647 42,945
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Equity and liabilities

31 December 2018 1 January 2018
(€ millions) NG 31 December 2019 (restated)® (restated))
Share capital 12.2 166 168 170

Additional paid-in capital, treasury shares, retained earnings

and consolidated net profit (loss) 4602 6333 ha2t
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 4,767 6,501 7,397
Non-controlling interests 12.8 3,523 5,208 5,373
Total equity 12 8,291 11,709 12,770
Non-current provisions for employee benefits 82 357 366 358
Other non-current provisions 131 458 481 514
Non-current borrowings and debt, gross 1.2 8,100 6,782 7202
Non-current lease liabilities 711 3,937 3,560 3,485
Non-current put options granted to owners of non-controlling interests 34.1 61 63 28
Other non-current liabilities 6.10 181 464 478
Deferred tax liabilities 922 566 667 740
Total non-current liabilities 13,661 12,384 12,806
Current provisions for employee benefits 82 11 1 1
Other current provisions 13.1 153 160 167
Trade payables 6,580 6,668 6,644
Current borrowings and debt, gross 11.2 1,549 2,199 1,475
Current lease liabilities 711 740 677 665
Current put options granted to owners of non-controlling interests 34.1 105 126 143
Current tax liabilities 48 124 88
Other current liabilities 6.10 2,839 2,613 2,483
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale 35.1 867 5977 5,693
Total current liabilities 12,892 18,554 17,369
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 34,844 42,647 42,945

(1) Previously published comparative information has been restated to reflect changes in accounting methods, relating mainly to IFRS 16 - Leases (Note 1.3).

CASINO GROUP 51



2019 UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT
Financial and accounting information - Consolidated financial statements

2124, CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Profit before tax from continuing operations (176) 286
Profit (loss) before tax from discontinued operations 35.2 (979) 27
Consolidated profit (loss) before tax (1,156) 314
Depreciation and amortisation expense 6.4 1,348 1,305
Provision and impairment expense 4.1 241 266
Losses (gains) arising from changes in fair value 11.3.2 40 45
Expenses (income) on share-based payment plans 83.1 13 21
Other non-cash items (58) 61
(Gains) losses on disposals of non-current assets 44 9 (232)
(Gain's) l9sses du‘e' tf) changes in percentage ownership of subsidiaries o (12)
resulting in acquisition/loss of control

Dividends received from equity-accounted investees 33.1/3.32 43 55
Net finance costs 11.3.1 356 320
Interest paid on leases, net 11.3.2 268 218
Non-recourse factoring and associated transaction costs 1132 77 81
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations 35.2 121 (17)
Adjustments related to discontinued operations 856 316
Net cash from operating activities before change in working capital,

net finance costs and income tax 2,169 2,740
Income tax paid (259) (236)
Change in operating working capital 4.2 92 (117)
Lr:scs;ll(; ;zi.lxe;()ia(i)(:) :rr;(tii(c)}rll:nge in operating working capital: (882) 914
Net cash from operating activities 1,120 2,601
of which continuing operations 2,004 2,061
Cash outflows related to acquisitions of:

= Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and investment property 43 (L,107) (1,188)
= Non-current financial assets 4.11 (440) (48)
Cash inflows related to disposals of:

= Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and investment property 44 890 1,230
= Non-current financial assets 68 26
Effect of changes in scope of consolidation resulting in acquisition or loss of

control 5 218 (66)
Effect of changes in scope of consolidation related to equity-accounted investees 4.6 (39) 170
Change in loans and advances granted (42) (21)
Net cash from (used in) investing activities of discontinued operations 422 (203)
Net cash used in investing activities (32) (99)
of which continuing operations (453) 104
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Dividends paid:

= to owners of the parent 129 (169) (338)
= to non-controlling interests 4.7 (83) (104)
= to holders of deeply-subordinated perpetual bonds 12.9 (46) (48)
Increase (decrease) in the parent’s share capital - -
Transactions between the Group and owners of non-controlling interests 4.8 (971) 231
(Purchases) sales of treasury shares 124 (40) (103)
Additions to loans and borrowings 49 4,542 1,543
Repayments of loans and borrowings 4.9 (3,694) (1,330)
Repayments of lease liabilities (701) (614)
Interest paid, net 4.10 (617) (629)
Other repayments (12) (3)
Net cash used in financing activities of discontinued operations (297) (400)
Net cash used in financing activities (2,088) (1,796)
of which continuing operations (1,792) (1,396)
Effect 9f changes in exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents of continuing 3) (232)
operations

Effect of changes in éxchange rates on cash and cash equivalents of © (96)
discontinued operations

CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 4.9 (984) 377
Net cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 4,514 4,137
= of which net cash and cash equivalents of continuing operations 1.1 3,592 3,236
= of which net cash and cash equivalents of discontinued operations 922 901
Net cash and cash equivalents at end of period 3,530 4,514
= of which net cash and cash equivalents of continuing operations 1.1 3,471 3,592
= of which net cash and cash equivalents of discontinued operations 59 922

(1) Previously published comparative information has been restated to reflect changes in accounting methods (relating mainly to IFRS 16 - Leases) and the
reclassification of Leader Price within discontinued operations (Note 1.3).
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2105, CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Additional
(€ millions) paid-in Treasury
(before allocation of profit) Share capital capital® shares
AT 1 JANUARY 2018 (REPORTED) 170 3,992 (5)

Effects of applying IFRS 16 (Note 1.3) - . -
Other (Note 1.3) - - _

AT 1 JANUARY 2018 (RESTATED)® 170 3,992 (5)

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year (restated)"” - - -
Net profit (loss) for the year (restated)"” . - _
Consolidated comprehensive income (loss) for the year (restated)® - - -
Issue of share capital - . -
Purchases and sales of treasury shares 2) (53) (28)
Dividends paid/payable to shareholders® - . -
Dividends paid/payable to holders of deeply-subordinated perpetual bonds® - - -
Share-based payments - . -
Changes in percentage interest resulting in the acquisition/loss of control

of subsidiaries

Changes in percentage interest not resulting in the acquisition/loss of control

of subsidiaries®™

Other movements - - .
AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 (RESTATED)® 168 3,939 (33)
Effects of applying IFRIC 23 (Note 1.3) - - -
AT 1 JANUARY 2019 168 3,939 (33)

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year - . -
Net profit (loss) for the year - . -
Consolidated comprehensive income (loss) for the year - = -
Issue of share capital = - -
Purchases and sales of treasury shares® (@) (38) 5
Dividends paid/payable to shareholders® - . -
Dividends paid/payable to holders of deeply-subordinated perpetual bonds® - - =
Share-based payments = - -

Changes in percentage interest resulting in the acquisition/loss of control
of subsidiaries®

Changes in percentage interest not resulting in the acquisition/loss of control
of subsidiaries®

Other movements - - _

AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 166 3,901 (28)

(*) Previously published comparative information has been restated to reflect changes in accounting methods, relating mainly to IFRS 16 - Leases (Note 1.3).

(1) Additional paid-in capital includes (a) premiums on shares issued for cash or for contributions in kind, or in connection with mergers or acquisitions, and (b)
legal reserves.

(2) See Note 12.6.

(3) Attributable to the shareholders of Casino, Guichard-Perrachon.

(4) See Note 12.8.

(5) See Note 12.4 for information about treasury share transactions.

(6) See Note 12.9 for dividends paid and payable to holders of ordinary shares and deeply-subordinated perpetual bonds. Dividends paid and payable to non-controlling
interests during the year primarily concern GPA for €44 million, Exito for €24 million and Franprix-Leader Price for €19 million (2018: GPA for €46 million,
Franprix-Leader Price for €24 million and Exito for €19 million).

(7) The negative amount of €725 million mainly corresponds to the loss of control in Via Varejo (Note 2).

(8) The negative amount of €959 million mainly corresponds to the project to simplify the Group’s structure in Latin America, representing a €931 million negative
impact (Note 2). In 2018, the €206 million positive impact corresponded for the most part to (a) the acquisition by Tikehau Capital and Bpifrance of shares in
GreenYellow for €142 million and (b) the additional contribution of €85 million made by the private equity fund Fondo Inmobiliaro Colombia to the Viva Malls
real estate trust created by Exito in 2016.
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Deeply-subordinated Equity attributable
perpetual bonds Retained earnings Other to owners Non-controlling Total
(TSSDI) and profit for the year reserves® of the parent® interests® equity
1,350 4,177 (2,114) 7,570 5,493 13,063
- (163) - (163) (120) (282)
- (10) - (10) - (10)
1,350 4,004 (2,114) 7,397 5,373 12,770
- - (333) (333) (455) (788)
- (17) - (n7) 244 127
- (117) (333) (449) (211) (661)
- 17) - (100) - (100)
- (338) - (338) (103) (441)
- (48) - (48) (48)
- 8 - 8 11 19
- - - - (35) (35)
- 32 - 32 174 206
- - - - (2 ()
1,350 3,524 (2,446) 6,501 5,208 11,709
- (™ - (™ - (™
1,350 3,516 (2,446) 6,494 5,208 11,702
- - (94) (94) (48) (142)
- (1,432) - (1,432) 110 (1,322)
= (1,432) (94) (1,526) 61 (1,464)
= (5) = (40) = (40)
= (169) - (169) (92) (261)
= (37) = (37 = (37
- 6 - 6 16 22
- - - - (725) (725)
- 21 - 21 (980) (959)
- 19 - 19 35 54
1,350 1,918 (2,540) 4,767 3,524 8,291

CASINO GROUP 55



2019 UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

Financial and accounting information - Consolidated financial statements

2.1.3. Notes to the consolidated financial statements

DETAILED SUMMARY OF NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS
Note 1 Significant accounting policies....n 57
1.1, ACCOUNTING STANAGMTS woovcvvsisssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss 57
1.2. Basis of preparation and presentation

of the consolidated financial StateMeNTtS. .., 58
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Information about the Casino. Guichard-Perrachon Group

Casino, Guichard-Perrachon (“the Company”) is a French société
anonyme listed in compartment A of Euronext Paris. The Company
and its subsidiaries are hereinafter referred to as “the Group” or
“Casino Group’ The Company’s registered office is at 1, Cours Antoine
Guichard, 42008 Saint-Etienne, France.

Note 1 Significant accounting policies

1.  ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Pursuant to European Commission Regulation 1606/2002 of 19 July
2002, the consolidated financial statements of Casino Group have
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB), as adopted by the European Union as of the date of
approval of the financial statements by the Board of Directors and
applicable at 31 December 2019.

These standards are available on the European Commission’s
website: https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/
company-reporting-and-auditing/company-reporting/
financial-reporting_en.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently
in all periods presented, after taking account of the new standards,
amendments to existing standards and interpretations listed below.

m Standards, amendments to standards,
and interpretations adopted by the
European Union and mandatory for
financial years beginning on or after
1January 2019

The European Union has adopted the following standards,

amendments and interpretations which must be applied by the Group

for its financial year beginning on 1 January 2019:

e IFRS 16 - Leases

o IFRIC 23 - Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

The effects of applying IFRS 16 and IFRIC 23 are presented in Note 1.3.

The following texts had no material impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements:

o Amendments to IFRS 9 - Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

These amendments are applicable on a retrospective basis. The
amendments expand the classification of financial assets at amortised
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income and clarify
the application of the “solely a payment of principal and interest” test
to certain debt instruments with a prepayment feature where the
effect of exercising this clause would reasonably lead to repayments
that are lower than the amount of principal and interest due.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 reflect the accounting situation of the Company
and its subsidiaries, as well as the Group’s interests in associates and
joint ventures.

The 2019 consolidated financial statements of Casino, Guichard-
Perrachon were approved for publication by the Board of Directors
on 25 March 2020.

e Amendments to IAS 19 — Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

These amendments will be applicable on a prospective basis. to plan
amendments, curtailments and settlements of defined benefit plans.
They require an entity to use updated assumptions to determine
current service cost and net interest for the remainder of the period
after a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement.

o Amendments to IAS 28 — Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures

These amendments are applicable on a retrospective basis. They
clarify that IFRS 9 (including the impairment rules) applies to
long-term interests in an associate or joint venture that form part
of the net investment in the associate or joint venture but to which
the equity method is not applied.

e IFRS Annual Improvements - 2015-2017 Cycle
The main standards concerned are:

o IAS 12 - Income Taxes: these amendments clarify that the tax
consequences of dividend payments (i.e., distributions of profits)
should be recognised when the distribution liability is recognised,
in profit or loss, equity or other comprehensive income according
to where the transactions that generated the distributed profits were
presented. They will be applicable on a retrospective basis as from
the first comparative period presented.

o IAS 23 — Borrowing Costs: these amendments clarify that if any
specific borrowing remains outstanding after the related asset is
ready for its intended use or sale, that borrowing becomes part of
the funds that an entity borrows generally. These amendments will
be applicable on a prospective basis.

m Standards, amendments to standards,
and interpretations adopted by the
European Union and early adopted
by the Group

o Amendmentsto IFRS 9,IAS 39 and IFRS 7 - Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform

The first phase of this project, focusing on the presumed continuity
of hedge effectiveness, mandatory for financial years beginning
on or after 1 January 2020, was early adopted by the Group as of
1January 2019.

These amendments, designed to enable entities to provide useful
financial information during the period of uncertainty related to
the IBOR reform, modify certain hedge accounting provisions.
The amendments also require entities to provide investors with
specific disclosures about their hedging relationships which are
directly affected by these uncertainties. The adoption of these
amendments did not have a material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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1.2.  BASIS OF PREPARATION
AND PRESENTATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

m 1.2.1. Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using
the historical cost convention, with the exception of the following:

e assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination, which are
measured at fair value in accordance with IFRS 3;

e derivative financial instruments and financial assets, which are
measured at fair value. The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
hedged by a fair value hedge which would otherwise be measured
at cost are adjusted for changes in fair value attributable to the
hedged risk.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in millions
of euros. The figures in the tables have been rounded to the
nearest million euros and include individually rounded data.
Consequently, the totals and sub-totals shown may not correspond
exactly to the sum of the reported amounts.

m 1.2.2. Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
may affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and income
and expenses, as well as the disclosures made in certain notes to the
consolidated financial statements. Due to the inherent uncertainty of
assumptions, actual results may differ from the estimates. Estimates
and assessments are reviewed at regular intervals and adjusted where
necessary to take into account past experience and any relevant
economic factors.

The main judgements, estimates and assumptions are based on the
information available when the financial statements are drawn up
and concern the following:

o classification and measurement of Leader Price’s net assets, as well as
assets of the France segment, in accordance with IFRS 5 (Note 3.5);

e valuation of non-current assets and goodwill (Note 10.5);

o measurement of deferred tax assets (Note 9);

e recognition, presentation and measurement of the recoverable

amounts of tax credits or taxes (mainly ICMS, PIS and COFINS in
Brazil) (Notes 5.1, 6.9 and 13);
e IFRS 16 transition method, notably the determination of discount

rates and the lease term for the purpose of measuring the lease
liability for leases with renewal or termination options (Note 1.3);

o provisions for risks (Note 13), particularly tax and employee-related
risks in Brazil.
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13. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
METHODS AND RESTATEMENT
OF COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

m 1.3.1.Impact on the
consolidated financial statements

The tables below show the impact on the previously published
consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of cash flows, resulting mainly
from the retrospective application of IFRS 16 - Leases (Note 1.3.2) and
the reclassification of Leader Price within discontinued operations in
accordance with IFRS 5 (discontinued operations include Leader Price
and Via Varejo for the two financial years presented).

Two other impacts reflected in the “Other” column essentially relate to:

o the finalisation of the purchase price allocation for Sarenza,
acquired in 2018, which primarily led to the recognition of the
Sarenza trademark;

o the change in the method of presenting costs to obtain contracts.

In 2019, the Group reviewed the presentation of these costs in
its statement of financial position. Costs to obtain contracts,
previously included in other current and non-current assets are
now included in “Other intangible assets” The Group believes that
this voluntary change of presentation improves the quality of its
financial disclosures, as it reflects the way in which this investment
- related to the management of its franchise - is itself managed, i.e,,
as though the Group had acquired an intangible asset (customer
relationship). In the income statement, costs to obtain contracts are
now recognised over the term of the contract as an amortisation
expense within selling expenses and no longer as an expense within
cost of goods sold. The amortisation expense for 2018 amounted
to €39 million (including the portion relating to Leader Price as a
discontinued operation). The reclassification qualifies as a change of
method and has therefore been applied retrospectively to 2018 as if
the new presentation had been adopted at the beginning of that year.

The introduction of IFRIC 23 - Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments did not result in any significant changes to the
measurement of uncertain tax balances in the financial statements at
31 December 2018. The Group also reclassified a number of statement
of financial position items from “Provisions for risks and expenses”
to “Current tax liabilities” and/or “Deferred taxes” These changes in
presentation did not have a material impact. IFRIC 23 was applied
using the modified retrospective method, i.e., with no restatement of
comparative information (Note 9).



2019 UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT
Financial and accounting information - Consolidated financial statements

Impact on the main consolidated income statement indicators in 2018

Discontinued
20138 IFRS 16 operations 2013
(€ millions) (reported)® restatements  (Leader Price) Other® (restated)

Net sales 36,604 - (2,275) - 34,329
Other revenue 532 - (8) 9 533
TOTAL REVENUE 37,136 - (2,283) 9 34,862
Cost of goods sold (27,831) 25 1,867 39 (25,899)
Selling expenses (6,679) 149 335 (50) (6,244)
General and administrative expenses (1,416) 4 65 (7) (1,355)
Trading profit 1,209 179 (16) (8) 1,364
Operating profit 834 121 20 (13) 962
Net finance costs (327) 7 1 - (320)
Other financial income and expenses (138) (220) 1 - (356)
Profit before tax 369 (93) 23 (13) 286
Income tax (expense) benefit (204) 18 (5) 4 (188)
Share of profit of equity-accounted investees 17 - 43 - 60
Net profit (loss) from continuing operations 182 (75) 60 9) 159
attributable to owners of the parent (45) (59) 53 9) (60)
attributable to non-controlling interests 227 (16) 8 - 218
Net profit (loss) from discontinued operations (21) 49 (60) - (32)
attributable to owners of the parent o) 5 (53) - (57)
attributable to non-controlling interests (11) 44 (8) - 25
CONSOLIDATED NET PROFIT (LOSS) 161 (25) - (9) 127
attributable to owners of the parent (54) (54) - 9) (117)
attributable to non-controlling interests 215 28 - - 244

(1) Via Varejo was classified within discontinued operations in 2018.
(2) Mainly the change in the method of presenting costs to obtain contracts.
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Impact on the main consolidated statement of cash flow indicators in 2018

Discontinued
20138 IFRS 16 operations 2013
(€ millions) (reported) restatements  (Leader Price) Other (restated)

Net cash from operating activities 1,492 1,040 - 69 2,601
of which consolidated profit (loss) before tax 323 3 - (13) 314
of which other components of cash flow 1,336 1,047 - 44 2,427
of wi.zich change in .operating working capital (433) ©) 52 37 (353)
and income tax paid
of wh.ich incz?me m.xes pc?id and change in operating P i (52) i P
working capital: discontinued operations
Net cash from (used in) investing activities (30) - - (69) (99)
of which net cash related to acquisitions and disposals
57 - 55 (69) 43

of non-current assets
of whz:ch cfﬂect of ‘cl'u?nges in scope of consolidation (95) i 29 ) (66)
resulting in acquisition or loss of control
of which cash from (used in) discontinued operations (119) - (84) - (203)
Net cash from (used in) financing activities (756) (1,041) - - (1,796)
of which repayments of lease liabilities - (659) 44 - (614)
of which interest paid, net (424) (209) 4 - (629)
of which cash from (used in) discontinued operations (167) (184) (48) - (400)
Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash and cash

. (328) - - - (328)
equivalents
Change in cash and cash equivalents 377 - - - 377
Net cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 4,137 - - - 4,137
Net cash and cash equivalents at end of period 4,514 - - - 4,514
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Impact on the main consolidated statement of financial position indicators at 1 January 2018

1January 2018 IFRS 16 1January 2018
(€ millions) (reported) restatements Other® (restated)

Goodwill 9,092 - - 9,092
Intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, and investment property 10,732 (776) 128 10,085
Right-of-use assets - 4,491 - 4,491
Investments in equity-accounted investees 563 - - 563
Other non-current assets 1,199 (10) (98) 1,091
Deferred tax assets 523 91 5 619
Total non-current assets 22,110 3,796 36 25,942
Inventories 3,815 (1) (8) 3,806
Trade receivables 888 - - 888
Other current assets 1,282 (18) (33) 1,231
Current tax assets 138 - - 138
Cash and cash equivalents 3,391 - - 3,391
Assets held for sale 6,551 998 - 7549
Total current assets 16,064 979 (40) 17,003
TOTAL ASSETS 38,174 4,776 (5) 42,945
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 7570 (163) (10) 7397
Non-controlling interests 5,493 (120) - 5,373
Total equity 13,063 (282) (10) 12,770
Non-current provisions for employee benefits 358 - - 358
Other non-current provisions 514 - - 514
Non-current borrowings and debt, gross 7249 (47) - 7202
Non-current lease liabilities - 3,485 - 3,485
Non-current put options granted to owners of non-controlling interests 28 - - 28
Other non-current liabilities 486 (8) - 478
Deferred tax liabilities 725 16 - 740
Total non-current liabilities 9,360 3,446 - 12,806
Current provisions for employee benefits 11 - - 11
Other current provisions 162 - 5 167
Trade payables 6,664 (20) - 6,644
Current borrowings and debt, gross 1,493 (17) - 1,475
Current lease liabilities - 665 - 665
Current put options granted to owners of non-controlling interests 143 - - 143
Current tax liabilities 88 - - 88
Other current liabilities 2,513 (30) - 2,483
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale 4,678 1,015 - 5,693
Total current liabilities 15,751 1,612 5 17,369
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 38,174 4,776 (5) 42,945

(1) Mainly the change in the method of presenting costs to obtain contracts.
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Impact on the main consolidated statement of financial position indicators at 31 December 2018 and

1 January 2019

IFRS 16 31 December ERUN(OAN 1January2019
(€ millions) 2018 (reported) impact Other®™ B BN ETT )] impact (restated)
Goodwill 8,690 - (8) 8,662 - 8,682
ij?fils‘i;sjstt;g;fgy plantand equipment, 9,281 (835) 158 8,605 - 8,605
Right-of-use assets - 4,592 - 4,592 - 4,592
Investments in equity-accounted investees 500 - - 500 - 500
Other non-current assets 1,275 (13) (111) 1,151 - 1,151
Deferred tax assets 553 105 9 667 (7) 659
Total non-current assets 20,299 3,849 49 24,197 (7 24,189
Inventories 3,843 (1) 9) 3,834 - 3,834
Trade receivables 905 - - 905 - 905
Other current assets 1,437 (12) (41) 1,383 - 1,383
Current tax assets 165 - - 165 - 165
Cash and cash equivalents 3,730 - - 3,730 - 3,730
Assets held for sale 7,061 1,372 - 8,433 - 8,433
Total current assets 17,141 1,359 (50) 18,450 - 18,450
TOTAL ASSETS 37,440 5,208 (1) 42,647 (7) 42,639
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 6,731 (211) (19) 6,501 (7) 6,494
Non-controlling interests 5,288 (80) - 5,208 - 5,208
Total equity 12,019 (291) (19) 11,709 (7)) 11,702
Non-current provisions for employee benefits 366 - - 366 - 366
Other non-current provisions 483 2) - 481 (6) 475
Non-current borrowings and debt, gross 6,817 (35) - 6,782 - 6,782
Non-current lease liabilities - 3,560 - 3,560 - 3,560
Non-current put options granted to owners
of non-controlling interests 63 7 i 63 i 63
Other non-current liabilities 472 (13) 4 464 6 469
Deferred tax liabilities 636 28 3 667 - 667
Total non-current liabilities 8,837 3,539 7 12,384 - 12,384
Current provisions for employee benefits 1 - - 1 - 1
Other current provisions 154 (3) 10 160 3) 157
Trade payables 6,688 (20) - 6,668 - 6,668
Current borrowings and debt, gross 2,211 (12) - 2,199 - 2,199
Current lease liabilities - 677 - 677 - 677

urrent put options granted to owners

ocf non—cgntroll)ling isnirzresfs ’ 126 ’ i 126 i 126
Current tax liabilities 124 - - 124 3 127
Other current liabilities 2,643 (31) 1 2,613 - 2,613
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale 4,628 1,349 - 5,977 - 5977
Total current liabilities 16,584 1,959 10 18,554 - 18,554
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 37,440 5,208 (1) 42,647 (7) 42,639

(1) Mainly the change in the method of presenting costs to obtain contracts and the allocation of the Sarenza purchase price.
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= 1.3.2. Impact of the first-time adoption
of IFRS 16 - Leases

IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 and the related interpretations as from
1 January 2019 and removes the distinction between operating and
finance leases, introducing a single lessee accounting model and
requiring lessees to recognise assets (right to use the underlying
leased asset for the estimated term of the lease) and liabilities (lease
liability representing the obligation to make lease payments) for
substantially all leases. Operating lease expense in the consolidated
income statement is replaced by depreciation of the right-of-use
asset presented in “Cost of goods sold” or “Selling expenses’, and
interest expense on the financial liability presented in “Other financial
expenses”. Previously, the Group classified most of its leases as
operating leases and recognised rental expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term; no asset or liability was recognised except
to reflect any timing difference between the rental payment period
and the period in which the related expense is recognised.

Compared to IAS 17, applying IFRS 16 has a positive impact on EBITDA
(as defined in Note 5.1) as well as, to a lesser extent, on trading profit,
and a negative impact on finance costs.

Consolidated net profit may be reduced progressively over
successive periods because total rental expense is generally higher
at the beginning of the lease and decreases over time, unlike
the straight-line charge recognised under the previous standard
(IAS 17). Additionally, net cash from operating activities is higher as
cash outflows corresponding to the repayment of the principal amount
of the lease liability and related interest payments as classified within
cash flows from financing activities.

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are presented on separate lines
of the consolidated statement of financial position. Lease liabilities
are notincluded in the calculation of net debt, the definition of which
remains unchanged. Accordingly, applying IFRS 16 has the effect of
decreasing net debt due to the restatement of finance lease liabilities,
which were included within “Loans and borrowings” under IAS 17.

The Group has decided to apply IFRS 16 from 1 January 2019 using
the retrospective transition approach, by restating all comparative
information presented in accordance with IAS 8 — Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

The Group has chosen to apply the recognition exemptions in IFRS
16 concerning:
o short-term leases (less than 12 months); and

e leases for which the underlying asset is of low value (value of
underlying leased asset less than €5,000).

Lease payments not included in the initial measurement of the
financial liability (for example, variable lease payments) are recorded
in operating expense, together with payments for short-term leases
and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value.

The assets and finance lease liabilities previously classified under
TAS 17 within property, plant and equipment and borrowings have
been reclassified to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, respectively,
except for those related to short-term leases and leases for which the
underlying asset is of low value.

Lease premiums previously classified within intangible assets have
been reclassified to “Right-of-use assets” Right-of-use assets relating
to lease premiums are not generally amortised and are tested for
impairment whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

Sale-and-leaseback transactions prior to 1 January 2019 have not
been restated, in accordance with IFRS 16.

Anet deferred tax effect has been recorded for the difference between
the right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities within the scope of
IFRS 16, as was previously the case for finance lease liabilities.

The discount rate used to calculate the value of right-of-use assets
and the lease liabilities is determined on a country-by-country basis,
depending on the lease term. It is calculated for each asset according
to the duration of the lease, using the incremental borrowing rate at
inception of the lease.

The lease term reflects the non-cancellable period of the lease, plus
(or minus) periods covered by an option to extend (terminate) the
lease when that option is reasonably certain to be exercised. For
property leases, the Group determined whether it was reasonably
certain to exercise any options to extend (terminate) the leases
based mainly on the characteristics of the various leased assets
(store formats, warehouses and administrative buildings) and the
countries concerned by the leases. For “3-6-9"-type commercial leases
in France, French law grants lessees the right to extend the lease upon
expiry of the lease contract, or the right to eviction compensation
(indemnité d’éviction). If the lessor is required to pay the lessee
more-than-insignificant compensation in the event it refuses to extend
the lease, questions arise as to whether or not the lessee effectively
has an extension option. In this respect, the Group has applied the
position set out by the French accounting standards-setter (Autorité
des normes comptables - ANC) inits 16 February 2018 statement of
conclusions. The enforceable term of such leases is therefore nine
years; beyond this, the lease term adopted in accordance with IFRS 16
for automatically renewable leases corresponds to the notice period
(generally six months).

On 16 December 2019, the IFRS IC published its decision on a request
for clarification regarding the following issues:

e determining the enforceable period of an automatically renewable
lease, or an indefinite-term lease that can be terminated by one of the
parties subject to a specified notice period. The question related to the
notion of penalties used as a basis to define the enforceable period;

e the link between the useful life of non-removable leasehold
improvements and the IFRS 16 lease term.

The IFRS IC:

e concluded that the broader economics of the lease, and not only
its contractual provisions, should be considered in determining the
enforceable period of the lease;

e provided a number of clarifications regarding the link between the
IFRS 16 lease term and the useful life of non-removable leasehold
improvements.

In light of the IFRS IC's final decision, the Group has begun a further
analysis of its leases in order to identify contracts whose initial
accounting under IFRS 16 could be affected. In view of the large
number ofleases and the publication of this decision late in the year,
Casino did not apply the decision when preparing its consolidated
financial statements at 31 December 2019, since the potential impact
of the guidance is still being analysed.
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The Group's analyses are focusing particularly on:

e automatically renewable leases or leases that can be terminated
atany time;

e assets under lease (stores, warehouses), including non-removable
leasehold improvements, whose residual net carrying amount at the
end of the IFRS 16 lease term could give rise to a significant penalty
(within the meaning of the IFRS IC decision) for the Group. These
cases could lead the Group to adopt a longer IFRS 16 lease term
and/or to re-estimate the useful life of the related non-removable
leasehold improvements.

Following certain industry discussions and on completion of these
analyses, which are expected to be finalised ahead of the 2020 interim
financial statements, the Group will be able to decide whether or not
this IFRS IC decision significantly modifies its current application of
IFRS 16 and/or whether the useful life of the related non-removable
leasehold improvements should be re-estimated. In particular, these

31 December 2019

analyses could call into question the IFRS 16 lease term adopted for
“3-6-9"-type leases in France (several thousand contracts concerned),
which are currently recognised in accordance with the position
published by the ANC in February 2018.

It should be noted that the 2019 published financial statements of
Group subsidiary GPA applied this IFRS IC decision. In light of the
principle whereby the consolidated financial statements are prepared
using consistent accounting methods from one year to the next, and
pending the findings of the analyses currently in progress for the
Group as a whole, the impact of this decision is not reflected in the
Group’s financial statements. This impact is essentially limited to an
increase in lease liabilities and in right-of-use assets of €188 million
and €170 million, respectively, at 31 December 2019.

The table below provides a summary of the impact of applying
IFRS 16 on the 2019 and 2018 consolidated income statement and
consolidated statement of financial position:

31 December 2018

France Latam France Latam
(€ millions) Total Retail Retail E-commerce Total Retail Retail E-commerce
EBITDA 916 590 302 25 818 513 285 19
Trading profit 221 104 116 2 179 64 114 1
Other financial income and expenses (270) (108) (156) (6) (220) (60) (156) (4)
Right-of-use assets 4,837 2,866 1,804 167 4,592 2,776 1,659 157
Lease liabilities 4,676 2,807 1,680 189 4,238 2,575 1,490 173

Note 2 Significant events of the year

Significant events of the year are the following:

DISPOSAL PLAN FOR
NON-STRATEGIC ASSETS

On 11 June 2018, the Group announced that it was launching a
non-strategic asset disposal plan to support ongoing transformation
of its business model to focus on fast-growing store formats and
geographies, and to accelerate the deleveraging process in France.
The initial scope of the plan, i.e., €1.5 billion, was increased in March
and then in August 2019, and now stands at €4.5 billion.

On 31 December 2019, transactions carried out under the plan
amounted to €2,100 million, of which €1,105 million in 2018 (the
sale of 15% of Mercialys through an equity swap for €213 million, the
acquisition by Tikehau Capital and Bpifrance of shares in GreenYellow
for €150 million and the sale-leaseback of Monoprix real estate assets
for €742 million). The main transactions in 2019 included:

e the sale-leaseback on 8 March 2019 of 13 Géant Casino, 3 Hyper
Casino and 10 Casino Supermarkets store properties to funds
managed by Fortress for a consideration of €392 million; a variable
component was recognised in the consolidated financial statements
in this respect for €33 million. The transaction includes a variable
component whereby Casino Group could receive up to an additional
€120 million depending mainly on the future yield on the properties
sold. The Group will continue to operate the stores under leases
representing annual rent of €32 million;
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o the sale-leaseback on 15 October 2019 of 31 store properties
(12 Géant Casino and 19 Monoprix and Casino Supermarkets
stores) valued at €465 million, to funds managed by companies
affiliated with Apollo Global Management. The consideration for
the transfer of 30 assets totals €327 million and includes a variable
component whereby Casino Group could receive up to an additional
€120 million. The Group will continue to operate these 31 stores
under leases representing annual rent of €27 million.

These two sale-leaseback transactions generated a capital loss before
tax of €25 million (after adjusting for the impact of IFRS 16), presented
in “Other operating expenses’

Casino sold its contract catering services subsidiary R2C at the end of
June 2019. This transaction had no material impact on the financial
statements.

On 22 July 2019 Casino Group announced the signing of an agreement
to sell Vindémia for an enterprise value of €219 million.

On 20 March 2020, Casino announced the signing of an agreement
with Aldi to sell Leader Price in France for an enterprise value of
€735 million, including a €35 million earn-out contingent (see below
and Note 15).
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PLANNED SALE OF LEADER PRICE

In accordance with IFRS 5 — Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations (Notes 3.5.1 and 3.5.2):

o the assets and liabilities held for sale have been reclassified in the
consolidated statement of financial position under “Assets held
for sale” for €1,362 million and “Liabilities associated with assets
held for sale” for €706 million. The €656 million net asset value at
31 December 2019 includes an impairment loss of €704 million
recorded to reduce the carrying amount of the disposal group to
its fair value less costs to sell, as estimated in the context of the sale
transaction in progress with Aldi;

e Leader Price’s post-tax net profit and cash flows for the years ended
31 December 2019 and 2018 are reported on a separate line in
the consolidated income statement under “Net profit (loss) from
discontinued operations”

SAFEGUARD PROCEEDINGS
CONCERNING CASINO GROUP’S
LEAD SHAREHOLDERS RALLYE
AND FONCIERE EURIS, FINATIS
AND EURIS

On 23 May 2019, Casino Groups lead shareholder Rallye and its parent
companies announced that they had each requested and obtained the
initiation of safeguard proceedings (procédure de sauvegarde) for a
six-month period which may be extended by 6-12 months by decision
of the relevant commercial court. The proceedings were initiated after
the court acknowledged the financial difficulties experienced by the
holding companies. They have the effect of freezing these companies’
financial liabilities.

Each proceeding only concerns the entity for which it was initiated
and none of them applies to either Casino, Guichard-Perrachon or its
subsidiaries. Therefore, Casino Group continues to run its operations as
usual and remains focused on executing the strategic plan announced
to the market in June 2018, including the €4.5 billion disposal plan of
non-strategic assets, a sharp reduction in the Group's debt in France
and the achievement of the business objectives communicated to
the market.

The initiation of safeguard proceedings for Rallye has had notably
two impacts at the level of Casino, Guichard-Perrachon:

e rating downgrades by Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s. On 28 May
2019, Standard & Poor’s downgraded the Group’s credit rating to
B/negative watch (from BB/negative outlook). On 31 May 2019,
Moody’s downgraded Casino’s credit rating to B1/negative outlook
(from Bag/negative outlook);

e areduction in the outstanding amount under the Negotiable
European commercial paper (“NEU CP”) programme.

On 25 November 2019, Rallye, Fonciere Euris, Finatis and Euris
announced that the safeguard period was to be extended for a further
six months with the aim of obtaining court approval for their plans
by the end of first-quarter 2020 at the latest.

On 2 March 2020, Casino, Guichard-Perrachon was informed by its
lead shareholder Rallye that on 28 February, the Paris commercial
court approved the safeguard plans for Rallye and its subsidiaries
Cobivia, HMB and Alpétrol, and for their parent companies, Fonciere
Buris, Finatis and Euris (Note 15).

REFINANCING AND USES
OF FUNDS

On 22 October 2019, the Group announced a plan to strengthen its

liquidity and financial structure in a transaction that was finalised on

21 November 2019. The refinancing plan included two transactions:

e raising €1.8 billion of secured financing via (i) a €1.0 billion term
loan (“Term Loan B”) bearing interest at Euribor (floored at o) plus
5.5%, and (ii) a high-yield 5.875% bond issue for €800 million, with
both borrowings falling due in January 2024;

e extending €2.0 billion of confirmed credit lines in France as a new
confirmed revolving credit facility (“RCF”) maturing in October
2023, or in October 2022 if the bond tranche maturing in January
2023 has not been refinanced at that date. The interest on this facility
varies depending on the ratio of loans and borrowings to EBITDA
(Note 11.5.4). This facility covers the France Retail and E-commerce
segments and is subject to maintenance covenants tested quarterly
as from 31 March 2020 (Note 11.5.4).

Term Loan B and the secured high-yield bond enabled the Group
to finance the tender offer on the bonds maturing in 2020, 2021 and
2022 for a total cash amount of €806 million, to repay the drawn credit
lines to date for a total amount of €630 million, to partially repay
50% (i.e., €198 million) of the Ségisor loan, and to pay the fees and
commissions related to the transaction. The remaining amount was
placed in escrow (Note 6.8.1) to be used solely to pay down loans and
borrowings. On 9 March 2020 it was used to redeem a bond issue for
€271 million (including interest).

On 22 October 2019, Standard & Poor’s decided to maintain its
B rating for Casino and for the bonds issued under its EMTN program,
and to upgrade its negative watch rating to a negative outlook. S&P’s
also decided to maintain its CCC rating for deeply-subordinated
perpetual bonds (TSSDI) and to assign a B+/negative outlook rating
to the secured high-yield bond issue and Term Loan B.

On 23 October 2019, Moody’s decided to downgrade its rating for
Casino, Guichard-Perrachon from B1/negative outlook to B2/negative
outlook, and to downgrade its ratings for the bonds issued under its
EMTN programme from B1/negative outlook to B3/negative outlook
and for its deeply-subordinated perpetual bonds (TSSDI) from B3
to Caa1/negative outlook.

CLOSURE AND DISPOSALS
OF LOSS-MAKING STORES

The Group continues to implement the plan announced in 2018 to
close or dispose of loss-making stores. In 2019, agreements were
signed to sell 31 integrated stores (including 17 hypermarkets) for a
combined consideration of €281 million; as of 31 December 2019, the
Group had completed the sale of 28 stores (including 15 hypermarkets)
and received consideration of €165 million.

Also, 36 loss-making integrated stores have been closed since 2018.

CASINO GROUP 65




2019 UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

Financial and accounting information - Consolidated financial statements

Together, these stores represented net sales of around €483 million
in 2018 for a trading loss of €39 million. The gain in trading profit on
these stores on a full-year basis including the associated structural
costs will therefore be around €50 million.

All of these streamlining transactions gave rise to the recognition of
a €151 million expense in “Other operating expenses” for the year
ended 31 December 2019 (Note 6.5).

SIMPLIFIED STRUCTURE
OF CASINO GROUP IN LATIN
AMERICA

In the second half of 2019, the Group completed its project to simplify
its structure in Latin America. This involved:

e anall-cash tender offer launched by GPA for 100% of Exito’s shares,
to which Casino tendered all of its stake (55%);

e the acquisition by Casino of the shares held by Exito in Ségisor
(which itselfheld 99.9% of the voting rights and 37% of the economic
rights of GPA);

o the migration of GPA shares to the Novo Mercado B3 listing segment,
with the conversion of preferred shares (PN) into ordinary shares
(ON) at an exchange ratio of 1:1, bringing an end to the existence
of two classes of shares and giving GPA access to a broader base
of international investors. The migration was completed at the
beginning of March 2020.

The operation was accounted for as an internal reorganisation and for

the purposes of the consolidated financial statements, as a transaction

between non-controlling interests. The impact on the consolidated
financial statements can be summarised as follows:

e changes in the shareholdings in the different subsidiaries (GPA,
Exito, Libertad and Disco/Devoto) are recognised in equity and
represented a negative €931 million impact, including a negative
€25 million impact arising from transaction fees (see the consolidated
statement of changes in equity);

e transaction fees are included in “Other operating expenses”
for €36 million (Note 6.5) and in equity for the portion directly
attributable to the acquisition of non-controlling interests in Exito
through the public tender offer by GPA, representing €25 million
net of tax;
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o incash flow terms, the transaction led to a cash outflow of €917 million
relating to the acquisition of non-controlling interests (41%) in
Exito (Note 4.8); the transaction also enabled the Group to repay
the Ségisor loan in an amount of €198 million (Note 11.2.2). The
transaction increased GAP’s debt and decreased Exito's debt (Note
11.2.2, points (1) and (2)).

Upon completion of this transaction, Casino held 41% of the share
capital and voting rights of GPA, which in turn held 97% of Exito’s
share capital. Exito remains the majority shareholder of the Group’s
subsidiaries in Argentina (mainly Libertad with a 100% interest)
and Uruguay (mainly Disco and Devoto in which it holds 62.5% and
100%, respectively, of the economic rights). GPA has been listed on
the Novo Mercado since 2 March 2020, giving it access to a wide
international investor base.

SALE OF VIA VAREJO

On 14 June 2019 GPA completed the process begun on 23 November
2016 to sell its entire stake in its subsidiary, Via Varejo. The transaction
was carried out through a block sale on the market at the price of
BRL 4.90 per share, representing a total sale price of BRL 2.3 billion
(€517 million). Taking into account the two total return swaps (TRS)
entered into during the first half of 2019, the total proceeds received
from the sale of the stake in Via Varejo amounted to BRL 2.7 billion
(€615 million). These transactions led to the recognition of a capital
gain after tax of BRL 21 million (€6 million), presented under “Net
profit (loss) from discontinued operations” (Note 3.5.2). The sale
decreased non-controlling interests by €742 million (see note (7) to
the consolidated statement of changes in equity).

Via Varejo's contribution to profit (loss) from discontinued operations
was estimated based on the information available at the date of the
sale by GPA of its entire stake in Via Varejo, i.e., 14 June 2019. Since
that date, Via Varejo has announced that it would be opening an
investigation into allegations of fraud that may have resulted from
a correction made to its financial statements for the period prior
to the date of the sale. At the date of this report, the Group is not
aware of any information that would lead to a material change in
the financial statements.
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Note 3 Scope of consolidation

Accounting principles

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of all material subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
over which the parent company exercises control, joint control
or significant influence, either directly or indirectly (see list of
consolidated companies in Note 17).

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are companies controlled by the Group. Control exists
when the Group (i) has power over the entity, (ii) is exposed or
has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the entity,
and (iii) has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity.

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of subsidiaries from the date when control is acquired
to the date at which the Group no longer exercises control. All
controlled companies are fully consolidated in the Groups statement
of financial position, regardless of the percentage interest held.

Potential voting rights

Control is assessed by taking potential voting rights into account,
but only if they are substantive; that is, if the entity has the practical
ability to exercise its rights with respect to the exercise price, date
and terms.

The Group may own share warrants, share call options, debt or
equity instruments that are convertible into ordinary shares or
other similar instruments that have the potential, if exercised or
converted, to give the Group voting power or reduce another party’s
voting power over the financial and operational policies of an entity.
The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether
the Group has control of another entity. Potential voting rights are
not currently exercisable or convertible when, for example, they
cannot be exercised or converted until a future date or until the
occurrence of a future event.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement in which the parties that
exercise joint control over an entity have rights to its net assets. Joint
control involves the contractually agreed sharing of control over an
entity, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

Joint ventures are accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements using the equity method.

Associates

Associates are companies in which the Group exercises significant
influence over financial and operational policies without having
control. They are accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements using the equity method.

Equity method of accounting

The equity method provides that an investment in an associate
or a joint venture be recognised initially at acquisition cost and
subsequently adjusted by the Group's share in profit or loss and,
where appropriate, in other comprehensive income of the associate
orjoint venture. Goodwill related to these entities is included in the
carrying amount of the investment. Any impairment losses and
gains or losses on disposal of investments in equity-accounted
entities are recognised in “Other operating income and expenses’”.

Profits/losses from internal acquisitions or disposals with
equity-accounted associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's percentage interest in these companies. In the absence of
any guidance in IFRS concerning cases where the amount to be
eliminated is greater than the carrying amount of the investment
in the equity-accounted company, the Group has elected to cap
the amount eliminated from the accounts in the transaction year
and to deduct the uneliminated portion from its share of the
equity-accounted company’s profits in subsequent years. The
Group follows a transparent approach to accounting for associates
under the equity method and takes into account, if relevant, its final
percentage interest in the associate for the purpose of determining
the proportion of profit (loss) to be eliminated.

In the absence of any standard or interpretation covering dilution of
the Groupss interest in a subsidiary of an equity-accounted company,
the dilution impact is recognised in the Group’s share of the profit
(loss) of the equity-accounted investee.

Business combinations

As required by IFRS 3 revised, the consideration transferred
(acquisition price) in a business combination is measured at the
fair value of the assets transferred, equity interests issued and
liabilities incurred on the date of the transaction. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed are measured at their
acquisition-date fair values.

Acquisition-related costs are recognised in “Other operating
expenses, except for those related to the issue of equity instruments.

Any excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recognised
as goodwill. At the date when control is acquired and for each
business combination, the Group may elect to apply either the
partial goodwill method (in which case, the amount of goodwill is
limited to the portion acquired by the Group) or the full goodwill
method. Under the full goodwill method, non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value and goodwill is recognised on the full
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

Business combinations completed prior to 1 January 2010 were
accounted for using the partial goodwill method, which was the
only method applicable prior to publication of the revised version
of IFRS 3.

In the case of an acquisition achieved in stages (step acquisition),
the previously-held interest is remeasured at fair value at the date
control is acquired. The difference between the fair value and
carrying amount of the previously-held interest is recognised
directly in profit or loss (under “Other operating income” or “Other
operating expenses”).
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The provisional amounts recognised on the acquisition date may
be adjusted retrospectively if the information needed to revalue
the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed corresponds to
new information obtained by the buyer and concerns facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date. Goodwill
may not be adjusted after the measurement period (not exceeding
12 months from the date when control is acquired). Any subsequent
acquisitions of non-controlling interests do not give rise to the
recognition of additional goodwill.

Any contingent consideration is included in the consideration
transferred at its acquisition-date fair value, whatever the probability
that it will become due. Subsequent changes in the fair value of
contingent consideration due to facts and circumstances that
existed as of the acquisition date are recorded by adjusting goodwill
if they occur during the measurement period or directly in profit
or loss for the period under “Other operating income” or “Other
operating expenses’ if they arise after the measurement period,
unless the obligation is settled in equity instruments. In that case,
the contingent consideration is not remeasured subsequently.

Intra-group transfers of shares in consolidated
companies

In the absence of any guidance in IFRS on the accounting treatment
of intra-group transfers of shares in consolidated companies
leading to a change in percentage interest, the Group applies the
following principle:

o the transferred shares are maintained at historical cost and the
gain or loss on the transfer is eliminated in full from the accounts
of the acquirer;

e non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the change in
their share of equity, and a corresponding adjustment is made
to consolidated reserves, without affecting profit or total equity.

Costs and expenses related to intra-group transfers of shares and
to internal restructuring in general are included in “Other operating
expenses”

Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros,
which is the functional currency of the Group’s parent company.
Each Group entity determines its own functional currency and
all of their financial transactions are measured in that currency.
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The financial statements of subsidiaries that use a different functional
currency from that of the parent company are translated using the
closing rate method, as follows:

e assets and liabilities, including goodwill and fair value adjustments,
are translated into euros at the closing rate, corresponding to the
spot exchange rate at the reporting date;

e income statement and cash flow items are translated into euros
using the average rate of the period unless significant variances
oceur.

The resulting translation differences are recognised directly within
a separate component of equity. When a foreign operation is
disposed of, the cumulative differences recognised in equity on
translation of the net investment in the operation concerned at
successive reporting dates are reclassified to profit or loss. Because
the Group applies the step-by-step method of consolidation, the
cumulative translation differences are not reclassified to profit or
loss if the foreign operation disposed is part of a sub-group. This
reclassification will occur only at the disposal of the sub group.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into euros using
the exchange rate on the transaction date. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
closing rate and the resulting translation differences are recognised
in the income statement under “Foreign currency exchange gains’
or “Foreign currency exchange losses’ Non-monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rate applicable on the transaction date.

Exchange differences arising on translation of the net investment
in a foreign operation are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements as a separate component of equity and reclassified to
profit or loss on disposal of the net investment.

Exchange differences arising on translation of (i) foreign currency
borrowings hedging a net investment denominated in a foreign
currency or (ii) permanent advances made to subsidiaries are also
recognised in equity and reclassified to profit or loss on disposal
of the net investment.

In accordance with IAS 29, the statements of financial position and
income statements of subsidiaries operating in hyperinflationary
economies are (i) restated to take account of changes in the general
purchasing power of the local currency, using official price indices
applicable on the reporting date, and (ii) converted into euros at
the exchange rate on the reporting date. The Group has qualified
Argentina as a hyperinflationary economy since 2018.
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Jl. TRANSACTIONS AFFECTING
THE SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION
IN 2019

m 3.1.1. Mercialys TRS

On 26 July 2018, in connection with the announced asset disposal
plan, the Group reduced its stake in Mercialys from 40.3% of the voting
rights to 25.3%, through the block sale to a bank of shares representing
15% of the capital under a total return swap (TRS). Under the terms of
the transaction, the Group received immediate proceeds amounting to
€213 million before disposal costs (€209 million after disposal costs).

Under IFRS 9, the block sale is only effective once the shares are actually
sold on the market by the bank. Consequently, the shares were not
derecognised at 31 December 2018 and a liability was recorded for
€198 million corresponding to the value of the shares not yet sold
on the market (at the price sold to the bank). The sale of the shares
and the related capital gains or losses are recognised when the bank
sells the shares on the market. The 1% of shares sold by the bank and
recognised in the income statement was not material.

As of 31 December 2019, 64.6% of the shares underlying the TRS had
beensold. A corresponding capital loss of €20 million was recorded in
“Other operating expenses” and the liability now stands at €102 million.

The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s 30.6%
interest in Mercialys at 31 December 2019 (39.2% at 31 December 2018)
on an equity-accounted basis, of which 5.3% corresponds to the shares
not sold on the market at that date by the bank.

In addition, the remaining portion of the shares unsold under the
TRS continues to be classified as “Assets held for sale” in accordance
with IFRS 5, recognised at their carrying amount for €46 million at
31 December 2019 (€114 million at 31 December 2018).

J... TRANSACTIONS AFFECTING
THE SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION
IN 2018

m 3.2.1. Acquisition of Sarenza

On 30 April 2018, Monoprix acquired Sarenza, aleading online footwear
retailer. The price paid for 100% of the shares was €22 million (Note 4.5).

Sarenza has been consolidated at net book value, leading to
the recognition of goodwill of €16 million (corresponding to the
difference between the book value of the acquired net assets and
the consideration transferred), which has been allocated to the
Monoprix CGU.

Sarenza’s contribution to consolidated net sales for the period from
30 April 2018 to 31 December 2018 was €97 million. If control of
Sarenza had been acquired on 1 January 2018, it would have increased
consolidated net sales by €43 million. Its contribution to pre-tax profit
for the period was not material.

= 3.2.2. Changes in scope relating to the
Franprix-Leader Price sub-group

On 28 February 2018, Franprix-Leader Price sold control of 105 Franprix
and Leader Price stores to a master franchisee. The sale proceeds
amounted to €33 million (Note 4.5). The transactions generated aloss
of €15 million which is recognised in “Other operating expenses” If
the transactions had been completed on 1 January 2018, the impact
on the Group’s consolidated net sales, trading profit and net profit
would not have been material.

The same master franchisee acquired a 40% stake in another group
of Franprix-Leader Price stores. The investment was accounted for
as a transaction between owners. The master franchisee has a put
option on its 40% stake and Franprix-Leader Price has a call option.
A debt of €17 million was recognised on the date of the transaction.
This transaction had no material impact on consolidated equity.

In addition, Franprix-Leader Price acquired control of 126 stores during
the year, at a total cost of €79 million. These transactions generated
€76 million in goodwill.

If the acquisitions had been completed on 1 January 2018, the impact
on the Group’s consolidated net sales, trading profit and net profit
would not have been material.

m 3.2.3. Sale of a group of Casino
supermarkets without loss
of control
During first-half 2018, Distribution Casino France sold a 40% stake in
five Casino supermarkets to a master franchisee. This sale without
loss of control was accounted for as a transaction between owners.
The master franchisee has a put option on its 40% stake — recognised
in an amount of €19 million on the date of the transaction — and
Distribution Casino France has a call option.

This transaction had no material impact on consolidated equity.
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J3. INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES

= 3.3.1. Significant associates and joint ventures

The following table presents the condensed financial statements
(on a 100% basis) for the four main equity-accounted investees on a
continuing-operations basis. These condensed financial statements
prepared in accordance with IFRS correspond to the investees’
published financial statements, as restated where appropriate for the
adjustments made by the Group, for example fair value adjustments on

the date control is acquired or lost, adjustments to bring the investee’s
accounting policies into line with Group policies, or adjustments to
eliminate gains and losses on intra-group acquisitions and disposals
for the portion corresponding to the Group’s percentage interest in
the investee:

Banque Banque
du groupe du groupe
(€ millions) Mercialys Tuya® Casino FIC® Mercialys® Tuya® Casino FIC®
Country France Colombia France Brazil France  Colombia France Brazil
Real
Business estate Banking Banking  Banking Real estate Banking Banking  Banking
Type of relationship Associate Jointventure Jointventure Associate  Associate Jointventure Jointventure Associate
% interests and voting rights® 31%0 50% 50% 36% 39%0 50% 50% 50%
Total revenue 252 321 195 273 258 314 164 225
Net profit (loss) from continuin;
pre (loss) & 104 3) 11 60 85 24 7 50
operations
Other comprehensive income - - - - - - -
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE
104 3) 11 60 85 24 7 50
INCOME
Non-current assets 2,855 22 33 11 2,869 23 24 13
Current assets® 130 878 1,411 1,569 468 747 1,193 1,339
Non-current liabilities (1,280) (473) (35) (4) (1,236) (329) (34) (2)
Current liabilities (315) (314) (1241)  (1,370) (746) (332) (L051)  (1,188)
of which credit activities
f e . (675) (1,236) (470) - (544) (1,051) (453)
related liabilities
Net assets 1,389 113 168 206 1,355 109 132 162
Dividends received from 34 ) _ 6 43 6© ) 6"

associates or joint ventures

(1) At 31 December 2019, the Group held 25% of the capital of Mercialys (Note 3.1.1). The Group considers that it exercises significant influence over the financial
and operating policies of the Mercialys group. This position is based on (a) the absence of a majority vote on strategic decisions at meetings of the company’s
Board of Directors, which is mostly made up of independent Directors, (b) the governance rules stipulating that Casino’s representatives on the Mercialys Board
may not take part in decisions concerning transactions carried out with the Group, (c) business contracts entered into between the Group and Mercialys on an
arm’s length basis, and (d) an analysis of the votes cast at recent shareholders’ meetings of Mercialys (showing that Casino and its related parties do not control
shareholder decisions at shareholders’ meetings). The percentage interest is 31% and 39% respectively at 31 December 2019 and 2018.

(2) Tuya was set up in partnership with Exito and Bancolombia to manage the banking services offered to customers of the stores in Colombia, primarily the
possibility of signing up for credit cards in the stores. The partnership structure changed in October 2016 when Exito became a 50% shareholder of Tuya.

(3) FIC was set up by GPA in partnership with Banco Itai Unibanco SA (“Itaii Unibanco”) to finance purchases by GPA’s customers. It is accounted for using the
equity method as GPA exercises significant influence over its operating and financial policies.

(4) The percentage interest corresponds to that held by Casino, except in the

case of Tuya (interest held by the Exito sub-group) and FIC (interest held by GPA).

Following the sale of Via Varejo, GPA now holds 36% of FIC'’s share capital and voting rights (42% and 50%, respectively, at end-2018).
(5) The current assets of Banque du Groupe Casino, Tuya and FIC primarily concern their credit business.
(6) Stock dividends worth COP 20 billion (€6 million) paid to the joint venture partners.
(7) In 2018, this amount only concerns GPA’s direct interest and does not include €2 million in dividends received by Via Varejo.

= 3.3.2. Other investments in associates and joint ventures

The aggregate amounts of key financial statement items for other associates and joint ventures are not material. Dividends received from these

associates and joint ventures amounted to €3 million in 2019 (2018:
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= 3.3.3. Changes in investments in equity-accounted investees

(€ millions)

At 1 January 2018 (restated) 563
Impairment losses -
Share of profit for the year" 17
Dividends (55)
Other movements (26)
At 31 December 2018 (restated) 500
Impairment losses -
Share of profit for the year" (18)
Retail (43)
Other movements (99)
AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 341

(1) Including a negative €63 million and a negative €43 million relating to the share of profit (loss) from the discontinued operations of Leader Price in 2019 and

2018, respectively (Note 2).

m 3.3.4.Impairment losses on investments
in equity-accounted investees

With the exception of Mercialys, associates and joint ventures are
privately-held companies for which no quoted market prices are
available to estimate their fair value. The impairment tests carried
out at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 did not result in
the recognition of any impairment loss.

The fair value of the investment in Mercialys at the reporting date was
€346 million for 30.6% of net assets, determined using the share price
on 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: €432 million for 39.2%). This
did not result in the recognition of any impairment loss. Mercialys’
EPRA NNNAV at 31 December 2019 amounted to €1,837 million on
a100% basis, of which the Group’s share was €562 million.

m 3.3.5. Share of contingent liabilities
of equity-accounted investees

At 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, none of the Group’s
associates and joint ventures had any material contingent liabilities.

m 3.3.6. Related-party transactions
(equity-accounted investees)

The related-party transactions shown below mainly concern
transactions carried out in the normal course of business with
companies over which the Group exercises significant influence
(associates) or joint control (joint ventures) that are accounted for
in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method.
These transactions are carried out on arm’s length terms.

T e, 2o s
(€ millions) Associates Joint ventures Associates Joint ventures
Loans 1 28 1
o/w impairment (42) - (44) -
Receivables 190 44 139 48
o/w impairment - - -
Payables 283 30 549
Expenses 100 1,520@ 13M 2,323
Income 7603 51 1,051®) 38

(1) Following the application of IFRS 16, the above amounts do not include the lease payments associated with the 63 leases signed with Mercialys. These payments

represented €49 million in 2019 (2018: 70 leases for €53 million).

At 31 December 2019, lease liabilities in favour of Mercialys for property assets amounted to €169 million, of which €41 million due within one year.
(2) Including €1,234 million in fuel purchases from Distridyn and €235 million in goods purchases from CD Supply Innovation in 2019 (2018: €1,164 million and

€1,127 million respectively).

(3) Income of €760 million in 2019 (2018: €1,051 million) includes sales of goods by Franprix-Leader Price and Distribution Casino France to master franchisees
accounted for by the equity method, for €593 million (2018: €899 million). It also includes income related to property development transactions with Mercialys

reported under “Other revenue” for €95 million (2018: €33 million).
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Transactions with Mercialys

Casino has entered into various agreements with Mercialys:

e Leases: Casino leases units in certain shopping centres from
Mercialys, for which the lease payments are disclosed above.

e Asset management agreement: Casino provides rental management
services for nearly all Mercialys properties. In both 2019 and 2018,
the related management fees amounted to €6 million.

e Partnership agreement: this agreement was approved by Casino’s
Board of Directors on 19 June 2012 and an addendum was signed
on 12 November 2014. The partnership’s fundamental principle
whereby Casino develops and manages a pipeline of projects that
Mercialys acquires to feed its business growth has been maintained
in the new agreement. The original agreement concerned a pipeline
of projects offering satisfactory visibility. The new agreement enables
Mercialys to propose new projects that will be examined by Casino
and tracked during monitoring committee meetings.

Casino will not undertake any work until the order is reconfirmed
by Mercialys once the necessary permits have been obtained
and leases have been signed on units representing at least 60% of
projected rental revenues.

The acquisition price of projects developed by Casino was calculated
under the original agreement on the basis of (i) a rent capitalisation
rate determined using a grid that is updated twice a year by reference
to the rates used to value Mercialys' portfolio and (ii) projected rental
revenues from the project. Under the new agreement, the projected
internal rate of return (IRR) - within the range of 8% to 10% — may
also be taken into account for pricing purposes.

The principle whereby the upside and downside are shared equally
between Casino and Mercialys has been maintained to take into
account the actual conditions in which the assets will be marketed.
For example, the price will be increased or reduced by 50% of any
positive (upside) or negative (downside) difference between the
actual rents negotiated during the marketing process and the rents
projected at the outset. The contracts require the parties to meet
during the pre-acquisition process.

In exchange for the exclusive partnership, Mercialys has undertaken
not to invest in any operations that could lead to a material increase
in competition in the catchment area of any of Casino Group’s food
stores. At the end of January 2017, the partnership agreement was
extended by three years, until end-2020.

e Support services agreement: the Group provides administrative,
finance/accounting, IT and real estate support services to Mercialys.
In 2019, the related fees amounted to €2 million (2018: €2 million).
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e Consulting services agreement: Mercialys makes available to
Casino the services of its team of real estate portfolio enhancement
specialists. This agreement had no material impactin 2019 or 2018.

The parties decided to terminate the agreement on 31 December 2018.
A new fixed-term agreement has been signed with an initial term of
sixmonths (1 January to 30 June 2019), covering asset management
services provided by Mercialys' teams on projects managed on
Casino’s behalf. The agreement is automatically renewable for
successive six-month terms up to a maximum of 48 months in total.

o Sale mandate: Casino seeks buyers for real estate assets on behalf
of Mercialys.

e Current account agreement: on 8 September 2005, Mercialys
entered into a current account and cash management agreement
with Casino. Under this agreement, Mercialys and Casino setup a
shareholder current account for all eligible payments, withdrawals
or advances of funds between the two companies. Following the
reduction in Casino’s interest in Mercialys’ share capital in 2012,
the two parties decided to terminate the existing current account
and cash management agreement and to enter into a new current
account agreement. This agreement maintained Mercialys current
account with Casino, enabling it to benefit from cash advances of
up to €50 million from Casino.

The term of the agreement was extended on several occasions and
expired on 31 December 2019. An addendum to the agreement
was signed in December 2019, reducing the cash advance
limit to €35 million. This amended agreement will expire on
31 December 2021.

e The Annual General Meeting of 25 April 2019 approved a related-
party agreement between Mercialys and Casino, Guichard-
Perrachon, pursuant to which Casino agreed to bear the specific
costs incurred by Mercialys in connection with the sale by Casino,
Guichard-Perrachon of all or some of its shares in Mercialys.

m 3.3.7. Commitments to joint ventures

The Group has given guarantees to joint ventures (also presented
in Note 6.11.1) for an amount of €68 million at 31 December 2019,
corresponding solely to its commitment to Distridyn
(31 December 2018: €93 million, including €68 million on behalf of
Distridyn and €25 million on behalf of CD Supply Innovation).
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3. COMMITMENTS RELATED TO THE SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION

= 3.4.1. Put options granted to owners of non-controlling interests - “NCI puts’

Accounting principle Group has decided to apply two different accounting methods for
these NCI puts, depending on whether they were granted before

or after 1 January 2010, as recommended by France’s securities
regulator (Autorité des marchés financiers):

The Group has granted put options to the owners of non-controlling
interests in some of its subsidiaries. The exercise price may be
fixed or based on a predetermined formula. The options may
be exercisable at any time or on a specified date. In accordance o NCI puts granted before the effective date of TAS 27 revised are

with TAS 32, obligations under these NCI puts are recognised as accounted for using the goodwill method whereby the difference
“Financial liabilities”; fixed price options are recognised at their between the financial liability and the carrying amount of the
discounted present value and variable price options at fair value. non-controlling interests is recognised in goodwill. In subsequent
NCI puts are presented on a separate line of the consolidated years, this liability is remeasured and any changes adjust goodwill.

statement of financial position, “Put options granted to owners of

o N e NCI puts granted since IAS 27 revised came into effect are
non-controlling interests”

accounted for as transactions between shareholders, with the

TAS 27 revised, which was effective for annual periods beginning on difference between the financial liability and the carrying amount
orafter 1 January 2010, and subsequently IFRS 10, effective for annual of the non-controlling interests recognised as a deduction from
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, describe the accounting equity. In subsequent years, this liability is remeasured and any
treatment of acquisitions of additional shares in subsidiaries. The changes adjust equity.

“NCI puts” can be analysed as follows at 31 December 2019:

% Group Commitment Fixed or variable Non-current Current
(€ millions) interest to non-controlling interests exercise price liabilities® liabilities®
Franprix(! 58.67% to 70.00% 30.00% to 41.33% F/V 40 -
Exito (Disco)® 62.49% 29.82% \Y - 104
Distribution Casino France® 60.00% 40.00% \Y 19 -
Other 2 1
TOTAL NCI PUT LIABILITIES 61 105

(1) The value of NCI puts on subsidiaries of the Franprix sub-group is generally based on net profit or a multiple of net sales. A 10% increase or decrease in these
indicators would not have a material impact. The options expire between 2020 and 2031

(2) This option is exercisable at any time until 21 June 2021. The exercise price is the highest amount obtained using different calculation formulas or a minimum
price. At 31 December 2019, the exercise price represents the minimum price.

(3) The value of the puts is based on a multiple of net sales generated by the five underlying Casino supermarkets. A 10% increase or decrease in the indicator would
not have a material impact. The option is exercisable between 1 April and 30 June 2023.

(4) At 31 December 2018, NCI put liabilities amounted to €188 million, including current liabilities of €126 million.
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= 3.4.2. Off-balance sheet commitments

Accounting principle

Puts and calls relating to non-controlling interests are generally
accounted for as derivative instruments. The exercise price of these
options generally reflects the fair value of the underlying assets.

Under the terms of the option contracts, the exercise price of written

of the companies concerned. In this case, the options are valued
based on the latest published earnings for options exercisable at any
time and earnings forecasts or projections for options exercisable
as of a given future date. In many cases, the put option written by
the Group is matched by a call written by the other party; in these
cases, the value shown corresponds to that of the written put.

put and call options may be determined using earnings multiples

Written put options on shares in non-controlled companies stood at
€5 million at 31 December 2019 and concerned entities within the
Monoprix sub-group (31 December 2018: €15 million, concerning
entities within the Monoprix and Franprix-Leader Price sub-groups).

Call options granted to the Group on shares in non-controlled
companies stood at €339 million at 31 December 2019
(31 December 2018: €348 million), and mainly concerned:
e The following call options in connection with transactions carried
out with Mercialys:
- call option on 100% of the assets or 100% of the shares of Hyperthetis
Participations, exercisable from 31 December 2020 and until
31 March 2022 at the higher of the fair value of the underlying and
a guaranteed minimum IRR;
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- call option on a property asset previously sold to Immosiris,
exercisable between 31 March 2021 and 30 September 2022 at
the higher of the fair value of the underlying and a guaranteed
minimum IRR;

e Lastly, in connection with the transactions carried out with master

franchisees in 2018 and 2017, the Group has call options on stores
that are exercisable between 2020 and 2023 at prices based on a
percentage of the improvement in EBITDA or a multiple of net sales.
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J9. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Accounting principle

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their carrying amount and their fair value
less costs to sell. A non-current asset or disposal group is classified
as held for sale if its carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.
For this condition to be met, the asset (or disposal group) must be
available for immediate sale in its present condition and its sale
must be highly probable. Management must be committed to a
plan to sell the asset which, in accounting terms, should result in the
conclusion of a sale within one year of the date of this classification.
Considering these characteristics, net assets held for sale attributable
to owners of the parent of the selling subsidiary are presented as a
deduction from net debt (Note 11).

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets classified as
held for sale are no longer depreciated or amortised.

A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that either
has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale, and:

o represents either a separate major line of business or a geographical
area of operations or is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose
of a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations; or

e isasubsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs when the
operation is disposed of or on a prior date when it fulfils the criteria
for classification as held for sale.

When an operation is classified as discontinued, the comparative
income statement and statement of cash flows are restated as if the
operation had fulfilled the criteria for classification as discontinued
as from the first day of the comparative period. Discontinued
operations are presented on a separate line of the consolidated
income statement, “Profit from discontinued operations’, which
includes the net profit or loss of the discontinued operation up
to the date of disposal, and if appropriate, any impairment loss
recognised to write down the net assets held for sale to their fair
value less costs to sell and/or any after-tax disposal gains or losses.

m 3.5.1. Assets held for sale and liabilities associated with assets held for sale

BT o

(€ millions) Notes Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Leader Price sub-group 2/35.2 1,362 706 - -
Via Varejo sub-group 2/35.2 = = 6,812 5,493
Other France Retail™ 1,077 161 1,601 484
Other Latam Retail 51 - 20

TOTAL 2,491 867 8,433 5,977
Net assets 1,623 2,456

of which attributable to owners of the parent 1.2 1,604 1,686

of the selling subsidiary

(1) At 31 December 2019, this line corresponds mainly to stores and property assets for approximately €507 million (attributable to owners of the parent) relating
to asset disposal plans and optimisation of the store base. At 31 December 2018, this line corresponded primarily to stores and property assets for €874 million
(attributable to owners of the parent) relating to asset disposal plans and optimisation of the store base.
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= 3.5.2. Discontinued operations

Net profit (loss) from discontinued operations primarily reflects (i) the contribution of the Via Varejo group (including Cnova Brazil) to the
Group’s earnings up to the date of its sale, along with the gain on its disposal, and (ii) the contribution of Leader Price to the Group’s earnings
included in the France Retail reportable segment (Note 2). Net profit (loss) from discontinued operations can be analysed as follows:

Net sales 4,376 8,528
Expenses (4,681) (8,500)
Gain on disposal of Via Varejo on 14 June 2019 29 -
Disposal proceeds 615 -
Disposal costs (39) -
Carrying amount of net assets sold (543) -
Other items of comprehensive income (loss) reclassified to profit or loss, net of tax®V 4) -
Impairment loss resulting from the measurement of Leader Price at fair value less costs to sell” (704) -
NET PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (979) 27
Income tax expense (16) (25)
Share of profit (loss) of equity-accounted investees (60) (34)
NET PROFIT (LOSS) FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS® (1,054) (32)
Attributable to owners of the parent (1,048) (57)
Attributable to non-controlling interests (6) 25

(1) The reclassification of Via Varejo in “Discontinued operations” had no impact on other comprehensive income in 2018 or 2017, The sale of Via Varejo in 2019 did
not lead to any related foreign currency translation adjustments being reclassified to profit or loss.

(2) When the Franprix-Leader Price operating segment was separated in two in 2019, the breakdown of goodwill between the Leader Price, Franprix and Geimex
businesses was measured based on the relative values of each of the businesses (value in use from the impairment test). The fair value of Leader Price is estimated
based on an enterprise value of €735 million (including a €35 million earn-out contingent on the achievement of certain operating indicators during the transition
period), less the estimated cost of the put options held by master franchisees and independent operators, and less the estimated future cash flow usage of the
sub-group up to the effective date of the disposal.

(3) Ofwhich a loss of €1,047 million for Leader Price in 2019 including the impact on master franchisees of completed and ongoing changes in the scope of consolidation.

Earnings per share of discontinued operations are presented in Note 12.10.
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Note 4  Additional cash How disclosures

Accounting principle

The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method
starting from consolidated net profit (loss) and is organised in
three sections:

o Cash flows from operating activities, including taxes, transaction
costs for acquisitions of subsidiaries, dividends received from
associates and joint ventures and payments received in respect
of government grants.

e Cash flows from (used in) investing activities, including
acquisitions of subsidiaries (excluding transaction costs), proceeds
from disposals of subsidiaries (including transaction costs),
acquisitions and disposals of investments in non-consolidated
companies, associates and joint ventures (including transaction

costs), contingent consideration paid for business combinations
during the measurement period and up to the amount of the
identified liability, and acquisitions and disposals of intangible
assets and property plant and equipment (including transaction
costs and deferred payments).

Cash flows from (used in) financing activities, including new
borrowings and repayments of borrowings, issues of equity
instruments, transactions between shareholders (including
transaction costs and any deferred payments), repayments of
lease liabilities, net interest paid (cash flows related to finance
costs, non-recourse factoring and associated transaction costs,
and interest on leases), treasury share transactions and dividend
payments. This category also includes cash flows from trade
payables requalified as debt.

4. RECONCILIATION OF PROVISION EXPENSE

Goodwill impairment 10.1.2 17) (1)
Impairment of intangible assets 1022 (8) (14)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 10.3.2 (70) (59)
Impairment of investment property 104.2 (4) (1)
Impairment of right-of-use assets 711 (11) (35)
Impairment of other assets (142) (172)
Net (additions to)/reversals of provisions for risks and charges 5 (11)
TOTAL PROVISION EXPENSE (248) (292)
Provision expense reported within discontinued operations 6 25
PROVISION EXPENSE ADJUSTMENT IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (241) (266)
42. RECONCILIATION OF CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL
TO THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Cash flows Changes Effect of
Cash  from operating in  movements
31 December  flows from activities, Other  scope of in Reclass.

2018  operating  discontinued cash  consoli-  exchange IFRS5 FIGl 31 December
(€ millions) Notes (restated) activities operations flows dation rates  reclass. other 2019
Goods inventories 6.6 (3,655) 1 (35) (13) 37 180 - (3485)
Property development work in progress 6.6 (179) (100) 1 (2) - (1) 9) (290)
Trade payables B/S 6,668 328 (83) - 33 (46)  (310) (1) 6,580
Trade receivables 6.7 (905) (64) (134) 62 11 221 (26) (836)
Other (receivables)/payables 6.8.1/6.9.1/6.10 542 (74) (2)  (463)W 134 5 27 134 302
TOTAL 2,471 92 (254) (463) 213 8 117 88 2,272

Cash flows Changes Effect of

Cash  from operating in  movements

1January  flows from activities, Other  scope of in Reclass.

2018  operating  discontinued cash  consoli-  exchange IFRS5 and 31 December
(€ millions) Notes (restated) activities operations flows dation rates  reclass. other 2018 (restated)
Goods inventories 6.6 (3,681) (196) - - (58) 177 124 (22) (3,655)
Property development work in progress 6.6 (126) (45) 4 - (2) 4 12 (26) (179)
Trade payables B/S 6,644 374 (45) - 47 (284)  (113) 45 6,668
Trade receivables 6.7 (888) (90) (31) - 10 37 40 17 (905)
Other (receivables)/payables 6.8.1/6.9.1/6.10 639 (159) 24 (56) 57 (8) (41) 86 542
TOTAL 2,588 (117) (48)  (56) 54 (74) 22 101 2,471

(1) In 2019, this amount mainly reflected the cash outflows related to financial assets (Note 4.11).
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43. RECONCILIATION OF ACQUISITIONS OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS

(€ millions) Notes M
Additions to and acquisitions of intangible assets 10.2.2 (269) (271)
Additions to and acquisitions of property, plant and equipment 10.3.2 (868) (879)
Additions to and acquisitions of investment property 10.4.2 (14) (59)
Additions to and acquisitions of lease premiums included in right-of-use assets 711 (8) (10)
Changes in amounts due to suppliers of non-current assets 21 (46)
Capitalised borrowing costs (IAS 23)® 10.3.3 5 1
Effect of discontinued operations 26 67

CASH USED IN ACQUISITIONS OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS, PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTY

(1) Non-cash movements.

(1,107) (1,188)

44 RECONCILIATION OF DISPOSALS OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS
(€ millions) Notes M
7 3

Disposals of intangible assets 10.2.2

Disposals of property, plant and equipment 10.3.2 188 326
Disposals of investment property 10.4.2 - 1
Disposals of lease premiums included in right-of-use assets 711 8 13
Gains on disposals of non-current assets'” 61 232
Changes in receivables related to non-current assets (32) (26)
Reclassification of non-current assets as “Assets held for sale” 664 693
Effect of discontinued operations (7) (12)

CASH FROM DISPOSALS OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS, PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTY

(1) Prior to the restatement of sale-and-leaseback transactions in accordance with IFRS 16.

890 1,230

45. EFFECT ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS OF CHANGES IN SCOPE
OF CONSOLIDATION RESULTING IN ACQUISITION OR LOSS OF CONTROL

(€ millions) 2018 (restated)

Amount paid for acquisitions of control (12) (62)
Cash acquired/(bank overdrafts assumed) in acquisitions of control 6 (18)
Proceeds from losses of control 227 13
(Cash sold)/bank overdrafts transferred in losses of control (4) -
EFFECT OF CHANGES IN SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION RESULTING IN ACQUISITION 218 (66)
OR LOSS OF CONTROL

In 2019, the net impact of these transactions on the Group’s cash and In 2018, the net impact of these transactions on the Group's cash and

cash equivalents mainly comprised: cash equivalents mainly comprised:

o theloss of control of loss-making stores in connection with the plan o an outflow of €43 million for the acquisition of Sarenza (Note 3.2.1),

to optimise the store base, for €166 million (Note 2); including the €20 million negative cash acquired and the €22 million
o the sale of the contract catering services business and of restaurants. sale price paid;

o an outflow of €29 million for the acquisition of various controlling
interests in the Franprix sub-group for €28 million;

e an inflow of €6 million in connection with the loss of control of the
Franprix sub-group.
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46. EFFECT OF CHANGES IN SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION RELATED
TO EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES

(€ millions) 2018

Amount paid for the acquisition of shares in equity-accounted investees (35) (39)

Amount received from the sale of shares in equity-accounted investees (4) 209

EFFECT OF CHANGES IN SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION
RELATED TO EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES

(39) 170

In 2018, the net impact of these transactions resulted for the most part from the block sale of Mercialys shares representing 15% of the capital
(Note 3.1.1).

4] RECONCILIATION OF DIVIDENDS PAID TO NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Dividends paid and payable to non-controlling interests 12.8 (92) (103)
Payment during the year of dividends accrued at the prior year-end 9 (2)
Effect of movements in exchange rates (1) 2)
Effect of discontinued operations = 2

DIVIDENDS PAID TO NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(83) (104)
AS PRESENTED IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

48. EFFECT ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS OF TRANSACTIONS
WITH NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(€ millions) Note 2018 (restated)

GPA - acquisition of 41.27% of Exito shares 2 (917) -
Vindémia - purchase of the non-controlling interests in the Mayotte subsidiary (18) -
GreenYellow - disposal without loss of control (2018) (12) 149
Distribution Casino France - Disposal without loss of control - 20
Exito - transactions with property companies” (11) 77
Public tender offer for Cnova N.V. shares - (3)
Other (12) (13)
EFFECT ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS OF TRANSACTIONS (971) 231

WITH NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(1) See footnote (8) of the 2018 consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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43. RECONCILIATION BETWEEN CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AND CHANGE IN NET DEBT
(€ millions) Notes M
Change in cash and cash equivalents (984) 377
Additions to loans and borrowings® (4,542) (1,543)
Repayments of loans and borrowings" 3,694 1,330
Non-cash changes in debt® 129 449
Change in net assets held for sale attributable to owners of the parent (160) 628
Change in other financial assets 274 48
Effect of changes in scope of consolidation 95 (225)
Change in fair value hedges (85) (60)
Change in accrued interest (26) 25
Other 31 32
Effect of movements in exchange rates") 55 158
Change in loans and borrowings of discontinued operations 974 (61)
CHANGE IN NET DEBT (675) 711
Net debt at beginning of period® 3,378 4,088
Net debt at end of period 1.2 4,053 3,378

(1) These impacts relate exclusively to continuing operations.

(2) Taking into account the impact of IFRS 16 for a negative €57 million at 1 January 2018 and a negative €44 million at 1 January 2019.

410. RECONCILIATION OF NET INTEREST PAID

(€ millions) Notes M
Net finance costs reported in the income statement 11.3.1 (356) (320)
Neutralisation of unrealised exchange gains and losses 13 4
Neutralisation of amortisation of debt issuance/redemption costs and premiums 4 27
Capitalised borrowing costs 10.3.3 (5) (11)
Change in accrued interest and in fair value hedges of borrowings® 23 (35)
Interest paid on lease liabilities 11.3.2 (256) (214)
Non-recourse factoring and associated transaction costs 11.3.2 (77) (81)
INTEREST PAID, NET AS PRESENTED IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (617) (629)

(1) In 2018, the item includes the impact of unwinding interest rate swaps in France for €59 million.

411. CASH OUTFLOWS RELATED TO ACQUISITIONS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

In 2019, cash outflows related to acquisitions of financial assets
amounted to €440 million, mainly breaking down as (i) a payment of
€291 million relating to the refinancing transactions into an escrow
account, which had a balance of €193 million at 31 December 2019
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(Note 6.8.1), and (ii) a cash outflow of €109 million arising on unwinding
the forward contract on GPA shares (Note 11.3.2).
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Note 5  Segment information

Accounting principle

In accordance with IFRS 8 — Operating Segments, segment
information is disclosed on the same basis as the Group’s internal
reporting system used by the chief operating decision maker (the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) in deciding how to allocate
resources and in assessing performance.

The Group’s reportable segments are as follows:

e France Retail: reportable segment comprising retail operating
segments (mainly the Casino, Monoprix, Franprix and Vindémia
sub-group banners);

e Latam Retail: reportable segment comprising food retailing
operating segments in Latin America (mainly the GPA food
banners and the Exito, Disco-Devoto and Libertad sub-group
banners);

e E-commerce: reportable segment comprising Cdiscount and the
Cnova NV. holding company.

During the year, the Franprix-Leader Price operating segment was
separated into Franprix, Leader Price and Geimex.
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The operating segments included in France Retail and Latam Retail
have similar businesses in terms of product type, assets and human
resources required for operations, customer profile, distribution
methods, marketing offer and long-term financial performance.

These reportable segments reflect pure retail activities and retail-
related activities. Given the dual strategy and the interconnection
between retail and real estate, the operating segments include real
estate asset management activities, property development activities
and energy-related activities.

Management assesses the performance of these segments on the
basis of net sales, trading profit (which includes the allocation of
holding company costs to all of the Group’s business units) and
EBITDA. EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation) is defined as trading profit plus recurring depreciation
and amortisation expense.

Segment assets and liabilities are not specifically reported internally
for management purposes and are therefore not disclosed in the
Group’s IFRS 8 segment information.

Segment information is determined on the same basis as the
consolidated financial statements.

5. KEY INDICATORS BY REPORTABLE SEGMENT

(€ millions)

France Retail Latam Retail

External net sales (Note 6.1)
EBITDA
Recurring depreciation and amortisation (Notes 6.3 and 6.4)

Trading profit

16,322 16,358 1,966 34,645
1,4670) 1,104 69 2,640
(791) (492) (65) (1,348)
6760 612 4 1,292

(1) Of which €56 million for property development transactions carried out in France, corresponding in 2019 to the recognition of previously eliminated margins
on property development transactions involving Casino and Mercialys following the decrease in Casino’s stake in Mercialys (Note 3.3.3).

(€ millions) France Retail Latam Retail E-commerce 2018 (restated)
External net sales (Note 6.1) 16,786 15,577 1,965 34,329
EBITDA 1,413 1,217® 39 2,669
Recurring depreciation and amortisation (Notes 6.3 and 6.4) (795) (459) (51) (1,305)
Trading profit (loss) 6180 758 (12) 1,364
Including effect of applying IFRS 16 on EBITDA 513 285 19 818
Including effect of applying IFRS 16 on trading profit (loss) 64 114 1 179

(1) Of which €63 million for property development transactions carried out in France.
(2) Of which BRL 481 million (€111 million) in respect of tax credits recognised by GPA during the period (mainly reversal of the valuation allowance on Assai’s

ICMS-ST tax credit following a change in the law).
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5.. KEY INDICATORS BY GEOGRAPHICAL AREA

(€ millions) France Latin America Other regions m
External net sales for 2019 18,285 16,343 17 34,645
External net sales for 2018 (restated) 18,747 15,568 13 34,329
(€ millions) France Latin America Other regions
Non-current assets at 31 December 2019 10,628 9,897 59 20,584
Non-current assets at 31 December 2018 (restated)" 12,648 9,687 60 22,395

(1) Non-current assets include goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant, and equipment, investment property, right-of-use assets, investments in equity-accounted

investees, contract assets and prepaid expenses beyond one year.

Note 6 Activify dafa

6l. TOTAL REVENUE

Accounting principle

Total revenue

Total revenue is analysed between “Net sales” and “Other revenue’”

“Net sales” include sales by the Group's stores, service stations,
e-commerce sites and restaurants, franchise fees, revenues from
business leases and financial services revenues.

Most of the amount reported under Group “Net sales” corresponds
to revenue included in the scope of IFRS 15.

“Other revenue” consists of revenue from the property development
and property trading businesses, rental revenues, miscellaneous
service revenues, incidental revenues and revenues from secondary
activities, and revenues from the energy business.

The majority of amounts reported under “Other revenue” are
included in the scope of IFRS 15, while rental revenues are included
in the scope of IFRS 16.

Revenue is measured at the contract price, corresponding to the
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for the supply of goods or services. The transaction price is allocated
to the performance obligations in the contract, which represent
the units of account for revenue recognition purposes. Revenue is
recognised when the performance obligation is satisfied, i.e., when
control of the good or service passes to the customer. Revenue may
therefore be recognised at a specific point in time or over time based
on the stage of completion.
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The Group’s main sources of revenue are as follows:

o Sales ofgoods (including through the property trading business): in
this case, the Group generally has only one performance obligation,
that of delivering the good to the customer. Revenue from these
sales is recognised when control of the good is transferred to the
customer upon delivery, i.e, generally:

- at the checkout for in-store sales,
- on receipt of the goods by the franchisee or affiliated store;
- onreceipt of the goods by the customer for e-commerce sales.

e Sales of services, for example sales of subscriptions, franchising
fees, logistics services, rental revenue and property management
services: in this case, for operations included in the scope of
IERS 15, the Group generally has only one performance obligation,
to supply the service, and the related revenues are recognised
over the period in which the services are performed.

e Property development revenues: in this case, the Group generally
has several performance obligations, some of which may be
satisfied at a given point in time and others over time based
on the project’s percentage of completion. Profit from property
development activities is generally calculated on a percentage-
of-completion basis by reference to the projected margin on
completion weighted by the percentage of completion determined
by the inputs method.

e Revenues from the energy business, for which the Group generally
identifies a performance obligation when the solar power plant
is delivered (in exchange for variable consideration in some
cases) or when the energy performance contracts are sold. The
Group also sells energy services for which the related revenue is
recognised when the service is performed.

The vast majority of revenues are recognised at a given point in time.
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If settlement of the consideration is deferred for an unusually
long time and no promise of financing is explicitly stated in the
contract or implied by the payment terms, revenue is recognised
by adjusting the consideration for the effects of the time value of
money. If significant, the difference between this price and the
unadjusted transaction price is recognised in “Other financial
income” over the payment deferral period, determined using the
effective interest method.

The Group operates loyalty programmes that enable customers to
obtain discounts or award credits on their future purchases. Award
credits granted to customers under loyalty programmes represent
a performance obligation that is separately identifiable from the
initial sales transaction. This performance obligation gives rise to
the recognition of a contract liability. The corresponding revenue
is deferred until the award credits are used by the customer.

Contract assets and liabilities, incremental costs to
obtain a contract and costs to fulfil a contract

o A contract asset corresponds to an entity’s right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the entity has transferred
to a customer when that right is conditioned on something other
than the passage of time. Based on this definition, a receivable
does not constitute a contract asset.

The Group recognises a contract asset when it has fulfilled
all or part of its performance obligation but does not have an
unconditional right to payment (i.e,, the Group does not yet have
the right to invoice the customer). In light of its business, contract
assets recognised by the Group are not material.

m 6.1.1. Breakdown of total revenue
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o A contractliability corresponds to an entity’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the entity has received
consideration from the customer.

The Group recognises contract liabilities mainly for award credits
granted under its loyalty programmes, advances received and sales
for which all or part of the performance obligation has not yet
been fulfilled (e.g, sales of subscriptions and gift cards, and future
performance obligations of the property development business
for which the customer has already been invoiced followed by
payment of consideration).

e The incremental costs to obtain a contract are those costs that
the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it
would not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained
and which it expects to recover.

The costs to fulfil a contract are costs related directly to a contract
that generate or enhance the resources that will be used by the
Group in satisfying its performance obligations and which it
expects to recover.

For the Group, the costs to obtain and fulfil contracts correspond
primarily to the costs incurred in connection with its franchising
and affiliation business. These costs are capitalised and amortised
over the life of the franchise or affiliation contract. The capitalised
amounts are tested regularly for impairment (Note 1.3).

Contract assets and the costs to obtain and fulfil contracts are tested
for impairment under IFRS 9.

(€ millions) France Retail Latam Retail E-commerce m
Net sales 16,322 16,358 1,966 34,645
Other revenue 494 171 - 665
TOTAL REVENUE 16,816 16,528 1,966 35,310
(€ millions) France Retail Latam Retail E-commerce 2018 (restated)
Net sales 16,786 15,577 1,965 34,329
Other revenue 382 151 - 533
TOTAL REVENUE 17,169 15,728 1,965 34,862

= 6.1.2. Incremental costs of obtaining and fulfilling contracts, contract assets

and liabilities

(€ millions)

Notes 2018 (restated)

Costs to obtain contracts included in “Intangible assets”
Contract assets
Right-of return assets included in inventories

Contract liabilities

10.2 13 152
6.8/6.9 11 10
6.6 2 3
6:10 150 119

In 2019, the Group reviewed the presentation of costs to obtain contracts (Note 1.3).
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.. COST OF GOODS SOLD

Accounting principle

Gross margin

Gross margin corresponds to the difference between “Net sales”
and the “Cost of goods sold”.

“Cost of goods sold” comprises the cost of purchases net of discounts,
commercial cooperation fees and any tax credits associated with
the purchases, changes in retail inventories and logistics costs. It
also includes property development and property trading business
costs and changes in the related inventories.

Commercial cooperation fees are measured based on contracts
signed with suppliers. They are billed in instalments over the year.
Ateach year-end, an accrual is recorded for the amount receivable
or payable, corresponding to the difference between the value of

the services actually rendered to the supplier and the sum of the
instalments billed during the year.

Change in inventories

Changes in inventories, which may be positive or negative, are
determined after taking into account any impairment losses.

Logistics costs

Logistics costs correspond to the cost of logistics operations managed
or outsourced by the Group, comprising all warehousing, handling
and freight costs incurred after goods are first received at one of the
Group’s sites. Transport costs included in suppliers’ invoices (e.g.,
for goods purchased on a “delivery duty paid” or “DDP” basis) are
included in “Purchases and change in inventories” Outsourced
transport costs are recognised under “Logistics costs”

Purchases and change in inventories (25,102) (24,502)
Logistics costs 6.3 (1,445) (1,397)
COST OF GOODS SOLD (26,547) (25,899)
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6.3. EXPENSES BY NATURE AND FUNCTION

Accounting principle General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses correspond to overheads
and the cost of corporate units, including the purchasing and
procurement, sales and marketing, IT and finance functions.

Selling expenses
“Selling expenses” consist of point-of-sale costs.

Pre-opening and post-closure costs

Pre-opening costs that do not meet the criteria for capitalisation
and post-closure costs are recognised in operating expense when

incurred.
General and
Logistics Selling administrative
(€ millions) costsV expenses expenses
Employee benefits expense (545) (2,831) (784) (4,160)
Other expenses (759) (2,247) (404) (3,409)
Depreciation and amortisation (Notes 5.1/6.4) (142) (1,022) (183) (1,348)
TOTAL (1,445) (6,100) (1,371) (8,916)
General and
Logistics Selling administrative
(€ millions) costs® expenses expenses 2018 (restated)
Employee benefits expense (526) (2,990) (786) (4,301)
Other expenses (736) (2,256) (397) (3,390)
Depreciation and amortisation (Notes 5.1/6.4) (135) (998) (172) (1,305)
TOTAL (1,397) (6,244) (1,355) (8,996)
(1) Logistics costs are reported under “Cost of goods sold’.
A competitiveness and employment tax credit (CICE) has been from employee benefits expense, of which €4.5 million included
introduced in France. It corresponds to a tax credit (repayable from within “Profit (loss) from discontinued operations” of Leader Price.
the end of the third year) of 6% in 2018 (9% for Vindémia) based on The receivable was sold on a no-recourse basis. The CICE has been
salaries equal to or less than 2.5x the French minimum wage. In 2018, abolished with effect from 1 January 2019 and replaced by a reduction
the CICE tax benefit of €78 million was recognised as a deduction in social security contributions.

6.4 DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

Amortisation of intangible assets 10.2.2 177) (160)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 10.3.2 (476) (518)
Depreciation of investment property 10.4.2 (14) (8)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 711 (750) (691)
TOTAL DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION EXPENSE (1,417) (1,377)
Depreciation and amortisation reported under “Profit from discontinued operations” 70 72
DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION OF CONTINUING OPERATIONS 5.1/6.3 (1,348) (1,305)
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6.5. OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES

Accounting principle o Income and expenses arising from major events occurring during
the period that would distort analyses of the Group’s recurring

This caption covers two types of items:
. o profitability. They are defined as significant items of income and

e Income and expenses which, by definition, are notincluded in an expense that are limited in number, unusual or abnormal, whose
assessment of a business unit’s recurring operating performance, occurrence is rare. Examples include restructuring costs (such
such as gains and losses on disposals of non-current assets, as reorganisation costs and the costs of converting stores to new
impairment losses on non-current assets, and income/expenses concepts) and provisions and expenses for litigation and risks
related to changes in the scope of consolidation (for example, (including discounting adjustments).

transaction costs and fees for acquisitions of control, gains and
losses from disposals of subsidiaries, remeasurement at fair value
of previously-held interests).

(€ millions) 2018 (restated)

Total other operating income 61 350

Total other operating expenses (779) (751)
(719) (402)

BREAKDOWN BY TYPE

Gains and losses on disposal of non-current assets"” (7 255

Net asset impairment losses®(?) (160) (204)

Net income (expense) related to changes in scope of consolidation®® (198) (146)

Gains and losses on disposal of non-current assets, net impairment losses on assets

and net income (expense) related to changes in scope of consolidation i) (©4)
Restructuring provisions and expenses¥®® (210) (216)
Provisions and expenses for litigation and risks® (95) (80)
Other® (50) (12)
Sub-total (355) (308)
TOTAL NET OTHER OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSE) (719) (402)

(1) The net loss on disposal of non-current assets in 2019 mainly concerns the France Retail sector with a loss of €37 million arising mainly on the disposal of property
assets (the main assets sold are detailed in Note 2), and the Latam Retail sector with a gain of €31 million. The net gain on disposal of non-current assets in 2018
primarily concerned the France Retail segment and especially disposals of Monoprix store properties.

(2) The impairment loss recognised in 2019 mainly concerns the France Retail segment and relates to the asset disposal plan. The impairment loss recognised in 2018
mainly concerned the France Retail segment.

(3) The expense relating to the store optimisation plan in the France Retail segment, including employee costs, store closure costs, inventory reduction costs and
impairment totalled €151 million in 2019 (of which primarily €69 million corresponding to changes in scope and €76 million to restructuring). Other changes in
scope of consolidation relate mainly to the France Retail and Latam Retail segments and include fees of €36 million arising on the reorganisation of operations
in Latin America. The net expense of €146 million recorded in 2018 resulted primarily from the reclassification to profit or loss, in accordance with IAS 21, of
foreign currency translation adjustments accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve for an amount of €67 million (Note 12.7.2).

(4) Excluding the impact of the store optimisation plan set out in the previous footnote, restructuring provisions and expenses for 2019 mainly concern the France
Retail and Latam Retail segments for €59 million and €70 million, respectively. Restructuring provisions and expenses in 2018 primarily concerned the France
Retail segment for €148 million, relating mostly to employee costs and store closure costs, and the Latam Retail segment for €56 million (mainly GPA).

(5) Provisions and expenses for litigation and risks represented a net expense of €95 million in 2019, including €36 million for tax risks at GPA. Provisions and
expenses for litigation and risks represented a net expense of €80 million in 2018, including €35 million for tax risks at GPA.

(6) Including €32 million in costs relating to the digitalisation programme at Distribution Casino France (Hypermarkets & Supermarkets division). This new strategy
focused on transforming its bricks-and-mortar stores into autonomous, dynamic spaces is primarily based on the development of the Casino Max app, supported
by unprecedented efforts to secure customer loyalty, generating further costs.

(7) Reconciliation of impairment losses with the analysis of changes in non-current assets:

(€ millions) Notes 2018 (restated)

Goodwill impairment losses 10.1.2 17) (1)
Impairment (losses)/reversals on intangible assets, net 10.2.2 (8) (14)
Impairment (losses)/reversals on property, plant and equipment, net 10.3.2 (70) (59)
Impairment (losses)/reversals on investment property, net 10.4.2 (4) (1)
Impairment (losses)/reversals on right-of-use assets, net 711 (11) (35)
Impairment (losses)/reversals on other assets, net (IFRS 5 and other) (142) (180)
TOTAL NET IMPAIRMENT LOSSES (253) (289)
Net impairment losses of discontinued operations 10 -
NET IMPAIRMENT LOSSES OF CONTINUING OPERATIONS (243) (289)
o/w presented under “Restructuring provisions and expenses” (52) (69)
o/w presented under “Net impairment (losses)/reversals on assets” (160) (204)
o/w presented under “Net income/(expense) related to changes in scope of consolidation” (32) (19)
o/w presented under “Gains and losses on disposal of non-current assets” - 4
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66. INVENTORIES

Accounting principle

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and probable net
realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale. Provisions for impairment of inventories is recognised if
the probable net realisable value is lower than cost. This analysis
takes into account the business unit's operating environment and
the type, age, turnover characteristics and sales pattern of the
products concerned.

The cost of inventories is determined by the first-in-first-out (FIFO)
method, except for inventories held by the GPA sub-group which

uses the weighted average unit cost method, primarily for tax
reasons. As GPAs inventory turnover rate is very high, inventory
values would not be materially different if the FIFO method was
applied. The cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing them to
their present location and condition. Accordingly, logistics costs are
included in the carrying amount together with supplier discounts
deducted from “Cost of goods sold” The cost of inventories also
includes gains or losses on cash flow hedges of future inventory
purchases initially accumulated in equity.

For its property development and property trading businesses,
Casino Group recognises assets and projects in progress in
inventories.

31 December 2018

31 December 2019

(€ millions) (restated)
Goods 3,532 3,704
Property assets 300 206
Gross amount 3,833 3,910
Accumulated impairment losses on goods (48) (49)
Accumulated impairment losses on property assets (10) (27)
Accumulated impairment losses (58) (76)
NET INVENTORIES (NOTE 4.2) 3,775 3,834

6. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Accounting principle

The Group’s trade receivables are current financial assets (Note 11)
that correspond to an unconditional right to receive consideration.
They are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost less any impairment losses. The fair
value of trade receivables usually corresponds to the amount on
the invoice. A loss allowance for expected credit losses is recorded
upon recognition of the receivable. The Group applies the simplified
approach for the measurement of expected credit losses on all of

m 6.7.1. Breakdown of trade receivables

its trade receivables, which are determined based on credit losses
observed for receivables with the same profile, as adjusted to take
into account forward-looking factors such as the customer’s credit
status or the economic environment.

Trade receivables can be sold to banks and continue to be carried
as assets in the statement of financial position for as long as the
contractual cash flows and substantially all the related risks and
rewards are not transferred to a third party.

(€ millions) Notes 31 December 2018
Trade receivables 11.5.3 940 1,030
Accumulated impairment losses on trade receivables 6.7.2 (104) (125)
NET TRADE RECEIVABLES 4.2 836 905
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m 6.7.2. Accumulated impairment losses on trade receivables

ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON TRADE RECEIVABLES AT 1 JANUARY (125) (132)
Additions (44) (76)
Reversals 59 78
Other (changes in scope of consolidation, reclassifications and foreign exchange differences) 7 4
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON TRADE RECEIVABLES AT 31 DECEMBER (104) (125)

The criteria for recognising impairment losses are presented in Note 11.5.3 “Counterparty risk”.

6.0. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

m 6.8.1. Breakdown of other current assets

31 December 2018
(€ millions) Notes 31 December 2019 (restated)

Other receivables 913 1,022

Financial assets held for cash management purposes

and short-term financial investments 12 ! 3
Financial assets arising from a significant disposal of non-current assets 1.2 31 41
Guarantees and escrow accounts 121 257 -
Tax and employee-related receivables in Brazil 6.9 242 137
Current accounts of non-consolidated companies 12 30
Accumulated impairment losses on other receivables and current accounts 6.8.2 (33) (31)
Fair value hedges - assets 11.5.1 17 34
Derivatives not qualifying for hedge accounting and cash flow hedges - assets 11.5.1 7 6
Contract assets 6.1.2 1 10
Prepaid expenses 80 97
OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 1,536 1,383

(1) Of which €193 million relating to the November 2019 refinancing transactions (Note 2).

Other receivables primarily include tax and employee-related receivables (excluding Brazil) and receivables from suppliers. Prepaid expenses
mainly concern purchases, rent, other occupancy costs and insurance premiums.

= 6.8.2. Accumulated impairment losses on other receivables and current accounts

(€ millions) 2018

ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON OTHER RECEIVABLES

AND CURRENT ACCOUNTS AT 1 JANUARY @D (29)
Additions (51) (42)
Reversals 47 38
Other (changes in scope of consolidation, reclassifications and foreign exchange differences) 2 2
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON OTHER RECEIVABLES (33) 1)

AND CURRENT ACCOUNTS AT 31 DECEMBER
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6. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

= 6.9.1. Analysis of other current assets

_ 31 December 2018
(€ millions) Notes 31 December 2019 (restated)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4 35
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 4 4
Financial assets arising from a significant disposal of non-current assets 11.2.1 29 -
Non-current fair value hedges - assets 11.5.1 62 67
Other financial assets 303 285
Loans 121 165
Non-hedging derivatives - assets 11.5.1 7 9
Other long-term receivables 175 11
Tax and employee-related receivables in Brazil (see below) 599 618
Legal deposits paid by GPA 13.2 176 175
Impairment of other non-current assets 6.9.2 (46) (48)
Prepaid expenses 15 16
OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 1,183 1,151

GPA has a total of €841 million in tax receivables (of which €599 million
inlong-term receivables and €242 million in short-term receivables),
corresponding primarily to ICMS (VAT) for €580 million, PIS/COFINS

(VAT) and INSS (employer social security contributions). GPA expects
the main tax receivable (ICMS) to be recovered as follows:

(€ millions)
Within one year 97
In one to five years 320
In more than five years 163
TOTAL 580

GPA recognises ICMS and other tax credits when it has formally
established and documented its right to use the credits and expects

to use them within a reasonable period. These credits are mainly
recognised as a deduction from the cost of goods sold.

= 6.9.2. Impairment of other non-current assets

ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS AT 1 JANUARY (48) (69)
Additions , .
Reversals - -
Other reclassifications and movements 2 21
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS (46) (48)

AT 31 DECEMBER®

(1) Corresponding mainly to impairment losses recognised on loans granted by Franprix to master franchisees following the inclusion of the share of losses from
non-controlling interests of Casino in certain stores of these master franchisees.
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610. OTHER LIABILITIES

31 December 2019

31 December 2018 (restated)

Non-current Current Non-current Current
(€ millions) portion portion Total portion portion Total
Derivative instruments - liabilities (Note 11.5.1)") 4 185 227 285 2 288
Tax and employee benefits payable 98 1,281 1,378 135 1,383 1,518
Sundry liabilities 36 946 982 36 803 839
Amounts due to suppliers of non-current assets - 192 192 1 204 205
Current account advances - 2 2 - 26 26
Contract liabilities (Note 6.1.2) - 150 150 2 116 19
Deferred income 8 83 90 4 78 82
TOTAL 181 2,839 3,021 464 2,613 3,076

(1) Primarily comprises the fair value of the GPA total return swap (TRS) (Note 11.3.2).

61l OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS

Accounting principle

At every year-end, Management determines, to the best of its
knowledge, that there are no off-balance sheet commitments likely
to have a material effect on the Group's current or future financial
position other than those described in this note.

The completeness of this information is checked by the Finance,
Legal and Tax departments, which also participate in drawing up
contracts that are binding on the Group.

Commitments entered into in the ordinary course of business
mainly concern the Group's operating activities except for undrawn
confirmed lines of credit, which represent a financing commitment.

Off-balance sheet commitments relating to the scope of consolidation are presented in Note 3.4.2.

m 6.11.1. Commitments given

The amounts disclosed in the table below represent the maximum (undiscounted) potential amounts that might have to be paid under
guarantees issued by the Group. They are not netted against sums which might be recovered through legal action or counter-guarantees

received by the Group.

(€ millions)

31 December 2018

31 December 2019

Assets pledged as collateral™ 206 209
Bank guarantees given® 2,343 2,286
Guarantees given in connection with disposals of non-current assets 15 32
Other commitments 62 61
TOTAL COMMITMENTS GIVEN 2,625 2,588
Expiring:
Within one year 140 170
In one to five years 2,476 2,410
In more than five years 9 7

(1) Current and non-current assets pledged, mortgaged or otherwise given as collateral. As at 31 December 2019, this concerns GPA for €189 million, mainly in
connection with the tax disputes described in Note 13.2 (31 December 2018: €192 million). The amount of €206 million does not include the guarantees given in

connection with the refinancing transaction in November 2019 (Note 11.5.4).

(2) At 31 December 2019, this amount includes €2,252 million in bank guarantees obtained by GPA (31 December 2018: €2,137 million) mainly in connection with the
tax disputes described in Note 13.2. It also comprises guarantees issued on behalf of joint ventures for €68 million (31 December 2018: €93 million), as described

in Note 3.3.7.
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® 6.11.2. Commitments received

The amounts disclosed in the table below represent the maximum (undiscounted) potential amounts in respect of commitments received.

(€ millions) 31 December 2018
Bank guarantees received 64 63
Secured financial assets 91 89
Undrawn confirmed lines of credit (Note 11.2.4) 2,666 3,404
Other commitments 20 25
TOTAL COMMITMENTS RECEIVED 2,841 3,581
Expiring:
Within one year 350 419
In one to five years 2,364 3,037
In more than five years 127 126

Nofe 7 Leases

Accounting principle

Group as lessee

The Group is a lessee in a large number of property leases primarily
relating to store properties, warehouses, office buildings and
apartments for lessee managers. It also acts as lessee in leases of
vehicles, store machinery and equipment (notably cooling systems)
and logistics equipment, primarily in France.

The Group’s lease contracts are recognised in accordance with
IFRS 16 — Leases, taking into account the terms and conditions of
each agreement and all relevant facts and circumstances.

At the inception of such contracts, the Group determines whether
or not they meet the definition of (or contain) a lease, i.e, whether
they convey the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Leases are carried in the lessee’s statement of financial position
as follows:

o aright-of-use asset reflecting the right to use a leased asset over the
lease term is recorded in “Right-of-use assets” in the consolidated
statement of financial position;

o alease liability reflecting the obligation to make lease payments
over that same period is recorded in “Current lease liabilities”
and “Non-current lease liabilities” in the consolidated statement
of financial position. Lease liabilities are not included in the
calculation of consolidated net debt.

Initial measurement
At the lease commencement date:

e lease liabilities are recognised at the present value of future
fixed lease payments over the estimated term of the lease, as
determined by the Group. The Group generally uses its incremental
borrowing rate to discount these future lease payments. Future
fixed lease payments include adjustments for payments that
depend on an index or a contractually defined growth rate. They
can also include the value of a purchase option or estimated
early termination penalties, when Casino is reasonably certain to
exercise these options. Any lease incentives receivable at the lease
commencement date are deducted from the fixed lease payments;

o right-of-use assets are recognised for the value of the lease liabilities,
less any lease incentives received from the lessor, plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date, initial
direct costs and an estimate of costs to be incurred in respect of
any contractual restoration obligations.

The Group only includes the lease component of the contract
when measuring its lease liabilities. For certain categories of assets
where the lease includes a service component as well as a lease
component, the Group may recognise a single lease contract (ie.,
with no distinction between the service and lease components).

Subsequent measurement
Lease liabilities are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method.

Lease liabilities are:

o increased by interest expenses, as calculated by applying a discount
rate to the liabilities at the start of the financial period. These
interest expenses are recognised in the income statement within
“Other financial expenses’;

e reduced by any lease payments made.

o Cash payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities along
with cash payments for the interest portion of those liabilities
are included within net cash used in financing activities in the
consolidated statement of cash flows.

The carrying amount oflease liabilities is remeasured against right-
of-use assets to reflect any lease modifications and in the event of:
o changes in the lease term;

e changes in the assessment of whether or not a purchase option
is reasonably certain to be exercised;

o changes in amounts expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee granted to the lessor;

o changes in variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate when the index or rate adjustment takes effect (i.e, when the
lease payments are effectively modified).

CASINO GROUP
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In the first two cases, lease liabilities are remeasured using a discount
rate as revised at the remeasurement date. In the last two cases,
the discount rate used to measure the lease liabilities on initial
recognition remains unchanged.

Right-of-use assets are measured using the amortised cost model
as from the lease commencement date and over the estimated
term of the lease. This gives rise to the recognition of a straight-line
depreciation expense in the income statement. Right-of-use assets
arereduced by any impairment losses recognised in accordance with
IAS 36 (Note 10.5) and are readjusted in line with the remeasurement
of lease liabilities.

In the event a lease is terminated early, any gains or losses arising
as a result of derecognising the lease liabilities and right-of-use
assets are taken to the income statement within other operating
income or other operating expenses.

Estimating the lease term

The lease term corresponds to the enforceable period of the lease
(i.e., the period during which the lease cannot be cancelled by the
lessor, plus all possible contractual extensions permitted that are
able to be decided unilaterally by the lessee), and takes account of
any periods covered by an option to terminate or extend the lease
if the Group is reasonably certain respectively to not exercise or
exercise that option.

In estimating the reasonably certain term of a lease, the Group
considers all of the characteristics associated with the leased
assets (local laws and regulations, location, category - e.g, stores,
warehouses, offices, apartments, property/equipment leases,
expected useful life, etc.). Under leases of store properties, the Group
may also consider economic criteria such as the store format, the
long-term nature and performance of the leased assets, and whether
or not significant recent investments have been made in the stores.

Generally, the term of warehouses and office leases along with
equipment leases corresponds to the initial term provided for in
the lease contract.

More specifically, for “3-6-9"-type commercial leases in France, the
Group recognises a term of nine years as the maximum enforceable
period of the lease at the lease commencement date, in accordance
with the ANC's 16 February 2018 position statement.

Certain leases may be automatically renewable. The Group is
unable to reliably estimate the term of such leases beyond its strict
contractual obligation, generally limited to several months.

Discount rate

The discount rate generally used to calculate the lease liability for
each lease contract depends on the Group's incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date. This rate is the rate of interest
that a lessee would have to pay at the lease commencement date
to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment. The Group calculates
a discount rate for each country, taking into account the entity’s
credit spread and the lease terms.
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Lease premiums

Any lease premiums relating to lease contracts are included within
“Right-of-use assets” Depending on the legal particulars inherent to
each lease premium, they are either amortised over the underlying
lease term or (most commonly) are not amortised, but are tested
annually for impairment.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group has chosen to apply the recognition exemptions in
IFRS 16 concerning:

o short-term leases (i.e, with a term of 12 months orless atinception);
and

o leases for which the underlying asset is of low value (value of
underlying leased asset less than €5,000).

Within the Group, these exemptions apply mainly to leases of store
equipment and office equipment such as tablets, computers, mobile
telephones and photocopiers.

Payments under these leases are included in operating expenses
in the consolidated income statement, in the same way as variable
lease payments which are not included in the initial measurement
oflease liabilities. Cash flows relating to lease payments made are
included within net cash from operating activities in the consolidated
statement of cash flows.

Sale-and-leaseback transactions

A sale-and-leaseback transaction is a transaction in which the
owner of assets sells those assets to third parties and then leases
them back. If the sale of the assets by the seller-lessee meets the
definition of a sale under IFRS 15:

o theseller-lessee measures the right-of-use asset under the lease as
a proportion of the net carrying amount of the asset transferred,
which corresponds to the right of use retained by that seller-lessee.
Accordingly, the seller-lessee only recognises the net disposal gain
or loss that relates to the rights transferred to the buyer-lessor;

o the buyer-lessor accounts for the purchase of the asset applying
applicable standards and for the lease applying IFRS 16.

Ifthe sale of the asset by the seller-lessee does not meet the definition
of a sale under [FRS 15, the sale-and-leaseback is accounted for as
a financing transaction. Accordingly:

o theseller-lessee recognises the transferred asset in its statement
of financial position and recognises a financial liability equal to
the consideration received from the buyer-lessor;

o the buyer-lessor does not recognise the transferred asset in its
statement of financial position but recognises a financial asset
equal to the considered transferred.

Deferred taxes
In the event a lease gives rise to a temporary difference, deferred
tax is recognised (Note 9).
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interest rate or incremental borrowing rate, of the lease payments
receivable under the lease, plus any unguaranteed residual
value accruing to the Group;

- splits the lease income into (i) interest income recognised in
the consolidated income statement within “Other financial
income’, and (ii) amortisation of the principal, which reduces
the amount of the receivable.

Group as lessor

When the Group acts as lessor, it classifies each of its leases as either
a finance lease or an operating lease.

e Finance leases are treated as a sale of non-current assets to the
lessee financed by a loan granted by the lessor. To recognise a
finance lease, the Group:

- derecognises the leased asset from its statement of financial e For operating leases, the lessor includes the leased assets within
position; “Property, plant and equipment” in its statement of financial
- recognises a financial receivable in “Financial assets at amortised position and recognises lease payments received under “Other
cost” within “Other current assets” and “Other non-current revenue’ in the consolidated income statement on a straight-line
assets” in its consolidated statement of financial position at an basis over the lease term.
amount equal to the present value, discounted at the contractual

1.  GROUP AS LESSEE

Details of these leases are provided below.

= 7.1.1. Statement of financial position information

Composition of and change in right-of-use assets

Buildings, Other property, Other m
Land and land fixtures plant and intangible
(€ millions) improvements and fittings equipment assets
Carrying amount at 1 January 2018 (restated) 46 4,309 112 24 4,491
New assets - 863 38 39 940
Remeasurements 1 263 - - 264
Derecognised assets - (40) - - (40)
Depreciation and amortisation for the year (6) (653) (29) (2) (691)
Impairment (losses)/reversals, net (1) (33) - - (35)
Changes in scope of consolidation - 3 - - 3
Effect of movements in exchange rates - (145) (1) (8) (154)
IFRS 5 reclassifications (5) (281) (7) - (292)
Other reclassifications and movements" - (41) - 146 105
Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 (restated) 34 4,244 114 200 4,592
New assets - 765 149 - 913
Remeasurements 2 415 - 1 418
Derecognised assets (7) (91) - - (98)
Depreciation and amortisation for the year (6) (690) (48) (5) (749)
Impairment (losses)/reversals, net - (1) (1) - (11)
Changes in scope of consolidation - 5 - - 5
Effect of movements in exchange rates - (24) - 3) (27)
IFRS 5 reclassifications 2 (163) (7) - (168)
Other reclassifications and movements - (27) - (10) (37)
CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 25 4,423 207 183 4,837
(1) Including BRL 633 million (€147 million) corresponding to the Paes Mendonga receivable reclassified to “Lease premiums” (Note 6.9.1).
Lease liabilities
31 December 2018
(€ millions) Notes (restated)
Current portion 740 677
Non-current portion 3,937 3,560
TOTAL 11.5.4 4,676 4,238
of which France Retail 2,807 2,575
of which Latam Retail 1,680 1,490
of which E-commerce 189 173

Note 11.5.4 provides an analysis of lease liabilities by maturity.
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m 7.1.2.Income statement information

The following amounts were recognised in the 2019 income statement in respect of leases, excluding lease liabilities:

(e mition T o R

Rental expense relating to variable lease payments!) 54 59
Rental expense relating to short-term leases” 9 7
Rental expense relating to leases of low-value assets that are not short-term leases!") 112 96

(1) Leases not included in lease liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position.

Depreciation charged against right-of-use assets is presented in Note 7.1.1, while interest expense on lease liabilities is shown in Note 11.3.2.

Sub-letting income included within right-of-use assets is set out in Note 7.2.

m 7.1.3. Statement of cash flow information

Total lease payments made in the year amounted to €1,120 million (2018: €987 million).

m 7.1.4.Sale-and-leaseback transactions
The main sale-and-leaseback transactions are described in Note 2.

1. GROUP AS LESSOR

= Operating leases
The following table provides a maturity analysis of payments receivable under operating leases:

(€ millions) 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

Within one year 65 64
In one to two years 36 36
In two to three years 25 21
In three to four years 20 14
In four to five years 15 10
In five or more years 63 58
UNDISCOUNTED VALUE OF LEASE PAYMENTS RECEIVABLE 224 203

The following amounts were recognised in the 2019 income statement:

(emitions) T oo T

Operating leases
Lease income! 109 102
Sub-letting income included within right-of-use assets 45 38

(1) Including €12 million in variable lease payments in 2019 that do not depend on an index or rate (2018: €5 million).
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Note 8  Employee benefits expense

§l. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

Employee benefits expense is analysed by function in Note 6.3.

... PROVISIONS FOR PENSIONS AND OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

Accounting principle

Provisions for pensions and other post-employment
benefits

Group companies provide their employees with various employee
benefit plans depending on local laws and practice.

e Under defined contribution plans, the Group pays fixed
contributions into a fund and has no obligation to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay
all employee benefits relating to employee service in the current
and prior periods. Contributions to these plans are expensed as
incurred.

e Under defined benefit plans, the Groups obligation is measured
using the projected unit credit method based on the agreements
effective in each company. Under this method, each period of
service gives rise to an additional unit of benefit entitlement and
each unitis measured separately to build up the final obligation.
The final obligation is then discounted. The actuarial assumptions
used to measure the obligation vary according to the economic
conditions prevailing in the relevant country. The obligation
is measured by independent actuaries annually for the most
significant plans and for the employment termination benefit, and
regularly for all other plans. Assumptions include expected rate
of future salary increases, estimated average years of service, life
expectancy and staff turnover rates (based on resignations only).

Actuarial gains and losses arise from the effects of changes in
actuarial assumptions and experience adjustments (differences
between results based on previous actuarial assumptions and
what has actually occurred). All actuarial gains and losses arising

on defined benefit plans are recognised immediately in other
comprehensive income.

Past service cost, corresponding to the increase in the benefit
obligation resulting from the introduction of a new benefit plan or
modification of an existing plan, is expensed immediately.

The expense in the income statement comprises:

e service cost, i.e, the cost of services provided during the year,
recognised in trading profit;

e pastservice cost and the effect of plan curtailments or settlements,
generally recognised in “Other operating income and expenses’;

e interest cost, corresponding to the discounting adjustment to
the projected benefit obligation net of the return on plan assets,
recorded in “Other financial income and expenses’ Interest cost
is calculated by applying the discount rate defined in IAS 19 to the
net obligation (i.e, the projected obligation less related plan assets)
recognised in respect of defined benefit plans, as determined at
the beginning of the year.

The provision recognised in the statement of financial position is
measured as the net present value of the obligation less the fair
value of plan assets.

Provisions for other in service long-term employee
benefits

e Other in-service long-term employee benefits, such as jubilees,
are also covered by provisions, determined on the basis of an
actuarial estimate of vested rights as of the reporting date. Actuarial
gains and losses on these benefit plans are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

m 8.2.1. Breakdown of provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefits

and for long-term employee benefits

31 December 2018

31 December 2019

Non-current  Current Non-current  Current

(€ millions) portion  portion Total portion  portion Total
Pensions 310 10 319 318 10 328
Jubilees 35 1 36 38 1 38
Bonuses for services rendered 1 - 12 1 - 1
PROVISIONS FOR PENSIONS AND OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT 857 11 367 366 1 377

BENEFITS AND FOR LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
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= 8.2.2. Presentation of pension plans
Defined contribution plan

Defined contribution plans are plans in which the Company pays
regular contributions into a fund. The Company’s obligation is
limited to the amount it agrees to contribute to the fund and it offers
no guarantee that the fund will have sufficient assets to pay all of the
employees’ entitlements to benefits. This type of plan predominantly
concerns employees of the Group’s French subsidiaries, who
participate in the government-sponsored basic pension scheme.

In 2019, defined contribution plans represented a cost of €291 million
ofwhich 90% concerned the Group's French subsidiaries (€284 million
excluding discontinued operations and 89% in 2019).

Defined benefit plan

In certain countries, local laws or conventional agreements provide
for the payment of a lump sum to employees either when they retire
or at certain times post-retirement, based on their years of service
and final salary at the age of retirement.

= 8.2.3. Main assumptions used in determining total defined benefit obligations

(pension plans)

Defined benefit plans are exposed to risks concerning future interest rates, salary increase rates and mortality rates.

The following table presents the main actuarial assumptions used to measure the projected benefit obligation:

France International

2019 2018 2019 2018

Discount rate 0.6% 1.70% 6.1% - 6.6% 6.5% - 7.6%
Expected rate of future salary increases 1.0% - 1.7% 1.6% - 2.0% 3.5% 35%
Retirement age 62 - 65 years 62 - 65 years 57 - 62 years 57 - 62 years

For French companies, the discount rate is determined by reference to the Bloomberg 15-year AA corporate composite index.

Sensitivity analysis

A 50-basis pointincrease (decrease) in the discount rate would have the effect of reducing the projected benefit obligation by 6.0% (increasing

the projected benefit obligation by 5.9%).

A 50-basis point increase (decrease) in the expected rate of salary increases would have the effect of increasing the projected benefit obligation

by 5.6% (reducing the projected benefit obligation by 5.8%).
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= 8.2.4. Change in retirement benefit obligations and plan assets
The following tables show a reconciliation of the projected benefit obligations of all Group companies to the provisions recognised in the
consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.

France International Total
(€ millions) 2019 2019 2019 2018
Projected benefit obligation at 1 January 341 326 8 14 349 340
Items recorded in the income statement 7 15 (1) 1 6 16
Service cost 19 19 - - 19 19
Interest cost 5 5 - 1 6 5
Past service cost - - (2) - 2) -
Curtailments/settlements (17) 9) - - 17) 9)
Items included in other comprehensive income 13 14 - (1) 13 13
(1) Actuarial (gains) and losses related to: 13 14 - (1) 13 13
(i) changes in financial assumptions 16 (2) - - 17 (2)
(ii) changes in demographic assumptions 3) 19 - (1) 3) 19
(iii) experience adjustments - (4) - - - (4)
(2) Effect of movements in exchange rates - - - - - -
Other (29) (14) (1) (6) (30) (19)
Paid benefits (12) (12) (1) (1) (13) (13)
Changes in scope of consolidation - 1 - - - 1
Other movements (17) 2) - (5) (17) @)
Projected benefit obligation at 31 December A 332 341 6 8 338 349
Weighted average duration of plans 17 17

France International Total
(€ millions) 2019 2019 2019 2018
Fair value of plan assets at 1 January 21 23 - - 21 23
Items recorded in the income statement - - - - - -
Interest on plan assets - - - - - -
Items included in other comprehensive income (2) - - - (2) -
Actuarial (losses) gains (experience adjustments) (2) - - - (2) -
Effect of movements in exchange rates - - - - - -
Other - (2) - - - (2)
Paid benefits - (2) - - - (2)
Changes in scope of consolidation - - - - - -
Other movements - - - - - -
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December B 19 21 - - 19 21

France International Total
(€ millions) 2019 2019 2019 2018
Net post-employment benefit obligation A-B 313 320 6 8 319 328

Unfunded projected benefit obligation under funded

plans 102 91 - - 102 91
Projected benefit obligation under funded plans 121 112 - - 121 112
Fair value of plan assets (19) (21) - - (19) (21)
Projected benefit obligation under unfunded plans 21 229 6 8 218 201

Plan assets consist mainly of units in fixed-rate bond funds.
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Reconciliation of provisions recorded in the statement of financial position

France International Total
(€ millions) 2019 2019 2019 2018
At 1 January 320 303 8 14 328 317
Expense for the year 7 15 (1) 1 6 16
Actuarial gains or losses recognised in equity 15 14 - (1) 15 13

Effect of movements in exchange rates

Paid benefits

Partial reimbursement of plan assets

(12) (10) 0] ) (13) (1)

Changes in scope of consolidation - 1 - - - 1
Other movements (17) (3) - (5) (17) (7)
AT 31 DECEMBER 313 320 7 8 319 328
Breakdown of expense for the year
France International Total
=
(€ millions) PIICN (restated) 2019 2018 PIICN (restated)
Service cost 19 19 - - 19 19
Interest cost) 5 5 - 1 6 5
Past service cost - - 2) - 2) -
Curtailments/settlements (17) 9) - - (17) 9)
Expense for the year 7 15 1) 1 6 16
Expense for the year of discontinued operations (1) - - - (1) -
EXPENSE FOR THE YEAR OF CONTINUING OPERATIONS 6 14 (1) 1 5 15
(1) Reported under “Other financial income and expenses”
Undiscounted future cash flows
Undiscounted cash flows
(€ millions) Statement of financial position 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Beyond 2024
Post-employment benefits 319 9 6 10 16 20 849

3. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Accounting principle
Share-based payments

Management and selected employees of the Group receive stock
options (options to purchase or subscribe for shares) and free shares.

The benefit represented by stock options, measured at fair value on
the grant date, constitutes additional compensation. The grant-date
fair value of the options is recognised in “Employee benefits expense”
over the option vesting period or in “Other operating expenses” when
the benefit relates to a transaction that s also recognised in “Other
operating income and expenses’ (Note 6.5). The fair value of options
is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, based
on the plan attributes, market data (including the market price of

Free shares are granted to certain Company managers and store
managers. In certain cases, the shares vest in tranches, subject to the
attainment of a performance target for the period concerned. In all

CASINO GROUP

the underlying shares, share price volatility and the risk-free interest
rate) at the grant date and assumptions concerning the probability
of grantees remaining with the Group until the options vest.

The fair value of free shares is also determined on the basis of the
plan attributes, market data at the grant date and assumptions
concerning the probability of grantees remaining with the Group
until the shares vest. If the free shares are not subject to any vesting
conditions, the cost of the plan is recognised in full on the grant date.
Otherwise it is deferred and recognised over the vesting period as
and when the vesting conditions are met. When free shares are
granted to employees in connection with a transaction affecting
the scope of consolidation, the related cost is recorded in “Other
operating income and expenses’”

cases, the shares are forfeited if the grantee leaves the Group before
the end of the vesting period.
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= 8.3.1. Impact of share-based payments m 8.3.2. Casino, Guichard-Perrachon stock
on earnings and equity option plans

The total net cost of share-based payment plans recognised in the At 31 December 2019, no Casino, Guichard-Perrachon stock options

operating income in 2019 was €23 million (2018: €21 million), including were outstanding.

€7 million for Casino, Guichard-Perrachon and €16 million for GPA.
The net cost is balanced by a positive impact on equity for €22 million.

= 8.3.3. Casino, Guichard-Perrachon free share plans

Free share plan features and assumptions

Number of

Number of SIETCIOL TN  of which number

free shares delivered at of performance Share Fair value of
Date of plan Vesting date authorised 31/12/2019 sharesV price (€)? the share (¢)®
12/12/2019 12/12/2022 28,043 28,043 - 45.15 42.37
12/12/2019 12/12/2021 19,260 19,260 - 45.15 44.23
12/12/2019 31/10/2021 8,939 8,939 - 45.15 4343
12/12/2019 31/07/2021 27,626 27339 - 45.15 42.88
07/05/2019 07/05/2020 103,665 103,665 - 35.49 29.92
07/05/2019 31/03/2021 5,252 5,252 - 35.49 28.65
07/05/2019 31/01/2021 15,553 15,553 - 3549 28.37
07/05/2019 07/05/2024 7,809 7809 7809 3549 14.65
07/05/2019 07/05/2022 184,608 155,661 155,661 35.49 16.44
13/12/2018 14/12/2021 32,218 25,643 - 3710 2770
13/12/2018 01/12/2020 13,088 13,088 - 3710 31.46
13/12/2018 01/08/2020 4,144 4,144 - 3710 30.81
13/12/2018 01/07/2020 2,630 1,315 - 3710 30.63
15/05/2018 15/05/2021 1,500 1,500 - 40.75 31.36
15/05/2018 15/05/2023 7326 6,853 6,853 40.75 1701
15/05/2018 15/05/2021 177117 116,978 116,978 40.75 18.35
25/04/2018 01/02/2020 11,955 6,742 - 41.89 35.15
20/04/2017 20/04/2022 5,666 5,666 5,666 51 2725
20/04/2017 20/04/2020 156,307 84,021 84,021 51 28.49
20/04/2017 31/01/2020 245 245 - 51 43.17
13/05/2016 13/05/2020 7178 4,085 4,085 53.29 34.45
TOTAL 820,129 641,801 381,073

(1) Performance conditions mainly concern organic sales growth and the level of trading profit or EBITDA of the company that employs the grantee.
(2) Weighted average.

Changes in free shares

Free share grants 2018

Unvested shares at 1 January 487,276 542,580
Free share rights granted 400,755 349,565
Free share rights cancelled (113,768) (124,120)
Shares issued (132,462) (280,749)
UNVESTED SHARES AT 31 DECEMBER 641,801 487,276
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m 8.3.4. Features of GPA stock option plans
e “BSeries” stock options are exercisable between the 37" and the 42" months following the grant date. The exercise price is BRL 0.01 per option.

e “CSeries” stock options are exercisable between the 37" and the 42" months following the grant date. The exercise price corresponds to 80%
of the average of the last 20 closing prices for GPA shares quoted on Bovespa.

Number

of options

Number of options outstanding at

Exercise period granted Option exercise 31/12/2019

Name of plan Grant date start date Expiry date (thousands) price (BRL) (thousands)
C6 Series 31/05/2019 31/05/2022 30/11/2022 331 70.62 312
B6 Series 31/05/2019 31/05/2022 30/11/2022 434 0.01 414
C5 Series 31/05/2018 31/05/2021 30/11/2021 594 62.61 441
B5 Series 31/05/2018 31/05/2021 30/11/2021 594 0.01 441
C4 Series 31/05/2017 31/05/2020 30/11/2020 537 56.78 273
B4 Series 31/05/2017 31/05/2020 30/11/2020 537 0.01 272
30.25 2,153

Main assumptions used to value stock options

GPA uses the following assumptions to value its plans (“Series” 4, 5 The average fair value of outstanding stock options at 31 December 2019
and 6 respectively): was BRL 56.41.

e dividendyield: 0.57% 0.41% and 0.67%; The table below shows changes in the number of outstanding options
e projected volatility: 35.19%, 36.52% and 32.74%; and weighted average exercise prices in the years presented:

e risk-free interest rate: 9.28%/10.07%, 9.29% and 7.32%.

Number of Number of
outstanding ~ Weighted average outstanding =~ Weighted average
options exercise price options exercise price
(thousands) (BRL) (thousands) (BRL)
Options outstanding at 1 January 2,755 26.03 2,539 29.48
of which exercisable options - - - -
Options granted during the period 765 30.55 1,378 3091
Options exercised during the period (1,080) 21.55 (697) 31.96
Options cancelled during the period (126) 31.75 (229) 38.64
Options that expired during the period (161) 16.74 (236) 68.62
OPTIONS OUTSTANDING AT 31 DECEMBER 2,153 30.25 2,755 26.03

of which exercisable options - - - -
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84 GROSS REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS OF THE MEMBERS OF THE GROUP
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE AND THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Short-term benefits excluding social security contributions” 21 32
Social security contributions on short-term benefits 3 5
Termination benefits for key executives = 3
Share-based payments® 4 7
TOTAL 28 47

(1) Gross salaries, bonuses, discretionary and statutory profit-sharing, benefits in kind and directors’ fees.
(2) Expense recognised in the income statement in respect of stock option and free share plans.

The members of the Group Executive Committee are not entitled to any specific supplementary pension benefits.

8.5,

AVERAGE NUMBER OF GROUP EMPLOYEES

Average full-time equivalent employees by category M
Managers 10,975 10,816
Staff 177,359 177,144
Supervisors 21,362 21,377
GROUP TOTAL 209,696 209,337

Note 9

Accounting principle

Income tax expense corresponds to the sum of the current taxes
due by the various Group companies, adjusted for deferred taxes.

Income faxes

Substantially all qualifying French subsidiaries are members of
the tax group headed by Casino, Guichard-Perrachon and file a
consolidated tax return.

Current tax expense reported in the income statement corresponds
to the tax expense of the parent company of the tax group and of
companies that are not members of a tax group.

Deferred tax assets correspond to future tax benefits arising from
deductible temporary differences, tax loss carryforwards, unused
tax credits and certain consolidation adjustments that are expected
to be recoverable.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised in full for:

o taxable temporary differences, except where the deferred tax
liability results from recognition of a non-deductible impairment
loss on goodwill or from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction which is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor
taxable profit or the tax loss; and

e taxable temporary differences related to investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except when the Group
controls the timing of the reversal of the difference and itis probable
that it will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred taxes are recognised using the balance sheet approach
and in accordance with IAS 12. They are calculated by the liability
method, which consists of adjusting deferred taxes recognised in
prior periods for the effect of any enacted changes in the income
tax rate.

The Group reviews the probability of deferred tax assets being
recovered on a periodic basis for each tax entity. This review
may, if necessary, lead to the derecognition of deferred tax assets
recognised in prior years. The probability for recovery is assessed
based on a tax plan indicating the level of projected taxable profits.

The assumptions underlying the tax plan are consistent with those
used in the medium-term business plans and budgets prepared by
Group entities and approved by management.

The French corporate value-added tax (Cotisation sur la Valeur
Ajoutée des Entreprises — CVAE) which is based on the value-added
reflected in the separate financial statements, is included in “Income
tax expense” in the consolidated income statement.

When payments to holders of equity instruments are deductible
for tax purposes, the tax effect is recognised by the Group in the
income statement.

The introduction of IFRIC 23 — Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments did not result in any significant changes to the
measurement of uncertain tax positions in the financial statements
at 31 December 2018. The impact of applying IFRIC 23 was not
material, decreasing equity by €7 million at 1 January 2019. In the
first half of 2019, the IFRIC was consulted on the classification of
liabilities relating to uncertain tax positions in the consolidated
statement of financial position. In September 2019, the IFRIC decided
that these should be presented within current tax liabilities and/
or deferred taxes. This classification was not previously applied
by the Group, which reported provisions for uncertain income
tax positions within provisions for risks and expenses. As a result
of applying IFRIC 23 using the modified retrospective method
(i.e., with no restatement of comparative information), the Group
reclassified €9 million at 1 January 2019.
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jl. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

= 9.1.1. Analysis of income tax expense

L oo [T

(€ millions) France International Total France International Total
Current income tax (45) (80) (126) (89) (137) (227)
Other taxes (CVAE) (63) - (63) (61) - (61)
Deferred taxes 51 1 52 87 13 100
Total income tax (expense) benefit recorded

in the income statement &) () VB (64) (124) (188)
Income tax on items recognised

in “Other comprehensive income” (Note 12.7.2) 14 ©) 12 ! @ )
Income tax on items recognised in equity 1 13 14 2) - 2)

= 9.1.2. Tax proof

(emilions) T o0 RN

Profit (loss) before tax (176) 286

Theoretical income tax benefit (expense)® 61 -34.43% (99) -34.43%
Reconciliation of theoretical income tax expense to actual income tax expense

Impact of differences in foreign tax rates 9 -4.9% 7 2.4%
Recognition of previously unrecognised tax benefits on tax losses and other deductible _

temporary differences® 1 8.3% 6 266%
Unrecognised deferred tax assets/valuation allowances on recognised deferred tax

assets on tax loss carryforwards or other deductible temporary differences® (52) 296% (39) 18.5%
Change in corporate tax rate” (44) 25.0% (36) -12.5%
CVAE net of income tax (42) 23.5% (40) -14.1%
Non-deductible interest expense® (22) 12.4% (28) -9.7%
Non-taxable CICE tax credits® - -0.2% 25 8.7%
Non-deductible asset impairment losses (24) 13.8% (34) -11.8%
Non-deductible exchange losses - - (22) -7.8%
Tax effect of Brazilian dividends® 9 -5.1% 18 6.1%
Other taxes on distributed earnings® (15) 8.7% (10) -3.5%
Deductible interest on deeply-subordinated perpetual bonds 10 -5.9% 17 5.9%
Taxation of Mercialys shares 3) 1.8% (6) -2.2%
Reduced-rate asset disposals and changes in scope of consolidation (14) 8.0% 2 0.7%
Other (24) 13.6% (18) -6.4%
ACTUAL INCOME TAX BENEFIT (EXPENSE) EFFECTIVE TAX RATE (137) 77.8% (188) -65.7%

(1) The reconciliation of the effective tax rate paid by the Group is based on the current French rate of 34.43%, unchanged from 2018.

(2) In 2019, this concerned the E-commerce segment for €3 million and the France Retail segment for €11 million. In 2018, this concerned the E-commerce segment
for €39 million and the France Retail segment for €32 million.

(3) In 2019, this concerned the E-commerce segment for €29 million and the France Retail segment for €20 million. In 2018, this concerned the E-commerce segment
for €29 million and the France Retail segment for €10 million.

(4) In 2019, the main impact relates to disposals of store properties and stores in the France Retail segment. In 2018, the main impact related to disposals of Monoprix
store properties.

(5) Tax laws in some countries cap the deductibility of interest paid by companies. Up to 31 December 2018, French companies were required to add back 25% of
interest expense to their taxable profit. This capping mechanism was reformed and a new mechanism put in place as of 1 January 2019. The impact on the two
periods presented essentially concerns the France scope.

(6) See Note 6.3.

(7) In 2018, this item corresponded to the non-deductible negative foreign currency translation reserve reclassified to profit or loss (Note 6.5).

(8) This concerns dividends paid by Brazilian subsidiaries in the form of interest on equity.

(9) Corresponding to taxation of intra-group dividends.
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(€ millions) [ 2009 2018 (restated)
At 1 January 667 619
(Expense)/benefit for the year 46 67
Impact of changes in scope of consolidation (1) 5
IFRS 5 reclassifications (21) 4)
Effect of movements in exchange rates and other reclassifications 54 (21)
Changes in deferred tax liabilities recognised directly in equity 26 1
AT 31 DECEMBER 772 667

The deferred tax benefit, net of deferred tax liabilities (Note 9.2.2) of discontinued operations, was €46 million in 2019 (2018: deferred tax expense of

€7 million).

= 9.2.2, Change in deferred tax liabilities

(€ millions) m 2018 (restated)
At 1 January 667 740
Expense/(benefit) for the year (51) (26)
Impact of changes in scope of consolidation (44) 4
IFRS 5 reclassifications 1 (10)
Effect of movements in exchange rates and other reclassifications (6) (45)
Changes in deferred tax liabilities recognised directly in equity - 3
AT 31 DECEMBER 566 667
m 9.2.3. Deferred tax assets and liabilities by source
Net

_ 31 December 2018
(€ millions) Notes 31 December 2019 (restated)
Intangible assets (599) (662)
Property, plant and equipment (132) (155)
Right-of-use assets net of lease liabilities 130 63
Inventories 31 (6)
Financial instruments 71 34
Other assets (78) (75)
Provisions 200 210
Regulated provisions (89) (128)
Other liabilities 14 77
Tax loss carryforwards and tax credits 657 643
NET DEFERRED TAX ASSET/(LIABILITY) 206 -
Deferred tax assets recognised in the statement of financial position 921 772 667
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position 9.2.2 566 667
NET 206 -
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The tax saving realised by the Casino, Guichard-Perrachon tax group
amounted to €346 million in 2019 (2018: €399 million).

Recognised tax loss carryforwards and tax credits mainly concern
the Casino Guichard-Perrachon, Exito and GPA tax groups. The
corresponding deferred tax assets have been recognised in the
statement of financial position as their utilisation is considered
probable in view of the forecast future taxable profits of the companies
concerned. At 31 December 2019, deferred tax assets amounted to
€347 million for Casino, Guichard-Perrachon, €117 million for Exito and
€62 million for GPA. These amounts are expected to be recovered by
2026 for Casino, Guichard-Perrachon, 2024 for Exito and 2024 for GPA.

Expiry dates of unrecognised tax loss carryforwards

(€ millions)

= 9.2.4. Unrecognised deferred tax assets

At 31 December 2019, unrecognised deferred tax assets for tax loss
carryforwards amounted to around €551 million (excluding Leader
Price), representing an unrecognised deferred tax effect of €147 million
(31 December 2018: €400 million, representing an unrecognised
deferred tax effect of €106 million). These tax loss carryforwards
mainly concern the Franprix sub-group and Cdiscount.

31 December 2018

31 December 2019

Within one year 1 -
In one to two years 2 -
In two to three years 1 2
In more than three years 1 6
Without expiry date 142 98
TOTAL 147 106

Note 10 Intangible assets. property. plant and equipment, and investment property

Accounting principle

The cost of non-current assets corresponds to their purchase cost
plus transaction expenses including tax. For intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment, and investment property, these

10l. GOODWILL

Accounting principle

At the acquisition date, goodwill is measured in accordance with
the accounting principle applicable to “Business combinations’,
described in Note 3. It is allocated to the cash generating unit
(CGU) or groups of cash generating units that benefit from the
synergies of the combination, based on the level at which the
return on investment is monitored for internal management
purposes. Goodwill is not amortised. It is tested for impairment at
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expenses are added to the assets’ carrying amount and follow the
same accounting treatment.

each year-end, or whenever events or a change of circumstances
indicate that it may be impaired. Impairment losses on goodwill are
not reversible. The methods used by the Group to test goodwill for
impairment are described in the “Impairment of non-current assets”
section in Note 10.5. Negative goodwill is recognised directly in the
income statement for the period of the business combination, once
the identification and measurement of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities have been verified.
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m 10.1.1. Breakdown by business line and geographical area

31 December 2019 31 December 2018
(€ millions) Net Net
France Retail 4,359 5,487
Hypermarkets, supermarkets and convenience stores 1,405 1,432
Franprix-Leader Price® 1,599 2,693
Monoprix 1,333 1,323
Other 22 38
E-commerce (France) 61 61
Latam Retail 3,068 3,134
Argentina 64 66
Brazil (GPA Food) 2,236 2,272
Colombia 505 501
Uruguay 263 296
CASINO GROUP 7,489 8,682

(1) Including €1,106 million in Leader Price goodwill separated in 2019 when classified in assets held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5.

= 10.1.2. Movements for the year

(e mition T o R

Carrying amount at 1 January 8,682 9,092
Goodwill recognised during the year" 18 13
Impairment losses recognised during the year (18) (1)
Goodwill written off on disposals (4) (4)
Effect of movements in exchange rates (88) (316)
Reclassifications and other movements® (1,103) (203)
CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER 7,489 8,682

(1) The €113 million increase in goodwill at 31 December 2018 mainly reflected (a) goodwill of €76 million recognised on the acquisition of various sub-groups and
individual businesses by Franprix-Leader Price (Note 3.2.2) and (b) goodwill of €16 million recognised on the acquisition of Sarenza (Note 3.2.1).

(2) In 2019, this line reflects the reclassification of Leader Price within assets held for sale in an amount of €1,106 million. In 2018, this line reflected (i) the reclassification
of assets from the France Retail segment within assets held for sale; and (ii) the remeasurement of goodwill in Argentina for €61 million, in application
of IAS 29.
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10.2. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Accounting principle are not amortised, but are tested for impairment at each year-end
or whenever there is an indication that their carrying amount may

Intangible assets acquired separately by the Group are initially
not be recovered.

recognised at cost and those acquired in business combinations
are initially recognised at fair value. Intangible assets consist  Ap intangible asset is derecognised on disposal or when no future
mainly of purchased software, software developed for internal - ¢¢onomic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. The gain
use, trademarks, patents and costs to obtain contracts. Trademarks or loss arising from derecognition of an asset is determined as the
thatare created and developed internally are not recognised in the difference between the net sale proceeds, if any, and the carrying

staterpintlpf ﬁsar'lmal pO;l[l.On. Iptang:ible a;?ﬁt.s are argortlse.d 02 amount of the asset. Itis recognised in profit or loss (“Other operating
astraight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, as determine income and expenses”) when the asset is derecognised.

separately for each asset category. Capitalised development costs
are amortised over three years and software over three to ten years. Residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed
Indefinite life intangible assets (including purchased trademarks) at each year-end and revised prospectively if necessary.

m 10.2.1. Breakdown

31 December 2019 31 December 2018 (restated)

Accumulated Accumulated
Gross amortisation Gross amortisation
(€ millions) amount and impairment Net amount and impairment Net
Concessions, trademarks, licences and banners 1,536 (26) 1,511 1,552 (26) 1,526
Software 1,295 (855) 441 1,142 (764) 378
Other 505 (161) 345 525 (165) 360
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 3,337 (1,041) 2,296 3,219 (954) 2,265
m 10.2.2. Movements for the year
Concessions, -
trademarks, licences Other intangible
(€ millions) and banners Software assets Total
Carrying amount at 1 January 2018 (restated) 1,618 358 289 2,266
Changes in scope of consolidation 16 - 4) 12
Additions and acquisitions 1 66 205 271
Assets disposed of during the year - - (3) (3)
Amortisation for the year (1) (106) (53) (160)
Impairment (losses)/reversals, net (6) (6) (2) (14)
Effect of movements in exchange rates (98) (16) - (114)
IFRS 5 reclassifications (5) - (1) (6)
Other reclassifications and movements 1 82 (70) 13
Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 (restated) 1,526 378 360@ 2,265
Changes in scope of consolidation - - (5) (5)
Additions and acquisitions 2 66 201 269
Assets disposed of during the year 1 (4) (4) (7)
Amortisation for the year - (113) (64) (177)
Impairment (losses)/reversals, net 3) 2) (4) (8)
Effect of movements in exchange rates (14) (3) - (17)
IFRS 5 reclassifications - - (30) (30)
Other reclassifications and movements 2) 118 (110) 7
CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 1,511® 441 345® 2,296

(1) Including trademarks for €1,509 million (31 December 2018: €1,525 million,).
(2) Including costs to obtain contracts for €113 million (31 December 2018: €152 million) (Note 6.1.2).
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Internally-generated intangible assets (mainly information systems developments) represented €92 million at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018:
€65 million).

Intangible assets at 31 December 2019 include trademarks with an indefinite life, carried in the statement of financial position for €1,509 million,
allocated to the following groups of CGUs:

(€ millions) 31 December 2018
Latam Retail 926 939
of which Brazil (GPA Food)® 742 753
of which Colombia 159 157
of which Uruguay 25 28
France Retail 573 577
of which Casino France 1 1
of which Monoprix™ 572 576
E-commerce 9 9

(1) Trademarks are allocated to the following GPA Food banners in Brazil and Monoprix banners in France:

(€ millions) 31 December 2019 31 December 2018

GPA Food 742 753
Pao de Agticar 231 235
Extra 397 404
Assai 113 115
Other 1 -

Monoprix 572 576
Monoprix 552 552
Other 20 24

Intangible assets were tested for impairment at 31 December 2019 using the method described in Note 10.5 “Impairment of non-current assets’.
The test results are presented in the same note.
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103. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Accounting principle

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Subsequent expenditures are recognised in assets if they satisfy the
recognition criteria of IAS 16. The Group examines these criteria
before incurring the expenditure.

Land is not depreciated. All other items of property, plant and
equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives for each category of assets, with generally
no residual value. The main useful lives are as follows:

Depreciation period

Asset category (years)
Land -
Buildings (structure) 50
Roof waterproofing 15
Fire protection of the building structure 25
Land improvements 10 to 40
Building fixtures and fittings 5020
Technical installations, machinery and equipment 5020
3tob

Computer equipment

“Roof waterproofing” and “Fire protection of the building structure”
are classified as separate items of property, plant and equipment
only when they are installed during major renovation projects. In all
other cases, they are included in the “Building (structure)” category.

Property, plant and equipment are derecognised on disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected from their use or
disposal. The gain or loss arising from derecognition of an asset

m 10.3.1. Breakdown

31 December 2019

is determined as the difference between the net sale proceeds, if
any, and the carrying amount of the asset. It is recognised in profit
or loss (“Other operating income and expenses’) when the asset
is derecognised.

Residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed
at each year-end and revised prospectively if necessary.

31 December 2018 (restated)

Accumulated Accumulated

Gross depreciation Gross depreciation
(€ millions) amount and impairment Net amount and impairment Net
Land and land improvements 959 (74) 886 1,225 (78) 1,146
Buildings, fixtures and fittings 3,262 (1,229) 2,033 3,729 (1,458) 2,271
Other 6,287 (4,093) 2,194 6,761 (4,336) 2,425
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 10,508 (5,395) 5,113 11,714 (5,871) 5,843

108 CASINO GROUP




2019 UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT
Financial and accounting information - Consolidated financial statements

= 10.3.2. Movements for the year

Land and land Buildings, fixtures
(€ millions) improvements and fittings Other

Carrying amount at 1 January 2018 (restated) 1,868 2,816 2,641 7,325
Changes in scope of consolidation 18 25 34 77
Additions and acquisitions 18 175 686 879
Assets disposed of during the year (65) (108) (153) (326)
Depreciation for the year (4) (138) (376) (518)
Impairment (losses)/reversals, net (14) 21 (66) (59)
Effect of movements in exchange rates (56) (169) (88) (313)
IFRS 5 reclassifications (598) (399) (158) (1,155)
Other reclassifications and movements (21) 48 (95) (68)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 (restated) 1,146 2,271 2,425 5,843
Changes in scope of consolidation - 2) 3 1
Additions and acquisitions 20 217 631 868
Assets disposed of during the year (21) (110) (57) (188)
Depreciation for the year 3) (124) (348) (476)
Impairment (losses)/reversals, net (7 9) (54) (70)
Effect of movements in exchange rates (23) (42) (15) (80)
IFRS 5 reclassifications (227) (269) (257) (754)
Other reclassifications and movements 1 101 (133) (31)
CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 886 2,033 2,194 5,113

Property, plant and equipment were tested for impairment at 31 December 2019 using the method described in Note 10.5 “Impairment of
non-current assets” The test results are presented in the same note.

= 10.3.3. Capitalised borrowing costs

Accounting principle

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are
or production of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial periodof ~  incurred. Borrowing costs are interest and other costs incurred by
time to get ready for its intended use or sale (typically more than six an entity in connection with the borrowing of funds.

months) are capitalised in the cost of that asset. All other borrowing

Interest capitalised in 2019 amounted to €5 million, reflecting an average interest rate of 6.1% (2018: €11 million at an average rate of 6.1%).
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104. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Accounting principle

Investment property is property held by the Group or leased by the
Group (in which case it gives rise to a right-of-use asset) to earn
rental revenue or for capital appreciation or both. The shopping
malls owned by the Group are classified as investment property.

m 10.4.1. Breakdown

31 December 2019

Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Investment property is depreciated over the same useful
life and according to the same rules as owner-occupied property.

31 December 2018

Accumulated Accumulated

Gross depreciation Gross depreciation
(€ millions) amount and impairment Net amount and impairment Net
INVESTMENT PROPERTY 609 (115) 493 603 (106) 497

= 10.4.2. Movements for the year

Carrying amount at 1 January 497 494
Changes in scope of consolidation 4 1
Additions and acquisitions 14 59
Assets disposed of during the year - (1)
Depreciation for the year (14) (8)
Impairment (losses)/reversals, net (4) (1)
Effect of movements in exchange rates (15) (29)
IFRS 5 reclassifications (7) (18)
Other reclassifications and movements®” 19 -
CARRYING AMOUNT AT 31 DECEMBER 493 497

(1) Including €19 million relating to the remeasurement at Libertad in application of IAS 29 - Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies.

At 31 December 2019, investment property totalled €493 million, of which 72% (€356 million) concerned Exito. Investment property at
31 December 2018 amounted to €497 million, of which 69% concerned Exito.

Amounts recognised in the income statement in respect of rental revenue and operating expenses on investment properties were as follows:

(€ millions)

Rental revenue from investment properties 86 74
Directly attributable operating expenses on investment properties

= that generated rental revenue during the year (19) (18)
= that did not generate rental revenue during the year (33) (28)

Fair value of investment property

The main investment properties at 31 December 2019 were held
by Exito.

At 31 December 2019, the fair value of investment property was
€816 million (31 December 2018: €847 million). For most investment
properties, fair value is determined on the basis of valuations carried
out by independentvaluers. In accordance with international valuation
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standards, they are based on market value as confirmed by market
indicators, representing a level 3 fair value input.

The fair value of investment property classified as “Assets held for
sale” was €16 million at 31 December 2019 and primarily concerned
the France Retail segment (31 December 2018: €24 million).
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10.5. IMPAIRMENT OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS (INTANGIBLE ASSETS, PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, INVESTMENT PROPERTY AND GOODWILL)

Accounting principle

The procedure to be followed to ensure that the carrying amount
of assets does not exceed their recoverable amount (recovered by
use or sale) is defined in IAS 36.

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are tested
for impairment whenever there is an indication that their carrying
amount may not be recoverable and at least annually, at the end
of the year, for goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite
useful life.

Cash Generating Units (CGUs)

A cash generating unitis the smallest identifiable group of assets that
includes the asset and that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

The Group has defined its cash generating units as follows:

o for hypermarkets, supermarkets and discount stores, each store
is treated as a separate CGU;

o for other networks, each network represents a separate CGU.

Impairment indicators

Apart from the external sources of data monitored by the Group
(economic environment, market value of the assets, etc.), the
impairment indicators used are based on the nature of the assets:

o land and buildings: loss of rent or early termination of a lease;

e operating assets related to the business (assets of the CGU): ratio
of net carrying amount of store assets divided by sales (including
VAT) higher than a defined level determined separately for each
store category;

o assets allocated to administrative activities (headquarters and
warehouses): site closure or obsolescence of equipment used
at the site.

Recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value
less costs to sell and its value in use. It is generally determined

= 10.5.1. Movements for the year

Net impairment losses recognised in 2019 on goodwill, intangible
assets, property, plant and equipment, investment property and right-
of-use assets totalled €111 million (Note 6.5), of which €52 million arose
from restructuring operations (mainly in the France Retail segment
for €31 million and in the Latam Retail segment for €21 million) and
€59 million corresponded to write-downs of individual assets (mainly
in the France Retail segment for €55 million, the E-commerce segment
for €3 million and the Latam Retail segment for €1 million).

separately for each asset. When this is not possible, the recoverable
amount of the group of CGUs to which the asset belongs is used.

Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale
of an asset in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable,
willing parties, less the costs of disposal. In the retail industry, fair
value less costs to sell is generally determined on the basis of a
sales or EBITDA multiple.

Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected
to be derived from continuing use of an asset plus a terminal
value. It is determined internally or by external experts on the
basis of:

o cash flow projections contained usually in business plans covering
three years. Cash flows beyond this projection period are usually
estimated over a period of three years by applying a growth rate
as determined by management (generally constant);

o aterminal value determined by applying a perpetual growth rate
to the final year’s cash flow projection.

The cash flows and terminal value are discounted at long-term
after-tax market rates reflecting market estimates of the time value
of money and the specific risks associated with the asset.

Impairment losses

Animpairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of an
asset or the CGU to which it belongs is greater than its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recorded as an expense under
“Other operating income and expenses”

Impairment losses recognised in a prior period are reversed if, and
only if, there has been a change in the estimates used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was
recognised. However, the increased carrying amount of an asset
attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss may not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
Impairment losses on goodwill cannot be reversed.

Following the tests carried out in 2018, impairment losses totalling
€68 million had been recognised on goodwill, intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment, of which €24 million arose from
restructuring operations mainly in the France Retail segment and
€43 million corresponded to write-downs of individual assets (primarily
in the France Retail segment for €41 million and in the E-commerce
segment for €4 million).
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m 10.5.2. Goodwill impairment losses

Annual impairment testing consists of determining the recoverable
amounts of the CGUs or groups of CGUs to which the goodwill is
allocated and comparing them with the carrying amounts of the
relevant assets. Goodwill arising on the initial acquisition of networks is
allocated to the groups of CGUs in accordance with the classifications
presented in Note 10.1.1. Some goodwill may also occasionally be
allocated directly to CGUs.

Annual impairment testing consists of determining the recoverable
amount of each CGU based on value in use, in accordance with the
principles described in Note 10.1. Value in use is determined by the
discounted cash flows method, based on after-tax cash flows and
using the following rates.

Assumptions used in 2019 for internal calculations of values in use

2019 perpetual 2019 after-tax 2018 perpetual 2018 after-tax
Region growth rate discount rate® growth rate” discount rate®
France (retail) 1.7% 5.6% 1.9% 5.6%
France (other) 1.7% and 2.2% 5.6% and 7.9% 1.9% and 2.4% 5.6% and 7.7%
Argentina 5.0% 21.1% 4.9% 14.4%
Brazil® 4.8% 84% 5.5% 10.1%
Colombia® 3% 8.0% 3.0% 9.0%
Uruguay 7% 11.9% 6.1% 11.2%

(1) The inflation-adjusted perpetual growth rate ranges from 0% to 1.5% depending on the nature of the CGU’s business/banner and country.

(2) The discount rate corresponds to the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) for each country. WACC is calculated at least once a year during the annual
impairment testing exercise by taking account of the sector’s levered beta, a market risk premium and the Group’s cost of debt for France and the local cost of

debt for subsidiaries outside France.

(3) At 31 December 2019, the market capitalisation of the listed subsidiaries GPA, Exito and Cnova was €5,202 million, €1,683 million and €856 million, respectively.
With the exception of Cnova, these market capitalisations were less than the carrying amount of the subsidiaries’ net assets. Impairment tests on GPA and Exito

gooduwill were performed based on their value in use (see below).

At31 December 2019 the Group recognised a €17 million impairment
loss against the catering business in France as a result of the year-end
goodwill impairment test.

In view of the positive difference between value in use and carrying
amount, the Group believes that on the basis of reasonably foreseeable
events, any changes in the key assumptions set out above would not
lead to the recognition of an impairment loss. The Group considers
reasonably foreseeable changes in key assumptions to be a 100-basis
point increase in the discount rate or a 25-basis point decrease in the
perpetual growth rate used to calculate terminal value or a 50-basis
point decrease in the EBITDA margin for the cash flow projection
used to calculate the terminal value.
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m 10.5.3. Trademark impairment losses

The recoverable amounts of trademarks were estimated at the year-end
using the discounted cash flows method. The main trademarks
concern GPA. The Extra banner’s trademark (representing a carrying
amount of €397 million at 31 December 2019) is less exposed to a risk
of impairment than at the end of 2018. No impairment losses were
recognised at 31 December 2019 as a result of these tests and none
would have been recognised in the event of a reasonable change in
the main assumptions used in those tests.
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Note 11 Financial structure and finance costs

Accounting principle
Financial assets

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus directly
attributable transaction costs in the case of instruments not
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Directly attributable
transaction costs of financial assets measured at fair value through
profit or loss are recorded in the income statement.

Financial assets are classified in the following three categories:

o financial assets at amortised cost;

o financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI);

o financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The classification depends on the business model within which the
financial asset is held and the characteristics of the instrument’s
contractual cash flows.

Financial assets are classified as current if they are due in less
than one year at the closing date and non-current if they are due
in more than one year.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost when (i) they are
not designated as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
(ii) they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and (iii) they give
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding (“SPPI” criterion).

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost, determined
using the effective interest method, less any expected impairment
losses in relation to the credit risk. Interest income, exchange gains
and losses, impairment losses and gains and losses arising on
derecognition are all recorded in the income statement.

This category primarily includes trade receivables (except for GPA
credit card receivables), cash and cash equivalents as well as other
loans and receivables.

Long-term loans and receivables that are not interest-bearing or
that bear interest at a below-market rate are discounted when the
amounts involved are material.

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (OCI)
This category comprises debt instruments and equity instruments.

e Debtinstruments are measured at fair value through OCI when
(i) they are not designated as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, (i) they are held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling financial assets, and (iii) they give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding (“SPPI” criterion). Interest income, exchange
gains and losses and impairment losses are recorded in the income
statement. Other net gains and losses are recorded in OCL. When
the debtinstrumentis derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCl is reclassified to profit or loss.

This category mainly consists of GPA credit card receivables.

e Equity instruments that are not held for trading may also be
measured at fair value through OCI. This method may be
chosen separately for each investment. The choice is irrevocable.
Dividends received are recognised in profit or loss unless the
dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Other gains and losses are recorded in OCI and are
never reclassified to profit or loss. At present, the Group's use of
this option is non-material.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

All financial assets that are not classified as financial assets at
amortised cost or at fair value through OCI are measured at fair value
through profit or loss. Gain and losses on these assets, including
interest or dividend income, are recorded in the income statement.

This category mainly comprises derivative instruments that do not
qualify for hedge accounting and investments in non-consolidated
companies, for which the Group decided not to use the fair value
through other comprehensive income (OCI) option.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and short-term
investments.

To be classified as cash equivalents under IAS 7, investments must be:

o short-term investments;

e highly liquid investments;

o readily convertible to known amounts of cash;

e subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Usually, the Group uses interest bearing bank accounts or term
deposits of less than three months.

Impairment of financial assets

IERS g requires the recognition of lifetime expected creditlosses on
financial assets. This impairment model applies to financial assets
at amortised cost (including cash-based instruments), contract
assets and debt instruments at fair value through OCIL.

The main financial assets concerned are trade receivables relating
to Brazilian credit activities, trade receivables from franchisees and
affiliated stores and rent receivables.

For trade and rent receivables and contract assets, the Group applies
the simplified approach provided for in IFRS 9. This approach
consists of estimating lifetime expected credit losses on initial
recognition, usually using a provision matrix that specifies provision
rates depending on the number of days that a receivable is past due.

For other financial assets, the Group applies the general impairment
model.
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Derecognition of financial assets
Financial assets are derecognised in the following two cases:

o the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset
have expired; or,

o the contractual rights have been transferred. In this latter case:

- if substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial asset have been transferred, the asset is derecognised
in full;

- if substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are retained
by the Group, the financial asset continues to be recognised in
the statement of financial position for its total amount.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as current if they are due in less
than one year at the closing date and non-current if they are due
in more than one year.

The accounting treatment of put options granted to owners of
non-controlling interests (“NCI puts”) is described in Note 3.4.1.

Financial liabilities recognised at amortised cost

Borrowings and other financial liabilities at amortised cost are
initially measured at the fair value of the consideration received,
and subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method. Transaction costs and issue and redemption premiums
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial liability
are deducted from the liability’s carrying amount. The costs are then
amortised over the life of the liability by the effective interest method.

Within the Group, some loans and other financial liabilities at
amortised cost are hedged.

Several subsidiaries have set up reverse factoring programmes with
financial institutions to enable their suppliers to collect receivables
more quickly in the ordinary course of the purchasing process. The
accounting policy for these transactions depends on whether or not
the characteristics of the liabilities concerned have been changed.
For example, when trade payables are not substantially modified
(term and due date, consideration, face value) they continue to be
recorded under “Trade payables’ Otherwise, they are qualified as
financing transactions and included in financial liabilities under
“Trade payables - structured programme”.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
These are mainly derivative instruments (see below). There are
no financial liabilities intended to be held on a short-term basis for
trading purposes. They are measured at fair value and gains and
losses arising from remeasurement at fair value are recognised
in the income statement. The Group does not hold any financial
liabilities for trading other than derivative instruments at fair value
through profit or loss.
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Derivative instruments

All derivative instruments are recognised in the statement of financial
position and measured at fair value.

Derivative financial instruments that qualify for hedge
accounting: recognition and presentation
In accordance with IFRS 9, the Group applies hedge accounting to:

o fairvalue hedges of a liability (for example, swaps to convert fixed
rate debt to variable rate); the hedged item is recognised at fair
value and any change in fair value is recognised in profit or loss.
Gains and losses arising from remeasurement of the hedge at fair
value are also recognised in profit or loss. If the hedge is entirely
effective, the loss or gain on the hedged debt is offset by the gain
or loss on the derivative;

o cash flow hedges (for example, swaps to convert floating rate debt
to fixed rate or to change the borrowing currency, and hedges
of budgeted purchases billed in a foreign currency). For these
hedges, the ineffective portion of the change in the fair value of the
derivative is recognised in profit or loss and the effective portion
isrecognised in “Other comprehensive income” and subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss on a symmetrical basis with the hedged
cash flows in terms of both timing and classification (i.e., in trading
profit for hedges of operating cash flows and in net financial
income and expense for other hedges). The premium/discount
component of forward foreign exchange contracts is treated as
a hedging cost. Changes in the fair value of this component are
recorded in “Other comprehensive income” and reclassified to
profit or loss as part of the cost of the hedged transaction on the
transaction date (basis of adjustment method);

o hedges of netinvestments in foreign operations. For these hedges,
the effective portion of the change in fair value attributable to
the hedged foreign currency risk is recognised net of tax in
other comprehensive income and the ineffective portion is
recognised directly in financial income or expense. Gains or losses
accumulated in other comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss on the date of liquidation or disposal of the net
investment.

Hedge accounting may only be used if:

o the hedging instruments and hedged items included in the hedging
relationship are all eligible for hedge accounting;

o the hedging relationship is clearly defined and documented at
inception; and

o the effectiveness of the hedge can be demonstrated at inception
and throughout its life.

Derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for
hedge accounting: recognition and presentation

When a derivative financial instrument does not qualify or no longer
qualifies for hedge accounting, successive changes in its fair value
are recognised directly in profit or loss for the period under “Other
financial income and expenses'”

Definition of net debt

Net debt corresponds to gross borrowings and debt including
derivatives designed as fair value hedge (liabilities) and trade
payables - structured programme, less (i) cash and cash equivalents,
(ii) financial assets held for cash management purposes and as
short-term investments, (iii) derivatives designated as fair value
hedge (assets), (iv) financial assets arising from a significant disposal
of non-current assets and (v) net assets held for sale attributable
to owners of the parent of the selling subsidiary.
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111. NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(€ millions) 31 December 2018

Cash equivalents 1,074 1,184
Cash 2,497 2,546
Cash and cash equivalents 3,572 3,730
Bank overdrafts (Note 11.2.4) (101) (138)
NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 3,471 3,592

As of 31 December 2019, cash and cash equivalents are not subject to any material restriction.

Bank guarantees are presented in Note 6.11.1.

11.2. LOANS AND BORROWINGS

m 11.2.1. Breakdown

Gross borrowings and debt amounted to €9,649 million at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: €8,980 million), breaking down as follows:

31 December 2019 31 December 2018 (restated)

Non-current Current Non-current Current

(€ millions) Notes portion portion Total portion portion Total
Bonds™ 11.2.3 6,661 758 7418 5,470 939 6,409
Other loans and borrowings 11.2.4 1,430 784 2,214 1,311 1,257 2,568
Fair value hedges - liabilities®® 11.5.1 10 8 17 - 3 3
Gross borrowings and debt 8,100 1,549 9,649 6,782 2,199 8,980
Fair value hedges - assets® 11.5.1 (62) 17) (78) (67) (34) (101)
Other financial assets 6.8.1/6.9.1 (54) (288) (342) (8) (78) (86)
Loans and borrowings® 7,984 1,244 9,229 6,707 2,086 8,794
of which France Retail 5,425 139 5,563 4,793 1,131 5,924
of which Latam Retail® 2,560 806 3,366 1,914 721 2,635
of which E-commerce - 299 299 - 234 234
Net assets held for sale attributable to owners

of the parent of the selling subsidiary 3 ’ (1604) (1604) ’ (1686) (1686)
Cash and cash equivalents 111 - (3,572) (3,572) - (3,730) (3,730)
of which France Retail (1,715) (2,097)
of which Latam Retail (,778) (1,597)
of which E-commerce (78) (36)
lC]:]s(ille:csl achSh equivalents and net assets ) (5,175) (5,175) ) (5,416) (5,416)
NET DEBT 7,984 (3,931) 4,053 6,707 (3,329) 3,378
of which France Retail 2,282 2,724
of which Latam Retail 1,550 1,018
of which Latam Electronics - (563)
of which E-commerce 221 199

(1) Of which bond issues totalling €4,850 million in France and €2,568 million at GPA at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: of which bond issues totalling
€5,491 million in France and €919 million at GPA).

(2) Including €11 million in France and €7 million in Brazil at as 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: €2 million in Colombia and €1 million in Brazil).

(3) Including €66 million in France and €13 million in Brazil at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: €54 million in France, €20 million in Brazil and €27 million
in Colombia).

(4) Including Ségisor amounting to €195 million at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: €398 million)

(5) The Group defines “Loans and borrowings” as gross borrowings and debt adjusted for fair value hedges (assets) and other financial assets. This indicator is used
to calculate the covenants included in the new revolving credit facility (RCF).
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m 11.2.2. Change in financial liabilities

Gross borrowings and debt at 1 January 8,980 8,677
Fair value hedges - assets (101) (98)
Other financial assets (86) (38)
Loans and borrowings at beginning of period 8,794 8,541
New borrowings®®(©® 4,542 1,542
Repayments of borrowings®©)® (3,701) (1,331)
Change in fair value of hedged debt 86 60
Change in accrued interest 26 (34)
Foreign currency translation adjustments (63) (165)
Changes in scope of consolidation (135) 303
Reclassification of financial liabilities associated with non-current assets held for sale (13) 54
Change in other financial assets (256) (48)
Other and reclassifications® (51) (129)
Loans and borrowings at end of period 9,229 8,794
Gross borrowings and debt at 31 December (Note 11.2.1) 9,649 8,980
Fair value hedges - assets (Note 11.2.1) (78) (101)
Other financial assets (see Note 11.2.1) (342) (86)

(1) New borrowings in 2019 primarily include the following: (a) a bond issue by Quatrim, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Casino, Guichard-Perrachon, and an issue
by Casino, Guichard-Perrachon of a term loan placed with investors (“Term Loan B”) for a total amount of €1,800 million in November 2019 (as described in
Note 2); and (D) issues by the GPA sub-group of BRL 8,000 million (€1,812 million) in bonds, primarily following efforts to simplify the Group’s structure in Latin
America (as described in Note 2), BRL 1,600 million (€362 million) in promissory notes, and BRL 2,168 million (€491 million) in loans taken out with banks.
New borrowings in 2018 primarily included the following: (a) a €200 million bond issue by Casino, Guichard-Perrachon (Note 2), (b) at GPA, three bond
issues for a total of BRL 2,000 million (€464 million) and new bank loans for BRL 1,168 million (€271 million), (c) a €400 million loan taken out by Ségisor and
(d) drawdowns on lines of credit by Exito for COP 500 billion (€143 million).

(2) Repayments of borrowings in 2019 mainly concern Casino, Guichard-Perrachon, Quatrim and Casino Finance for €1,560 million (of which (a) the €784 million
bond tender in November 2019 described in Note 2, and (b) redemption of a €675 million bond issue in August 2019), Exito for €1,160 million and Ségisor for
€204 million (including €198 million following efforts to simplify the Group’s structure in Latin America (Note 2)), and GPA for €717 million.

Repayments of borrowings in 2018 mainly concerned Casino, Guichard-Perrachon for €516 million (of which (a) the €135 million bond tender, and (b) redemption
of a €348 million bond issue), GPA for €583 million and Exito for €240 million.

(3) In 2019, cash flows relating to financing activities can be summarised as a net inflow of €488 million, consisting of repayments of borrowings for €3,694 million
and net interest paid (excluding on lease liabilities) for €361 million (Note 4.10), offset by new borrowings in an amount of €4,542 million.

In 2018, cash flows relating to financing activities can be summarised as a net disbursement of €203 million, consisting of repayments of borrowings for €1,330 million
and net interest paid (excluding on lease liabilities) for €416 million (Note 4.10), offset by new borrowings in an amount of €1,543 million.

(4) Including €97 million and €50 million in 2019 related to total return swaps (TRS) on Mercialys (Note 3.1.1) and Via Varejo shares respectively (Note 2). The 2019
TRS on Via Varejo was unwound in June 2019.

In 2018, including €198 million and €49 million related to total return swaps (TRS) set up during the year on Mercialys and Via Varejo shares respectively.

(5) In 2019, including a €20 million reduction in bank overdraffts.

(6) Changes in negotiable European commercial paper (“NEU CP”) are presented net in this table.
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Nominal Effective
(€ millions) Principal® interest rate® interest rate® Issue date Maturity date M
Casino, Guichard-
Perrachon 3,879 4,059 5,491
bonds in euros
2019 bonds - F:441 4.04% August 2012 August 2019 = 681
April 2013

2020 bonds 257W 5.24 5.28% March 2012 March 2020 258 507
2021 bonds 597W 5.98 6.53% May 2011 May 2021 611 884
2022 bonds 452 F:1.87 2.55% June 2017 June 2022 447 732

January 2018

January 2013
2023 bonds 720 F:4.56 4.47% January 2023 762 766

May 2013

2024 bonds 900 F:4.50 4.88% March 2014 March 2024 950 941
2025 bonds 444 F:3.58 3.62% December2014  February 2025 469 451
2026 bonds 508 F:4.05 4.09% August 2014 August 2026 562 530
Quatrim bonds in euros 800 791 -
2024 bonds 800 F:5.88 6.31% November 2019 January 2024 791 -
GPA bonds in BRL 2,585 2,568 919
2019 bonds - V:975% CDI V:975% CDI  December 2016 ~ December 2019 - 227
2020 bonds 239 V:96.0% CDI V:96.0% CDI April 2017 April 2020 239 242
2020 bonds 11 V:CDI +0.72% V:CDI +0.72% July 2019 July 2020 11 -
2020 bonds 221 V: CDI +1.60% V:CDI+1.60% September 2019 August 2020 221 -
2021 bonds 177 V:104.75% CDI V:104.75% CDI January 2018 January 2021 177 180
2021 bonds 155 V:106.0% CDI V:106.0% CDI  September 2018  September 2021 155 158
2021 bonds 11 V:CDI +0.72% V:CDI +0.72% July 2019 July 2021 1 -
2021 bonds 443 V: CDI +1.74% V:CDI+1.74% September 2019 August 2021 443 -
2022 bonds 1 V:1074% CDI V:1074% CDI  September 2018  September 2022 11 112
2022 bonds 177 V:105.75% CDI V:105.75% CDI January 2019 January 2022 177 -
2022 bonds 11 V:CDI +0.72% V:CDI +0.72% July 2019 July 2022 1 -
2022 bonds 443 V: CDI +1.95% V:CDI+1.95% September 2019 August 2022 443 -
2023 bonds 55 V: CDI +0.72% V:CDI +0.72% July 2019 July 2023 55 -
2023 bonds 443 V: CDI +2.20% V:CDI+2.20% September 2019 August 2023 426 -
2024 bonds 44 V: CDI +0.72% V:CDI +0.72% July 2019 July 2024 44 -
2025 bonds 44 V: CDI +0.72% V:CDI +0.72% July 2019 July 2025 44 -
TOTAL BONDS 7,418 6,409

(1) Corresponds to the principal of the bonds outstanding at 31 December 2019.
(2) F(Fixed rate) - V (Variable rate) - CDI (Certificado de Depésito Interbancario). The effective interest rates on Casino, Guichard-Perrachon bonds do not reflect
the possible impact of the remeasurement component relating to fair value hedges.
(3) The amounts above include the remeasurement component relating to fair value hedges. They are presented excluding accrued interest.
(4) In November 2019, the Group made a tender offer for the bond tranches maturing in 2020, 2021 and 2022, which were partially redeemed for €239 million,
€253 million and €292 million, respectively.
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= 11.2.4. Other loans and borrowings

(€ millions) Principal® Type of rate Issue date Maturity date 2018

France

Term Loan B 1,000  Variable® November 2019 January 2024 959 -
e e o
Mercialys TRS (Casino, Guichard-Perrachon) 102 Variable July 2018 December 2020 102 198
Other® 29 100
International

GPA 136 Val'iaple(s)/ June 2013 January 2029 . 993

Fixed® to December 2019 to May 2027

Via Varejo TRS (GPA) Variable December 2018 April 2019 - 49
W e
Ségisor 196 Variable June 2018 December 2021 195 397
Other® - 10
Bank overdrafts®” 101 138
Accrued interest® 197 183
TOTAL OTHER BORROWINGS 2,214 2,568
of which variable rate 1,885 1,599

(1) Corresponds to the nominal amount at 31 December 2019.

(2) Interest on this loan is based on Euribor with a zero floor, plus a 5.5% spread.

(3) Negotiable European commercial paper (NEUCP) is short-term financing generally with a maturity of less than 12 months.

(4) Of which €11 million concerning Cdiscount (31 December 2018: €12 million concerning Cdiscount and €75 million concerning Franprix-Leader Price).
(5) Most of GPA and Exito’s variable-rate loans pay interest at rates based on the CDI and IBR, respectively.

(6) Of which fixed-rate loans amounting to nil at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: €8 million,).

(7) Overdrafts are mostly in France.

(8) The amount reported for accrued interest is for all borrowings including bonds. At 31 December 2019, accrued interest primarily concerned Casino for €136 million
and GPA for €61 million (31 December 2018: Casino, GuichardPerrachon for €159 million and GPA for €19 million).

Confirmed bank credit lines in 2019 and 2018

Due

Interest Within  In more than VTRV

2019 (€ millions) rate one year AN the facility Drawdowns
Syndicated lines — Casino, Guichard-Perrachon, Casino Finance, Monoprix™  Variable - 2,220 2,220 -
Other confirmed bank credit lines® Variable® 389 111 500 54
TOTAL 389 2,331 2,720 54
Due
Interest Within  Inmore than Amount of
2018 (€ millions) rate oneyear one year the facility Drawdowns
Casino, Guichard-Perrachon syndicated credit lines” Variable® - 1,855 1,855 -
Casino, Guichard-Perrachon bilateral credit lines Variable® 175 265 440 -
Other confirmed bank credit lines®” Variable® 225 Il 1,136 27
TOTAL 400 3,031 3,431 27

(1) At 31 December 2019, syndicated credit lines comprise (a) the revolving credit facility (RCF) for €2,000 million maturing in October 2023 (or in October 2022 if
the bond tranche maturing in January 2023 has not been refinanced at that date), bearing interest at Euribor with a zero floor, plus a spread that depends on
the amount drawn down and the “loans and borrowings”/EBITDA ratio for the France Retail and E-commerce segments, as well as the Ségisor holding company
(no more than 3.50%); (b) a €198 million line maturing in February 2021 and bearing interest at Euribor plus a spread that depends on the amount drawn down
and the Group’s net debt/EBITDA ratio; and (c) a USD 25 million line maturing in July 2022 and bearing interest at US Libor plus a spread that depends on the
Group’s net debt/EBITDA ratio.

In 2018, syndicated credit lines comprised a €1,200 million line expiring in February 2021 and a USD 750 million line expiring in July 2022. Interest was based
on Euribor (drawdowns in euros) or US Libor (drawdowns in US dollars) for the drawdown period plus a spread that depends on the amount borrowed and
the Group’s net debt/EBITDA ratio.

(2) Following the November 2019 refinancing transactions, Casino, Guichard-Perrachon no longer held any bilateral credit lines at 31 December 2019. In 2018,
interest on the bilateral credit lines was based on the Euribor for the drawdown period plus a spread. In some cases, the spread varied depending on the amount
borrowed (lines totalling €240 million) and/or the Group’s net debt/EBITDA ratio (lines totalling €250 million). For one line, the spread was partially indexed
to the Group’s Sustainalytics CSR rating.

(3) Interest on the other lines is based on the reference rate (which depends on the borrowing currency) plus a spread. In some cases, the spread varies depending
on the subsidiary’s net debt/EBITDA ratio and the amount drawn down (lines totalling €111 million).

(4) In 2019, other confirmed bank credit lines concern Monoprix (€111 million), GPA (€199 million) and Exito (€190 million). In 2018, other confirmed bank credit
lines concerned Monoprix (€570 million), GPA (€405 million) and Exito (€161 million).
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113. NET FINANCIAL INCOME (EXPENSE)

Accounting principle

Net finance costs

Net finance costs correspond to all income and expenses generated
by cash and cash equivalents and loans and borrowings during the
period, including income from cash and cash equivalents, gains
and losses on disposals of cash equivalents, interest expense on
loans and borrowings, gains and losses on interest rate hedges
(including the ineffective portion) and related currency effects,
and trade payable - structured programme costs.

Other financial income and expenses

This item corresponds to financial income and expenses that are
not included in net finance costs.

Itincludes dividends received from non-consolidated companies,
non-recourse factoring and associated transaction costs, discounting

m 11.3.1. Netfinance costs

(€ millions)

adjustments (including to provisions for pensions and other
post-employment benefit obligations), interest expense on lease
liabilities, gains and losses arising from remeasurement at fair value
of equity derivatives, and impairment losses and realised gains and
losses on financial assets other than cash and cash equivalents.
Exchange gains and losses are also recorded under this caption, apart
from (i) exchange gains and losses on cash and cash equivalents
and loans and borrowings, which are presented under net finance
costs, and (ii) the effective portion of accounting hedges of operating
transactions, which are included in trading profit.

Financial discounts for prompt payments are recognised in financial
income for the portion corresponding to the normal market interest
rate and as a deduction from cost of goods sold for the supplement.

2018
(restated)

Gains (losses) on disposals of cash equivalents

|

Income from cash and cash equivalents 39 37
Income from cash and cash equivalents 39 37
Interest expense on borrowings after hedging (396) (356)
Finance costs (396) (356)
NET FINANCE COSTS (356) (320)
of which France Retail (161) (141)
of which Latam Retail (184) (169)
of which E-commerce (12) (10)

(1) In 2019, interest expense on borrowings after hedging include 11 months of cost of debt before the refinancing transactions and one month after the refinancing

transactions (Note 2).
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m 11.3.2. Other financial income and expenses

Investment income 1 -
Foreign currency exchange gains (other than on borrowings) 53 34
Discounting and accretion adjustments 1

Gains on remeasurement at fair value of non-hedging derivative instruments) 106

Gains on remeasurement at fair value of financial assets 1

Impact of applying IAS 29 to operations in Argentina - -
Other financial income® 104 76
Other financial income 265 122
Foreign currency exchange losses (other than on borrowings) (63) (44)
Discounting and accretion adjustments (6) (7)
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 7.1.2) (268) (218)
Losses on remeasurement at fair value of non-hedging derivative instrumentst” (137) (52)
Losses on remeasurement at fair value of financial assets (10) 3)
Non-recourse factoring and associated transaction costs (77) (81)
Impact of applying IAS 29 to operations in Argentina (10) (13)
Other (88) (60)
Other financial expenses (659) (478)
TOTAL OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES (394) (356)

(1) The net loss of €31 million on remeasurement at fair value of non-hedging derivative instruments reported in 2019 mainly reflects (a) fair value adjustments to
the GPA TRS (negative adjustment of €6 million) and GPA forward (negative adjustment of €9 million) as well as dividend income (€2 million) and the cost of
carry (€13 million) associated with these instruments, and (b) negative impacts related to other derivative instruments (€3 million). The net loss of €44 million
on remeasurement at fair value of non-hedging derivative instruments reported in 2018 mainly reflects (a) fair value adjustments to the GPA TRS (positive
adjustment of €5 million) and GPA forward (negative adjustment of €17 million) as well as dividend income (€3 million) and the cost of carry (€14 million)
associated with these instruments, and (b) negative impacts related to other derivative instruments (€3 million).

(2) Including €45 million in interest recognised by GPA for PIS & COFINS tax credits in 2019. In 2018: Including BRL 101 million (€23 million) in interest recognised

by GPA on the Paes Mendonga receivable.

GPA TRS and forward

The total return swap (TRS) and forward contracts on GPA shares
are cash-settled instruments. The documentation states that when
the contracts expire, the shares will be sold on the market by the
banking counterparties. If the instruments are unwound, the Group
receives or pays the difference between the sale proceeds and the
amount paid by the counterparties to purchase the shares at the
contracts’ inception. The Group retains the economic benefits of
ownership of the shares (exposure to changes in the subsidiaries’
share prices and collection of dividends) but does not have legal title
to the shares and cannot exercise the related voting rights. Details of
the contracts are as follows:

e In December 2011, the Group entered into a 2.5-year TRS with a
financial institution on 7.9 million GPA American Depositary Receipts
(ADRs). The contract’s maturity was extended on 23 December
2016 and again on 27 October 2017. The interest rate is currently set
at 3-month Euribor plus 199 basis points and the contract expires
in June 2020. It will start to be unwound as from 1 April 2020. This
TRS is a derivative instrument measured at fair value through profit
orloss. At 31 December 2019, it concerned 7.8 million ADRs (2.9%
of GPA’ capital) representing a notional amount of €332 million,
and had a negative fair value of €177 million (31 December 2018:
7.8 million ADRs, a notional amount of €332 million and a negative
fair value of €172 million).
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This instruments fair value is determined based on the estimated
settlement price on 31 December, using the share price on that date.
A 10% increase in the share price would have reduced the loss for
the period by €15 million. A 10% decline in the share price would
have produced the opposite effect.

Atthe end of December 2012, the Group entered into a 2-year forward
contract with a financial institution on 5.8 million GPA shares. On
28 July 2016, the maturity was extended and the notional amount
was reduced by USD 105 million (€95 million), resulting in a cash
payment made by the Group on the same day. The maturity was
extended again in June 2017. The forward concerned 5.8 million
shares at 31 December 2018 and was unwound between August and
December 2019. A cash payment of €109 million was made in 2019
(versus a negative fair value of €101 million at 31 December 2018).
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114. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Accountin gp rinciple if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange,
dealer, broker;, pricing service or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on
an arm’s length basis. These instruments are classified as Level 1.

Fair value measurements are classified using the following fair
value hierarchy:

e quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities (Level 1); The fair value of financial instruments which are not quoted in an
o inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are active market (such as over-the-counter derivatives) is determined

observable either directly (ie, as prices) or indirectly (ie, derived ~ Using valuation techniques. These techniques use observable
from prices) (Level 2); market data wherever possible and make little use of the Group's

own estimates. If all the inputs required to calculate fair value are

e inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable
o ty observable, the instrument is classified as Level 2.

market data (unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

The fair value of financial instruments traded in an active marketis ~ Ifone or more significantinputs are not based on observable market
the quoted price on the reporting date. A market is considered active data, the instrument is classified as Level 3.

= 11.4.1. Financial assets and liabilities by category of instrument
Financial assets

The tables below analyse financial assets according to the new measurement categories used as from 1 January 2018 under IFRS 9.

Breakdown by category of instrument

Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value

at fair value through other
Total financial through profit comprehensive Hedging Financial assets
(€ millions) assets or loss income (OCI) instruments  at amortised cost

AT 31 DECEMBER 2019
Other non-current assets") 401 48 4 62 287
Trade receivables 836 - 22 - 813
Other current assets" 975 6 1 17 950
Cash and cash equivalents 3,572 17 = = 3,554
Breakdown by category of instrument

Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value

at fair value through other
Total financial through profit comprehensive Hedging Financial assets
(€ millions) assets or loss income (OCI) instruments at amortised cost

AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

Other non-current assets") 367 44 4 67 252
Trade receivables 905 - 28 - 877
Other current assets" 973 - 7 40 927
Cash and cash equivalents 3,730 17 - - 3713

(1) Excluding non-financial assets.
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Financial liabilities

The following tables show financial liabilities by category.

Breakdown by category of instrument

Total financial Liabilities at Derivative
(€ millions) liabilities amortised cost NCI Puts instruments
AT 31 DECEMBER 2019
Bonds 7418 7418 - -
Other loans and borrowings 2,231 2,214 17
gt 5 - 5 :
Lease liabilities 4,676 4,676 - -
Trade payables 6,580 6,580 - -
Other liabilities™ 1,973 1,746 = 227

Breakdown by category of instrument

Total financial Liabilities at Derivative
(€ millions) liabilities amortised cost NCI Puts instruments
AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 (RESTATED)
Bonds 6,409 6,409 - -
Other loans and borrowings 2,571 2,568 - 3
Liabilities for put options granted to owners 188 ] 188 i
of non-controlling interests
Lease liabilities 4,238 4,238 - -
Trade payables 6,668 6,668 - -
Other liabilities” 2,053 1,765 - 287

(1) Excluding non-financial liabilities.
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= 11.4.2, Fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilities
The tables below compare the carrying amount and fair value of consolidated financial assets and liabilities, other than those for which the
carrying amount corresponds to a reasonable approximation of fair value such as trade receivables, trade payables, contract assets and liabilities,
and cash and cash equivalents.

Fair value hierarchy

Models with Models with

observable unobservable
At 31 December 2019 Carrying Fair Market price inputs inputs
(€ millions) amount value =Level 1 =Level 2 =Level 3
ASSETS 161 161 6 108 47
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss" 41 41 1 - 41
Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income!” o = > 22
Fair value hedges - assets®” 78 78 - 78 -
Cash flow hedges and . . i ; i
net investment hedges — assets®
Other derivative instruments — assets 13 13 - 6 7
LIABILITIES 14,719 14,402 4,687 9,548 167
Bonds® 7418 7102 4,687 2,416 -
Other borrowings” 2,214 2,213 - 2,213 -
Lease liabilities 4,676 4,676 - 4,676 -
Fair value hedges - liabilities® 17 17 - 17 -
Cash flow hedges and net investment hedges - liabilities® 41 41 - 4 -
Other derivative instruments - liabilities®” 186 186 - 186 -
Put options granted to owners of non-controlling interests® 166 166 = = 166

Fair value hierarchy

Models with Models with
observable unobservable
At 31 December 2018 (restated) Carrying Fair Market price inputs inputs
(€ millions) amount value =Level 1 =Level 2 =Level 3
ASSETS 189 189 11 135 44
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss" 35 35 1 - 34
Financial assets at fair value through
o 38 38 10 28 -
other comprehensive income®
Fair value hedges - assets®” 101 101 - 101 -
Cash flow hedges and .
. . 6 6 6
net investment hedges - assets®®
Other derivative instruments — assets 9 9 - 9
LIABILITIES 13,694 13,372 5,180 8,003 188
Bonds® 6,409 6,087 5,180 907 -
Other borrowings®” 2,568 2,568 - 2,568 -
Lease liabilities 4,238 4,238 - 4,238 -
Fair value hedges - liabilities®® 3 3 - 3 -
Cash flow hedges and net investment hedges - liabilities®® 15 15 - 15 -
Other derivative instruments - liabilities®” 273 273 - 273 -
Put options granted to owners of non-controlling interests® 188 188 - - 188

(1) Financial assets recognised at fair value are generally measured using standard valuation techniques. If their fair value cannot be determined reliably, they are
not included in this note.

(2) Derivative financial instruments are valued (internally or externally) on the basis of the widely used valuation techniques for this type of instrument. Valuation
models are based on observable market inputs (mainly the yield curve) and counterparty quality. Derivatives held as fair value hedges are almost fully backed
by borrowings.

(3) The fair value of bonds is based on the latest quoted price on the reporting date.

(4) The fair value of other borrowings has been measured using other valuation techniques such as the discounted cash flow method, taking into account the Group’s
credit risk and interest rate conditions at the reporting date.

(5) The fair value of put options granted to owners of non-controlling interests is measured by applying the contract’s calculation formulas and is discounted,
if necessary. These formulas are considered to be representative of fair value and notably use net profit multiples (Note 3.4.1).
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115. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The main risks associated with the Group’s financial instruments are
market risks (foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and equity risk),
counterparty risk and liquidity risk.

Financial risk monitoring and management is the responsibility of the
Corporate Finance department, which is part of the Group Finance
department. This team manages all financial exposures in coordination
with the Finance departments of the Group’s main subsidiaries and
reports to Senior Management.

Financing, short-term investment and financial risk management
policies are overseen by the Corporate finance department in
coordination with the subsidiaries’ finance departments, using a
conservative and pro-active approach particularly with respect to
counterparty and liquidity risk management. Major transactions are
monitored individually.

The Group Corporate Finance department has issued a guide to
financing, investment and hedging best practices which is distributed

to subsidiary Finance departments. The guide sets out financing
methods, selection criteria for banking partners, appropriate hedging
products and required authorisation levels.

The French and international business units’ cash positions and
forecasts are reported weekly and continuously monitored. The Group's
other financial risk exposures, such as interest rate risk, currency risk
on financial transactions and banking counterparty risk, are measured
and analysed in monthly reports to Senior Management that also
include action plans for dealing with any material identified risks.

The Group manages its exposure to interest rate risks and foreign
currency risks using standard derivative financial instruments such
as interest rate swaps and options (caps, floors, swaptions), currency
swaps, forward currency contracts and currency options. These
instruments are mainly over-the-counter instruments contracted with
first-tier bank counterparties. Most of these transactions or derivative
instruments qualify for hedge accounting.

Like many other large corporates, the Group may take very small,
strictly controlled positions that do not qualify for hedge accounting,
for more dynamic and flexible management of its interest rate and
currency exposures.

m 11.5.1. Breakdown of derivative financial instruments

The table below shows a breakdown of derivative financial instruments by type of hedged risk and accounting classification:

Foreign Other

31 December Interest  currency market 31 December
(€ millions) Notes 2019 rate risk risk risks 2018
Derivatives - assets
Derivatives at fair value through profit or loss 6.8.1-6.9 13 - 6 7 9
Cash flow hedges 6.8.1 1 - 1 - 6
Fair value hedges 6.8.1-69-112 78 69 10 - 101
TOTAL DERIVATIVES - ASSETS 93 69 17 7 116
of which non-current 69 62 - 7 76
of which current 24 7 17 - 40
Derivatives - liabilities
Derivatives at fair value through profit or loss 6:10 186 4 4 178 273
Cash flow hedges 6:10 41 41 - - 15
Fair value hedges 1.2 17 1 7 - 3
TOTAL DERIVATIVES - LIABILITIES 244 55 10 178 291
of which non-current 51 50 - 1 286
of which current 193 5 10 178 5
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At 31 December 2019, derivatives held as fair value hedges (on a
notional amount of €4,372 million) had a positive net fair value of
€61 million. The total included (i) interest rate hedges in France
on a notional amount of €4,160 million with a positive fair value of
€55 million, and (ii) currency and interest rate hedges in Brazil on a
notional amount of €211 million with a positive fair value of €6 million.
All the currency and interest rate derivatives are backed by bank
borrowings or bonds denominated either in the same currency or in
a currency other than the borrower entity’s functional currency. The
ineffective portion of these fair value hedges is not material.

At 31 December 2019, the cash flow hedge reserve included in equity
had a debit balance of €32 million (31 December 2018: debit balance
of €8 million after tax). These derivatives concern operations in France
and Colombia. In France, they hedge goods purchases billed in
currencies other than the euro (mainly the US dollar). Their notional
amountat 31 December 2018 was USD 148 million (€132 million - Note
11.5.2). In Colombia, the notional amount hedged by the derivatives
is €55 million. France applied cash flow hedge accounting to hedge
interest rates on variable rate borrowings for a notional amount of
€1,559 million at 31 December 2019. The ineffective portion of these
cash flow hedges is not material.

Derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting under
IFRS 9 had a negative fair value of €173 million at 31 December 2019
(31 December 2018: negative fair value of €263 million), including
TRSs on GPA shares with a negative fair value of €177 million, versus
a negative fair value of €272 million) (Note 11.3.2).

The fair value calculation at 31 December 2019 takes into account the
credit valuation adjustment (CVA) and the debit valuation adjustment
(DVA) in accordance with IFRS 13. The impact of these adjustments
is not material.

m 11.5.2. Marketrisk

Interest rate risk

The Group's objective is to manage its exposure to the risk of interest
rate changes and optimise its financing cost. Its strategy therefore
consists of dynamic debt management by monitoring and, where
necessary, adjusting its hedging ratio based on forecast trends in
interest rates.

Interest rate risks are managed using various vanilla instruments. The
main instruments are interest rate swaps and options (caps, floors
and swaptions). These instruments do not always qualify for hedge
accounting; however all interest-rate instruments are contracted in
line with the above risk management policy.

Specifically, Casino, Guichard-Perrachon’s debt is mainly composed of
fixed-rate bonds and the Term Loan B, representing a principal amount
of €4,679 million and €1,000 million, respectively, at 31 December 2019
(Note 11.2.3). This bond debt may be hedged through fixed-to-variable
rate swaps generally contracted at the issue date; all of these hedges
qualify for hedge accounting.

At31 December 2019, Casino, Guichard-Perrachon had a portfolio of 56
interest-rate swaps and options with around ten bank counterparties.
These instruments expire at various dates between 2020 and 2026.

At 31 December 2019, the interest rate risk on Casino, Guichard-
Perrachon’s bond debt and on the Term Loan B breaks down as: 26%
at fixed rates (€1,471 million), 28% at a capped or floored variable rate
(€1,607 million) and 46% at a variable rate (€2,601 million).
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Sensitivity to a change in interest rates

Sensitivity to rate changes is calculated as shown in the table below.

31 December 2018
(€ millions) Notes (restated)
Casino, Guichard-Perrachon variable-rate bonds®" 2,601 1,814
Casino, Guichard-Perrachon capped variable-rate bonds" 607 1,847
Term Loan B 959 -
Brazil variable-rate bonds® 11.2.3 2,585 921
Other variable-rate loans and borrowings®®® 11.2.4 926 1,599
Total variable-rate bonds, other loans and borrowings 7,678 6,180
Cash and cash equivalents 1.1 (3,572) (3,730)
NET VARIABLE-RATE POSITION 4,106 2,451
100-basis-point change in interest rates 33 12
Net finance costs 11.3.1 356 320
IMPACT OF CHANGE ON NET FINANCE COSTS 9.4% 3.9%

(1) Corresponding to fixed-rate bonds and to the Term Loan B, representing a principal amount of €5,679 million (31 December 2018: €5,338 million) (Note 11.2.3),
including a principal amount of €4,208 million (31 December 2018: €3,660 million) swapped for variable-rate debt, of which €1,607 million includes a capped

or floored rate.
(2) Principal.
(3) Excluding accrued interest.

(4) Including borrowings in Brazil originally denominated in BRL or USD for BRL 1,947 million (€431 million) swapped for variable-rate debt in BRL by means of
cross-currency swaps where applicable (31 December 2018: BRL 974 million, representing €219 million).

(5) Including borrowings in Colombia originally denominated in COP for COP 259 billion, representing €70 million (31 December 2018: COP 1,860 billion, representing

€499 million, swapped for variable rate debt).

Assuming a constant net debt structure and management policy, a
100-basis-point annual increase (decrease) in rates across the yield
curve would lead to a 9.4% or €33 million increase (7.1% or €25 million
decrease) in finance costs. For the purposes of the analysis, all other
variables, particularly exchange rates, are assumed to be constant.

Exposure to foreign currency risk

Due to its geographically diversified business base, the Group is
exposed to both currency translation risk on the translation of the
balance sheets and income statements of subsidiaries outside the
euro zone and to transaction risk on transactions denominated in
currencies other than the euro.

Translation risk (or balance sheet currency risk) is the risk of an
unfavourable change in the exchange rates used to translate the
financial statements of subsidiaries located outside the euro zone into
euros for inclusion in the consolidated financial statements adversely
affecting the amounts reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position and income statement, leading to a deterioration
of the Group's financial structure ratios.
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Transaction risk is the risk of an unfavourable change in exchange rates
that adversely affects a cash flow denominated in foreign currency.

The Group’s policy for managing transaction risk is to hedge highly
probable budgeted exposures, which mainly concern cash flows
arising from purchases made in a currency other than the buyer’s
functional currency and particularly purchases in US dollars
which are hedged using forward contracts. These instruments are
mainly over-the-counter instruments contracted with first-tier bank
counterparties. Most of these transactions or derivative instruments
qualify for hedge accounting.

As a general principle, budgeted purchases are hedged using
instruments with the same maturities as the underlying transactions.

Currency risks on debts denominated in a currency other than the
borrower’s functional currency are systematically hedged, except
where the debt represents a designated and documented hedge of
anet investment in a foreign operation.
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The Group's net exposure based on notional amounts after hedging mainly concerns the US dollar (excluding the functional currencies of
entities), as shown below:

Total exposure Total exposure
(€ millions) 2019 of which USD 2018

Exposed trade receivables (23) (12) (33)
Exposed other financial assets (77) (51) (117)
Exposed derivatives at fair value through profit or loss 271 271 272
Exposed trade payables 263 233 226
Exposed financial liabilities 245 245 723
Exposed other financial liabilities 42 42 -
Gross exposure payable/(receivable) 722 728 1,071
Hedged other financial assets 94 94 -
Hedged trade payables 85 82 111
Hedged financial liabilities 229 229 721
Other hedged financial liabilities 32 32 -
NET EXPOSURE PAYABLE/(RECEIVABLE) 282 290 240
Hedges of future purchases 132 132 143
Exposed put options granted to owners of non-controlling interests" 104 104 119

(1) Changes in fair value of put options granted to owners of non-controlling interests (including the effect of movements in exchange rates) have no impact on profit
or loss, because the puts are treated as transactions between owners and changes in their fair value are therefore recorded directly in equity (Note 3.4.1).

At 31 December 2018, the net statement of financial position exposure of €240 million mainly concerned the US dollar.

Sensitivity of net exposure after foreign currency hedging

A 10% appreciation of the euro at 31 December 2019 and 2018 against the currencies included in the Group's exposure would lead to an increase
in profit for the amounts indicated in the table below.

For the purposes of the analysis, all other variables, particularly interest rates, are assumed to be constant.

(€ millions) 2018

US dollar 25 27
Other currencies (1) (3)
IMPACT ON NET FINANCIAL INCOME (EXPENSE) 24 24

A 10% decline in the euro against those currencies at 31 December 2019 and 2018 would have produced the opposite effect.

Sensitivity to translation risk

A 10% appreciation of the euro compared to the Group’s other main currencies would have the following impact on the translation into euros
of the sales, profit and equity of subsidiaries whose functional currency is not the euro:

TR e

(€ millions) Brazilian real Colombian peso Brazilian real Colombian peso
Total revenue (1,124) (291) (1,042) (292)
Trading profit (39) (14) (52) (13)
Net profit (10) (1) (24) (1)
Equity (466) (167) (581) (72)

A 10% decline in the euro against those currencies would have produced the opposite effect.

For the purposes of the analysis, all other variables are assumed to be constant.
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Breakdown of cash and cash equivalents by currency

(€ millions) % 31 December 2018 %
Euro 1,743 49% 1,931 52%
US do